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From the Director General
This report marks the close of a busy and productive first year
of operations for the Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation (the department).

The agency was established on 1 July 2017
following the Machinery of Government
announcement, amalgamating the former
Department of Environment Regulation, Office of the
Environmental Protection Authority and Department
of Water to provide a coordinated approach to water
and environmental regulation and become the ‘onestop shop’ for our regulatory approvals service.
We have accomplished a huge amount in the last
year, and I am extremely proud of the way our staff
have adapted to the changes to form a cohesive,
capable and united agency that builds on the best
aspects of our predecessor agencies.
I am also very appreciative of the generosity of our
industry and community stakeholders who have met
with us to discuss their priorities and where we can
work together better and differently.

In our first five-year strategic plan, we agreed our
mission is to work to ensure the state’s water
resources and environment are healthy and able
to support a liveable and prosperous Western
Australia, now and in the future.
Our broad responsibilities have seen us operate
from the Great Southern to the Kimberley to deliver
government priorities, election commitments and
our regulatory responsibilities.
We have advanced planning for sustainable
groundwater management for the next decade and
beyond from the Gnangara groundwater system –
an essential source of drinking water for Perth which
also supports our public open space, gardens,
amenity and liveability. In partnership with the
Water Corporation, we launched an expansion of
the Waterwise Council Recognition Scheme, which
will allow us to highlight the great work councils
are doing to use water efficiently and plan for the
whole water cycle to create sustainable and liveable
communities.

The department has also worked to support the
government’s commitment to reducing waste
and improving recycling, introducing a number of
strategic waste reforms. We have worked with the
Waste Authority in its review of the government’s
waste strategy and also implemented Western
Australia’s lightweight plastic bag ban. We have
made good progress on delivering the government’s
election commitment to introduce a Container
Deposit Scheme, which will reduce litter, increase
recycling, protect the environment and create jobs.
Through the Regional Estuaries Initiative, we have
worked to improve the health of six of the most atrisk South West estuaries.
We have also assisted with significant and iconic
urban development projects such as planning
for METRONET, and supported the Waste
Authority, Environmental Protection Authority, Keep
Australia Beautiful Council and Cockburn Sound
Management Council in their key roles.
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We have applied cutting edge technologies such
as using Light Detecting and Ranging (LiDAR) and
Remote Air Pollution Infrared Detectors (RAPID)
to investigate air pollution and drones to observe
the Wilson Inlet. We have also moved to protect
Aboriginal rock art at the Burrup Peninsula.
We are transforming how we do business in
the digital age through initiatives such as our
online one‑stop shop – which brings together all
environment and water assessment, approval
applications and enquiries under a single contact
point. We have also implemented the Index of
Biodiversity Survey Assessments, developed in
partnership with the Western Australian Biodiversity
Science Institute.
The next financial year promises to be another
exciting and challenging 12 months for the
department as we bed down our new organisational
structure and move our head office to Joondalup.
We will continue to drive our digital transformation
initiatives, resulting in better services and greater

responsiveness and timeliness for industry and other
stakeholders.
I thank our partners across state and local
government, industry, academia and the community
who have continued to work with us to find
innovative solutions to the state’s environmental and
water challenges.
Finally, I congratulate and thank the department’s
executive and staff for their public service,
dedication, talent and commitment over the year,
and their contribution to the wellbeing of all Western
Australians.

Mike Rowe
Director General
9 October 2018
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2017–18 at a glance

3.5
million

Planned
future water
supply

METRONET

Guided greater Perth’s
transition to a waterwise
city for a population of
3.5 million

options for green space
irrigation in the
South West

Highlighted opportunities
for a waterwise
METRONET

Perth-Peel Water@3.5 million

Planned future water supply

P32

Gnangara
groundwater
system

Improved
the

health

Planned sustainable
Gnangara groundwater
use for the coming
decade

of six of the
most at-risk regional
estuaries

A waterwise METRONET

Gnangara groundwater system

Regional Estuaries Initiative

P34

P35

P39

P49

P88

P56

P62

P64

P69

Improved biodiversity data sharing

One-stop shop launched

Improved cost recovery model

LiDAR and RAPID

Pollution response

One-stop
shop

Improved

Cutting
edge

The Index of
Biodiversity
Surveys for Assessments

(IBSA)

Launched an online portal
to improve the sharing
of biodiversity
data

Online portal launched
to streamline water
and environmental
assessments

$

recovery
model

introduced for
environmental
regulation

technologies
adopted to monitor air
pollution across the
state

3500

pollution incidents
and emergencies
responded to around
the clock
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Investments

More

than

$2

million n

$1.7

million

$9
million

Yakamia Creek
remediation project
initiated to reduce
nutrient inflow

Supporting the government’s
investment of $1.7 million
to develop a container
deposit scheme in
WA

committed over the next
five years to support the
collection of household
hazardous waste

Regional water planning

Moving water in the landscape

Container deposit scheme

Household Hazardous Waste

P45

P49

P71

P71

P75

P84

P72

Rock art on the Burrup Peninsula

Increase in proposals received

Countdown to the plastic bag ban

Protecting

Increase
in proposals

Plastic
bag ban

invested in the regions
through the Rural Water
Planning and Watering
WA programs

Partnerships

$1
million

rock art
Worked with Murujuga
Aboriginal Corporation,
industry, community and
local government to
protect rock art at the
Burrup Peninsula

Supported the EPA to
manage an increase in the
number and complexity
of proposals requiring
assessment

Worked with retailers
and the community to
implement the
lightweight plastic
bag ban
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Operational structure
Responsible Ministers

Administered legislation

The department’s responsibility from 1 July 2017 to
30 June 2018 was to the:

Legislation administered by the Department of
Water and Environmental Regulation as at 30
June 2018:

• Minister for Water; Fisheries; Forestry;
Innovation and ICT; Science; the Hon.
Dave Kelly MLA, and
• Minister for Environment; Disability Services;
the Hon. Stephen Dawson MLC.

• Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery
Act 2007

• Carbon Rights Act 2003

• Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Levy
Act 2007

• Contaminated Sites Act 2003

• Water Agencies (Powers) Act 1984

• Country Areas Water Supply Act 1947

• Water Corporations Act 1995

• Environmental Protection Act 1986

• Water Efficiency Labelling and Standards
Act 2006

• Environmental Protection (Landfill) Levy
Act 1998
• Litter Act 1979
• Metropolitan Arterial Drainage Act 1982
• Metropolitan Water Supply, Sewerage and
Drainage Act 1909
• National Environmental Protection Council
(Western Australia) Act 1996
• Plumbers Licensing Act 1995 (except part
5A which is administered by the Minister for
Commerce and Industrial Relations, assisted by
the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation
and Safety)
• Rights in Water and Irrigation Act 1914

• Water Services Act 2012
• Waterways Conservation Act 1976

Regulations and by-laws administered by
the Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation as at 30 June 2018:
• Clean Air (Determination of Air Impurities
in Gases Discharged to the Atmosphere)
Regulations 1983
• Contaminated Sites Regulations 2006
• Country Areas Water Supply By-laws 1957
• Country Areas Water Supply (Clearing Licence)
Regulations 1981
• Environmental Protection Regulations 1987
Dep ar tm ent o f Water and Env iro nm ental Reg ulatio n
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• Environmental Protection (Abattoirs)
Regulations 2001

• Environmental Protection (NEPM-UPM)
Regulations 2013

• Environmental Protection (Abrasive Blasting)
Regulations 1998

• Environmental Protection (Noise)
Regulations 1997

• Environmental Protection (Clearing of Native
Vegetation) Regulations 2004

• Environmental Protection (Packaged Fertiliser)
Regulations 2010

• Environmental Protection (Concrete Batching
and Cement Product Manufacturing)
Regulations 1998

• Environmental Protection (Petrol)
Regulations 1999

• Environmental Protection (Controlled Waste)
Regulations 2004
• Environmental Protection (Domestic Solid Fuel
Burning Appliances and Firewood Supply)
Regulations 1998
• Environmental Protection (Fibre Reinforced
Plastics) Regulations 1998
• Environmental Protection (Goldfields Residential
Areas) (Sulfur Dioxide) Regulations 2003
• Environmental Protection (Kwinana)
(Atmospheric Wastes) Regulations 1992
• Environmental Protection (Metal Coating)
Regulations 2001

• Environmental Protection (Plastic Bag)
Regulations 2018
• Environmental Protection (Recovery of
Vapours from the Transfer of Organic Liquids)
Regulations 1995

• Rights in Water and Irrigation Regulations 2000
• Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery
Regulations 2008
• Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Levy
Regulations 2008
• Water Agencies (Charges) By-laws 1987
• Water Agencies (Entry Warrant)
Regulations 1985
• Water Agencies (Infringement)
Regulations 1994
• Water Agencies (Water Use) By-laws 2010
• Water Services Regulations 2013

• Environmental Protection (Rural Landfill)
Regulations 2002

• Water Services (Water Corporations Charges)
Regulations 2014

• Environmental Protection (Unauthorised
Discharges) Regulations 2004

• Waterways Conservation Regulations 1981

• Litter Regulations 1981
• Metropolitan Water Supply, Sewerage and
Drainage By-laws 1981
• Noise Abatement (Noise Labelling of
Equipment) Regulations (No. 2) 1985

• Environmental Protection (NEPM-NPI)
Regulations 1998
A nnual rep o r t 2 0 1 7 –1 8
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Changes in 2017–18 to the legislation we
administer

Other key legislation affecting our activities

The new Environmental Protection (Plastic Bags)
Regulations 2018 banning the supply of plastic bags
with a thickness of 35 microns or less came into
effect on 1 July 2018.

In the performance of our functions, the department
complied with the following written laws:

Amendments to the Environmental Protection
Regulations 1987 to increase pollution licence,
works approval and registration fees by 14 per cent
came into effect from 1 July 2018.

• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

The Rights in Water and Irrigation Regulations 2000
were amended to introduce metering requirements
for water licence holders. Metering requirements will
be introduced in a staged implementation schedule.
Amendments to the Environmental Protection
Regulations 1987 were gazetted on 27 April 2018 to
ensure that the licensing and waste levy regime do
not apply to the use of clean fill and uncontaminated
fill on sites that have not previously been landfill
premises following the decision of Justice Beech in
Eclipse Resources Pty Ltd v The State of Western
Australia [No. 4] (2016) WASC 62.
The Water Services (Water Corporations Charges)
Regulations 2014 and Water Services Regulations
2013 were amended to implement price increases
levied by the state’s three water corporations
(Busselton Water Corporation, Bunbury Water
Corporation and the Water Corporation) for the
provision of water supply, sewerage, drainage
and irrigation services as approved by the state
government from 1 July 2018.

• Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972
• Auditor General Act 2006
• Disability Services Act 1993
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Government Employees Housing Act 1964
• Industrial Relations Act 1979
• National Environmental Protection Council
Act 1997 (Cth)
• Long Service Leave Act 1958
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
• Native Title Act 1993 (Cth)
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
• State Records Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Management Act 1981

Dep ar tm ent o f Water and Env iro nm ental Reg ulatio n
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Who we are
Vision
A healthy environment and secure water resources,
valued by all, to support a liveable and prosperous
Western Australia.

By collaborating effectively and engaging openly,
we establish partnerships with stakeholders and
build a shared understanding of Western Australia’s
environmental and water issues.

Deliver effective legislation and policy

Mission

We deliver legislative reform to enhance collaborative
cross-government outcomes and reduce
unnecessary regulation.

To lead and excel in the sustainable management
and protection of Western Australia’s water and
environment.

Our policy and legislative framework support
good performance and encourage continuous
improvement.

Strategic directions
In December, the department celebrated the release
of a new strategic plan. Our strategic directions
were developed in consultation with our staff and
stakeholders.

Share responsibility for water and the
environment
We support integrated environmental and water
planning to deliver whole-of-government goals,
involving the community and industry.

Be a responsive and credible regulator
We streamline our approach to regulatory
assessments and advice, to provide consistency
and certainty for stakeholders.
Our internal practices, online systems and resources
deliver good customer service, and we apply
regulatory best-practice principles.

Deliver trusted information, science and
evidence-based advice
We are recognised as leaders and experts in
water and environmental information, science and
evidence-based advice, collaborating with trusted
partners to create a shared science and knowledge
base and to foster innovation.
We communicate and share knowledge in a timely,
transparent and stakeholder-focused way to build
understanding and support for sound decisionmaking.

Build organisational excellence
We deliver integrated services and online systems
that are easy to use.
Our people are knowledgeable, flexible and
focused on delivering the best-possible outcomes
for Western Australia’s community, economy and
environment.

We ensure regulated stakeholders meet their
commitments and we undertake appropriate
compliance and enforcement.
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Values
Following the state government’s Machinery of
Government changes in 2017, the newly formed
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation
undertook extensive internal consultation, staff
engagement and focus groups to identify and
establish a new set of values.

We build trust

How we do our work

We serve to make
a difference

We care

How we feel
about our work

What we do and
why we do it

Open minds

How we approach
our work

Better together
How we connect

Dep ar tm ent o f Water and Env iro nm ental Reg ulatio n
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A focus on our values
The department prides itself on living its values in
the work we do, both within the department and for
the broader Western Australian community.
During 2017–18, we celebrated our achievements
against the following values:

iff

The department recognises the
W e c are
importance of workplace well-being,
and in the 2017–18 year we engaged,
consulted and delivered a broad range of programs,
celebrations and events, supporting diversity,
resilience, inclusivity and healing including:
• Harmony Day

On 2 August 2017, the relationship between state
and local government was clarified and fortified
when both parties entered into the Western
Australian State Local Government Agreement.

• International Women’s Day

The department published the new Authorised
Officers training manual which contains built-in
assessments. To date 67 local government officers
have been appointed under the new Authorised
Officer policy, with further applications being
received every week.

• Australia Day Awards

• Flexible Working Day (encouraging and
supporting flexibility in the workplace)
• 16 Days in WA – Violence Against Women
• IDAHOBIT – International Day Against
Homophobia, Biphobia and Transphobia
• NAIDOC and National Reconciliation Week
• Recovery, Resilience and Mental Health in the
Workplace

In 2017–18, as part of our workforce
and diversity planning, we established
the Equity and Diversity Panel. Chaired
by a member of the Corporate Executive with
representation from across the agency, the panel
met six times throughout 2017–18.
tt e

er

Many local government environmental
to
health officers are appointed
m ake a d
as ‘Authorised Officers’ under
the Environmental Protection Act 1986, providing
them with additional powers to investigate and
manage health and environmental risks in their
communities.

Better together

We care
Be

e
W e ser v

eren e
c

We serve to make a difference

r to g eth

With guidance from the panel, the department
endorsed its first five-year Disability access and
inclusion plan in June 2018. In addition, the panel
developed a diversity inclusion statement, which
commits us to a fair and inclusive workplace that
encourages and supports employees to reach their
full potential.
In 2017–18, the panel focused on:
• diversity in leadership
• promoting and supporting flexible working
arrangements
• developing quarterly reporting on the
department’s equity index.

A nnual rep o r t 2 0 1 7 –1 8

15

Agency
Significant
performance
issues

Home

Disclosures

Ov er v iew

Organisational chart
Environmental Protection Authority
Waste Authority
Minister for Water
Hon. Dave Kelly MLA

Minister for Environment
Hon. Stephen Dawson MLC

Cockburn Sound Management Council
Air Quality Coordinating Committee
Contaminated Sites Committee
Office of the Appeals Convenor

Office of Director General

Director General

Executive management
support, Ministerial liaison
and Communications.

Mike Rowe

Keep Australia Beautiful Council WA

Strategic Policy
and Programs

Science and
Planning

EPA Strategy
and Guidance

EPA Services

Regulatory
Services
(Water)

Regulatory
Services
(Environment)

Compliance and
Enforcement

Corporate
Services

Sarah McEvoy*

Paul Brown*

Patrick Seares*

Anthony Sutton*

Richard Newman*

Kelly Faulkner*

Stuart Cowie*

Geoff Gilbert*

*Interim Executive Directors

Dep ar tm ent o f Water and Env iro nm ental Reg ulatio n
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Directorate profile

EPA Strategy and Guidance
Patrick Seares
Strategic and policy advice to the Environmental
Protection Authority and Minister for
Environment; and expert advice into complex
environmental impact assessments for projects
and schemes.

Strategic Policy and Programs
Sarah McEvoy
Environmental, water (resources, industry
and services) and waste strategic policy and
programs; support services to the Waste
Authority, Keep Australia Beautiful Council
WA, Cockburn Sound Management Council
and Air Quality Coordinating Committee; and
amendments to existing, and drafting new, Acts
and subordinate legislation administered by the
department.

Science and Planning
Paul Brown
Water information and modelling; water resource
assessments; water science; water allocation
and supply planning; public drinking water
source protection planning; urban water, flood
and drainage management specialist advice;
the integration of water and land use planning;
environmental noise specialist advice; air quality
information and specialist advice; land and
water quality specialist advice; and regulating
contaminated sites.

EPA Services
Anthony Sutton
Services the Environmental Protection Authority;
environmental impact assessment support
for significant proposals; and evaluating
amendments to Ministerial conditions and
changes to approved proposals.

Regulatory Services (Water)
Richard Newman
Assessing and determining enforceable water
licences and permits; overseeing operational
environmental management of activities subject
to water licences; supporting compliance and
enforcement programs associated with water
licencing; and ensuring transparent, effective,
logical, timely and consistent water regulatory
practices.

Regulatory Services (Environment)
Kelly Faulkner
Assessing and determining environmental
regulation applications (works approvals,
licences and clearing permits) that are effective
and enforceable; overseeing operational
environmental management of activities subject
to granted instruments; supporting compliance
and enforcement programs; and managing
contentious issues associated with instrument
activities.

Compliance and Enforcement
Stuart Cowie
Integrated environmental compliance,
enforcement and pollution response services;
annual environmental compliance programs;
regulating and monitoring controlled waste
movements; administering the landfill levy; and
handling complaints.

Corporate Services
Geoff Gilbert
Customer-focused finance and administration;
human resources; legal and information
services; digital, technology and communication
services; and meeting compliance requirements
and supporting the achievement of the
department’s strategic objectives.
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Our corporate executive

Top row (from left): Stuart Cowie, Kelly Faulkner, Mike Rowe (Director General), Sarah McEvoy, Paul Brown, Anthony Sutton
Bottom row (from left): Patrick Seares, Richard Newman, Geoff Gilbert
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Our workforce profile 2017–18
852 employees / 741 full-time equivalent (FTE) positions:
Diversity groups
Gender (%)

2%

2%

40%

17%

Women in senior
executive service (SES)

People from culturally and
linguistically diverse
backgrounds (CaLD)

1%

46%

Aboriginal Australians

People with disability

People under 24

45 Men
55 Women

Supporting workforce flexibility (%)
Working arrangements

Employment type

78 Full-time
22 Part-time

88 Permanent
12 Fixed-term
contract

People over 45

Employees by occupation category
Age profile
24 years
and under

1%

25 to
44 years

53%

45 years
and over

108 Managers

46%
Total

852

552 Professionals
8 Technicians and trades workers
184 Clerical and administrative workers
Data is current as of 30 June 2018
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Performance management
framework
Our services

During 2017–18, the department
supported government goals across nine
service areas through its outcome-based
management framework.
Changes from the 2017–18 reporting year
During the 2017–18 financial year two new key
effectiveness indicators were introduced:
1. Percentage of regulatory compliance activities
completed as planned
2. Percentage of potential environmental risks
identified during compliance monitoring
program that are rectified within two months

The two new effectiveness indicators replaced the
following four previous key effectiveness indicators
relating to the former Department of Environment
Regulation:
1. Percentage of major resource project works
approvals and licences applications decided
within 60 working days
2. Percentage of other project works approvals
and licences applications decided within 60
working days

any potential harm. The Office of the Auditor
General was satisfied the changes reflect the work
undertaken by the department to meet the related
outcome statement.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
The Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation did not share any responsibilities with
other agencies in 2017–18.

3. Percentage of native vegetation clearing permit
applications decided within 60 working days
4. Percentage of investigations finalised within 60
working days
The Office of the Auditor General found the previous
key effectiveness indicators did not clearly link with
the related outcome statement. The new indicators
are designed to provide confidence to regulated
entities and members of the public that the
department has a risk-based regulatory compliance
program, and where potential environmental risks
are identified the department will use a range of
regulatory options to prevent, control or mitigate
A nnual rep o r t 2 0 1 7 –1 8
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Outcome-based management framework
We support the government goal of ‘Better places: A quality environment with liveable and affordable communities and vibrant regions’. The diagram below illustrates the
relationship between our services and desired outcomes, and the government goal to which we contribute.

Government goal: Better places: A quality environment with liveable and affordable communities and vibrant regions
Outcome

Outcome

Service area

Key effectiveness indicators

Outcome

1

Western Australia’s
growth and development
is supported by the
sustainable management
of water resources for the
long‑term benefit of the
state

Outcome

2

Emissions, discharges
and clearing of native
vegetation are effectively
regulated to avoid
unacceptable risks to
public health and the
environment

Outcome

3

Development and
implementation of
strategic policy and
legislation that promoted
sustainable environmental
outcomes

Outcome

4

Outcome

5

Quality advice to the
Environmental Protection
Authority (EPA) and
Minister for Environment
on significant proposals
and environmental issues

Waste avoided and the
recovery of materials from
landfill maximised

6

Compliance with
Ministerial Statement
implementation conditions
are monitored effectively

Key effectiveness
indicators

Key effectiveness
indicators

Key effectiveness
indicators

Key effectiveness
indicators

Key effectiveness
indicators

Key effectiveness
indicators

• Proportion of stakeholders
who perceive the
department to be effectively
managing the state’s
water as a resource for
sustainable, productive use

• Percentage of regulatory
compliance activities
completed as planned

• Percentage of advice and
recommendations that met
Ministerial approval, without
the need for significant
modification

• Percentage of municipal
solid waste reported as
diverted from landfill through
recycling compared to waste
strategy target in the Perth
metropolitan region

• The EPA’s satisfaction
with the department’s
Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA) service,
during the year, in line with
best practice principles of
EIA

• The number of Ministerial
Statements audited
compared to targets

• Proportion of priority growth
areas that have a water
supply planning strategy

• Percentage of potential
environmental risks
identified during compliance
monitoring program that are
rectified within two months

• Percentage of commercial
and industrial waste
reported as diverted from
landfill through recycling
compared to the state-wide
waste strategy target
• Percentage of construction
and demolition waste
reported as diverted from
landfill through recycling
compared to the state-wide
waste strategy target

Service 1
Service 2
Service 3

Service 4

Service 5

Service 6

• Percentage of projectspecific conditions which
did not require significant
change following the appeal
process
• Percentage of assessments
that met agreed timelines
• The EPA’s satisfaction
with the department’s
provision of environmental
management services
during the year
Service 7
Service 8

Service 9
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Outcome-based management framework (continued)
Key efficiency indicators

Outcome 1 Service 1:
Water information and advice
• Proportion of statutory referrals from
decision‑making authorities where advice is
provided within target timeframes
• Average cost per statutory referral assessment
• Average cost per water measurement site
managed

Outcome 1 Service 2:
Water planning, allocation and
optimisation
• Average cost per plan, report or guidance
document to support water planning, allocation
and optimisation
• Average cost per hour of scientific support for
water planning, allocation and optimisation
managed

Outcome 1 Service 3:
Water regulation, licensing and
industry governance
• Average cost of assessing a water licence
application by risk assessment category
• Average time taken (days) to assess a licence
application by risk assessment category
• Average cost of compliance monitoring and
enforcement action

Outcome 2 Service 4:
Environmental regulation
• Average cost per works approval and licence
application
• Average cost per native vegetation clearing
permit application

Outcome 3 Service 5:
Environmental policy

• Average cost per hour of policy advice and
recommendations

Outcome 4 Service 6:
Waste strategies

• Cost of landfill levy compliance as a percentage
of landfill levy income collected

Outcome 5 Service 7:
Environmental impact
assessment services to the EPA
• Cost per standardised unit of assessment output

Outcome 5 Service 8:
Environmental management
services to the EPA
• Cost per standardised unit of environmental
management services output

Outcome 6 Service 9:
Compliance monitoring services
to the Minister for Environment
• Average cost per environmental audit completed
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Our focus for a consolidated, integrated and responsive department

Digital transformation

Effective advice, leadership and engagement

Our digital vision is to align digital, technology and
business processes to improve the way services are
designed, supported and delivered to customers.

The department places a high value on partnerships
with our stakeholders from all sectors, and we
work hard to ensure we meet the expectations
of the community, industry and government.
Building effective relationships ensures the state’s
water resources and environment are healthy and
able to support a strong economy and thriving
communities.

In response to the government’s Digital WA strategy,
we have developed a digital strategy and outlined
several digital transformation projects.

Our move to Joondalup
The department is preparing for the relocation of its
head office in the Perth CBD to Joondalup.
The building has been designed to achieve a
five‑star Green Star rating and 4.5 star National
Australian Built Environment Rating System (NABERS)
energy rating. The building includes a solar array
which generates approximately 100 megawatt hours
of electricity each year.
We are working with Aboriginal culture and language
custodians and consultants on opportunities to
acknowledge and incorporate traditional knowledge
and language in the fitout of our new facilities.
This includes the naming of meeting spaces and
collaboration on featured artwork.

A major project under the digital strategy is the
expansion of Water Online to replace legacy
environment regulation business systems. Water
Online has provided a single portal for water
licence applications since 2015 and an application
assessment system since June 2017. The new work
will see Water Online expanded into a one-stop shop
for industry, improving the customer experience with
more self-service online transactions.
The expanded platform – known as Environment
Online – will support environmental licensing
applications and assessments, contaminated
sites, incident management, and controlled waste
licensing and tracking, as well as compliance
activities through new workflow and case
management. Environment Online is expected to
take three to four years to develop.
We have also started a review of cyber security to
ensure resilience as more of our business goes
online.

Over the past 12 months, the department has
hosted and participated in meetings and forums
with its stakeholders, including peak bodies,
industry associations, state and local government
agencies, community groups and non-government
organisations.
Insights from these discussions have been
and continue to be used to shape and inform
department programs and activities.

Staff and department awards
►► Water planning ‘wisdom’ recognised at WA
water awards
The department’s Water Supply-Demand Model
was a finalist in the Program Innovation category
of the 2017 Australian Water Association WA Water
Awards. The model (or ‘Wisdom’ as its users refer
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to it) was developed in response to a need for more
coordinated, long-term planning for water resources
and water supplies to support the state’s social and
economic development.
►► Department staff recognised with Australia Day
Achievement Medallions
The department recognised four department staff
with Australia Day Achievement Medallions in 2018,
in recognition of their dedication to provide the best
possible service to protect West Australians and our
environment and water:
• Ken Raine
• Peter Taylor
• Sarah McEvoy
• Simon Rodgers
►► Expertise helping the United Nations
The department’s Paul Newell authored a safety
and disposal guide for the United Nations Office on
Drugs and Crime (UNODC). This illustrated guide
will help prevent pollution and protect public health
from the improper disposal of toxic chemicals used
in illicit drug manufacture in remote and developing
countries.

Providing expert advice to government, and
quality service to the boards and authorities the
department supports
Following the Machinery of Government changes
in 2017, the department assumed responsibility
for all environment and water regulation, creating
a one‑stop shop for industry and developers to
streamline and simplify regulation.
The department supports the Waste Authority to
maximise waste avoidance and recovery of materials
from landfill. Our staff provide services including
strategic policy advice, administration and program
management, and implementation of programs and
projects in the annual business plan.
The department also provides administrative advice
and support to:
• Keep Australia Beautiful Council, which
oversees the activities of Keep Australia
Beautiful WA, as part of the Litter Act 1979.
• Cockburn Sound Management Council, which
provides advice to the Minister for Environment
on the environmental management of
Cockburn Sound established under section 25
of the Environmental Protection Act 1986.
• Contaminated Sites Committee, which is
an independent statutory administrative
tribunal established under section 33 of the
Contaminated Sites Act 2003.

The Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) is
an independent board that provides advice to the
Minister for Environment. The department provides
services to the EPA to conduct environmental
impact assessment of significant development
proposals, strategic proposals and planning
schemes. Our staff also help develop statutory
policies, guidelines and strategic advice to support
the EPA to manage environmental impacts and
protect the environment.
The department monitors the implementation of
proposals approved by the Minister for Environment
to ensure compliance with the conditions set out
in the Ministerial Statement. We undertake our
environmental compliance activities through a
structured annual program and take enforcement
action as appropriate.
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Performance summary
Actual results versus
budget targets
Summary of
key performance indicators

Our performance
Outcome 1: Western Australia’s
growth and development is
supported by the sustainable
management of water resources
for the long‑term benefit
of the state
Service 1: Water information
and advice

28
28
29

31

31
32

Service 2: Water planning,
allocation and optimisation

39

Service 3: Water regulation,
licensing and industry
governance

54

Outcome 2: Emissions, discharges
and clearing of native vegetation
are effectively regulated to avoid
unacceptable risks to public health
and the environment
60
Service 4: Environmental
regulation
61

Outcome 3: Development and
implementation of
strategic policy and legislation
that promoted sustainable
environmental outcomes
73
Service 5: Environmental policy 74
Outcome 4: Waste avoided and
the recovery of materials from
landfill maximised
Service 6: Waste strategies

77
78

Outcome 5: Quality advice to the
Environmental Protection
Authority (EPA) and Minister for
Environment on significant proposals
80
and environmental issues
Service 7: Environmental impact
assessment services
to the EPA
81
Service 8: Environmental
management services
to the EPA

PERFORMANCE
REPORT

85

Outcome 6: Compliance with Ministerial
Statement implementation conditions
are monitored effectively
89
Service 9: Compliance monitoring
services to the Minister for
Environment
90
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Performance summary
Each year the department is required
to meet a number of targets set by the
state government. These targets relate to
government-desired outcomes, financial
management, services to be delivered
and performance targets to be achieved.
The agreement is a transparent way
for the state government to monitor
the operational performance of the
department.
The department evaluates, measures and reports
on the effectiveness of its services in achieving
its desired agency level outcomes through Key
performance indicators or ‘KPIs’. KPIs comprise
both Effectiveness and Efficiency indicators.
Effectiveness indicators show the extent to which
the department achieved its department-level
outcome and the Efficiency indicators show the
cost of services delivered by the department, as
summarised in the tables following.

Actual results versus budget targets

Financial and working cash targets

Total cost of services (i.e. endorsed expense limit)
Net cost of services (details in the Income statement)
Total Equity (details in the Statement of financial position)
Agreed salary expense level
Working cash limit

2017–18

2017–18

2017–18

Budget1

Actual

Variance2

$,000

$,000

$,000

180 259

173 409

6 850

71 215

52 423

18 792

383 346

467 366

(84 020)

87 599

88 236

(637)

8 240

7 693

(518)

1. As specified in Budget Papers
2. Further explanations are contained in Note 9.12 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.
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Summary of key performance indicators
For a more detailed explanation of the indicators and reasons for variances, please refer to the audited ‘Key performance indicators’ section of this report.

Summary of key effectiveness indicators
Outcome

1
2
3
4

Western Australia’s growth and
development is supported by the
sustainable management of water
resources for the long-term benefit of the
state
Emissions, discharges and clearing of
native vegetation are effectively regulated
to avoid unacceptable risks to public health
and the environment
Development and implementation of
strategic policy and legislation that
promoted sustainable environmental
outcomes

Waste avoided and the recovery of
materials from landfill maximised

5
Quality advice to the EPA and the Minister
for Environment on significant proposals
and environmental issues

6

Compliance with Ministerial statement
implementation conditions are monitored
effectively

Key effectiveness indicator

2017–18
Target %

2017–18
Actual %

2017–18
Variance %

Proportion of stakeholders who perceive the department to be effectively
managing the state’s water as a resource for sustainable, productive use

60

64

4

h

Proportion of priority growth areas that have a water supply planning strategy

94

75

(19)

i

100

78

(22)

i

Percentage of potential environmental risks identified during compliance
monitoring program that are rectified within two months

80

45

(35)

i

Percentage of advice and recommendations that met Ministerial approval,
without the need for significant modification

95

97

2

h

Percentage of municipal solid waste reported as diverted from landfill through
recycling compared to waste strategy target in the Perth metropolitan region

50

33

(17)

i

Percentage of commercial and industrial waste reported as diverted from landfill
through recycling compared to the state-wide waste strategy target

55

46

(9)

i

Percentage of construction and demolition waste reported as diverted from
landfill through recycling compared to the state-wide waste strategy target

60

77

17

h

The EPA’s satisfaction with the department’s Environmental Impact Assessment
(EIA) service, during the year, in line with Best Practice Principles of EIA

82

97

15

h

Percentage of project-specific conditions which did not require significant
change following the appeal process

80

94

14

h

Percentage of assessments that met agreed timelines

83

92

9

h

The EPA’s satisfaction with the department’s provision of environmental
management services during the year

83

90

7

h

100

100

0

Percentage of regulatory compliance activities completed as planned

The number of Ministerial Statements audited compared to targets
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Summary of key efficiency indicators
Service

Significant
issues

Overview

2017–18
Target

Key efficiency indicators
Proportion of statutory referrals from decision-making authorities where advice is
provided within target timeframes

2017–18
Actual %

2017–18
Variance %

96%

95%

(1%)

i

Average cost per statutory referral assessment

$10 273

$13 072

$2 799

i

Average cost per water measurement site managed

$12 933

$8 754

$4 179

h

$218 250

$417 794

$199 544

i

$210

$196

$14

h

• Low risk

$4 709

$1 071

$3 638

h

• Medium risk

$5 551

$14 297

$8 746

i

• High risk

$8 571

$28 762

$20 191

i

• Low risk

65

73

(8)

i

• Medium risk

75

134

(59)

i

• High risk

57

158

(101)

i

$576

$743

$167

i

$24 263

$55 962

$31 699

i

Average cost per native vegetation clearing permit application

$7 991

$34 405

$26 414

i

Service 5 Environmental policy

Average cost per hour of policy advice and recommendations

$107

$89

$18

h

Service 6 Waste strategies

Cost of landfill levy compliance as a percentage of landfill levy income collected

2.8%

1.3%

1.5%

h

Service 7 Environmental impact
assessment services to the EPA

Cost per standardised unit of assessment output

$23 513

$34 681

$11 168

i

Service 8 Environmental
management services to the EPA

Cost per standardised unit of environmental management services output

$26 790

$31 377

$4 587

i

Service 9 Compliance monitoring
services to the Minister

Average cost per environmental audit completed

$39 846

$18 069

$21 777

i

Service 1 Water information and
advice

Service 2 Water planning, allocation
and optimisation

Average cost per plan, report or guidance document to support water planning,
allocation and optimisation
Average cost per hour of scientific support for water planning, allocation and
optimisation
Average cost of assessing a water licence application by risk assessment category:

Service 3 Water regulation, licensing
and industry governance

Average time taken (days) to assess a licence application by risk assessment category:

Average cost of compliance monitoring and enforcement action
Service 4 Environmental regulation

Average cost per works approval and licence application
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outcome

Our
performance

1
Western Australia’s
growth and development
is supported by the
sustainable management
of water resources for the
long‑term benefit of the
state
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Service 1

Water information
and advice
The department enables investment
decisions of regional and state
significance by providing data and
information on the quantity, quality,
location of and demand for water
across the state. The information also
underpins policy advice for consideration
by government and supports other
government agencies and stakeholders
to plan for future economic growth and
urban and rural development.

Perth-Peel Water
@ 3.5 million
The department is continuing to guide Greater
Perth’s transition from heavy reliance on shallow
groundwater resources impacted by climate change,
to a waterwise city with a diverse range of water
sources and demand-management practices.
In February 2018, the department held local
government forums to discuss the water demand
and supply situation for Greater Perth and the need
to plan for a future with less groundwater. Eighty
representatives from 26 local government authorities
examined our water demand and supply outlook for
a forecast population of 3.5 million people by 2050.

Water supply for Perth’s green spaces and the
Swan Valley
In 2017–18, the department completed a cost‑benefit
analysis, financial viability assessment and technical
study into six water supply options for meeting the
future non-potable water needs of green spaces in
Perth’s North East Corridor and irrigated agriculture
in the Swan Valley. The study found that wastewater
recycling could make an important contribution
to the non-potable water needs in the area and
would be economically beneficial under particular
circumstances.
In partnership with the Western Suburbs Regional
Organisation of Councils and the Town of
Cambridge, the department also completed the
first phase of an evaluation of supply options for
watering of green spaces. The options include
infiltrating highly-treated wastewater or stormwater
back into aquifers. The evaluation found that even
though recycled wastewater and recycled drainage
water were more expensive than direct groundwater
abstraction, both options were cheaper than the
potable water supplied from the Perth Integrated
Water Supply Scheme.
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Service 1

Water supply for Wanneroo agriculture
A preliminary investigation was undertaken,
in partnership with the City of Wanneroo, into
alternative water supply options for irrigated
agriculture in North Wanneroo. The study identified
five alternative supply options for providing an
additional three gigalitres per year of water for
intensive agricultural use. The report suggested that
once a structure and scale for the future agriculture
industry in the area was agreed on, a more detailed
feasibility assessment could be undertaken.
The study was used to inform the North Wanneroo
Water and Agriculture Taskforce about water supply
options for the area where groundwater was not
available to support future expansion of irrigated
agriculture.

Peel Integrated Water
Initiative
The Peel Integrated Water Initiative, a key
component of the Transform Peel program, is
focused on finding solutions for the future water
demands of the planned Peel Food Zone to the
north-east of Mandurah. This zone is expected to
incorporate a multi-use 1000-hectare business
park, including product processing and distribution.
The initiative also aims to ensure that water
resource development to support growth proposed
under Transform Peel is carried out in a way that
addresses the nutrient enrichment issues in the
Peel-Harvey estuary.
In 2017–18, the department, in partnership with
the Department of Primary Industries and Regional
Development, the Peel-Harvey Catchment Council
and CSIRO worked on:
• Quantifying ecological water requirements,
to define the water needed to preserve
groundwater-dependent ecosystems,
wetlands, streams and other water-sensitive
environmental assets.

• Undertaking a water resource assessment, to
quantify the safe yields from local surface water
and groundwater sources.
• Identifying opportunities for potential superficial
aquifer water resource enhancement, to
define and evaluate options based on targeted
abstraction-replenishment in the superficial
aquifer.
• Assessing strategies to reduce nutrients
entering the estuary system through fertiliser
management, soil amendment and nutrient
pathway modelling.
• Considering various horticultural development
scenarios (Stage 1 water demand modelling)
to identify how much and when the additional
water will be required to realise the Peel Food
Zone development.
• Identifying a range of technically viable
conventional and innovative water sources
(including transferring treated wastewater,
rainfall harvesting, subsoil and surface drainage
flow) to enable consideration of a range of
supply options to meet the expected growth in
demand from the Peel Food Zone.
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• Conducting a managed aquifer recharge
field investigation and preliminary modelling
to support a future water injection trial at
Nambeelup. An assessment of the investigation
has found that managed aquifer recharge and
storage within the deep Cattamarra aquifer
is technically feasible and could enhance the
long-term resilience of the Peel Food Zone.
The outcome of current studies will be used
primarily to define environmental water requirements
and refine performance criteria, reviewing existing
allocation limits and test scenarios, and finalise
supply-demand analysis.

Water supply options for
green space irrigation in the
South West 2015–2060
The department has been working with state and
local government agencies, utilities and industry
to plan future water supplies for the South West.
The project focuses on water for public open
space, schools and community recreation facilities,
collectively known as ‘green space irrigation needs’.
Seven areas (Australind, Wanju, Central Bunbury,
Boyanup, Busselton East, Busselton Vasse and
Dunsborough) were found to be at increased risk of

demand exceeding supply by 2060. Across these
seven areas, a shortfall of 1549 megalitres per year is
predicted by 2030, rising to 3450 megalitres by 2060.
More than 85 per cent of current water used is
from proclaimed groundwater sources, with just
over 7 per cent coming from scheme water, 3 per
cent from wastewater and 2.5 per cent from
unproclaimed surface water.
For each focus area, options have been assessed
and pathway solutions developed to meet future
demands.
The Dunsborough area was the initial focus, as it
was considered to have the greatest risk, and the
City of Busselton requested assistance to find a
timely solution. Initial figures indicated a shortfall
of 250 megalitres per year. However, much of the
shortfall was associated with the demand values
provided by the Dunsborough Lakes Golf Club and,
after further analysis and water efficiency trials, the
current shortfall was found to be only 25 megalitres
per year.
Six costed options were presented to the City
of Busselton and the city selected the Sue Coal
Measures confined aquifer resource as the best
proposal to meet the full shortfall of 528 megalitres
per year by 2060.

Land use planning advice
In 2017–18, the department continued to advise
decision-making agencies and proponents on
managing impacts to the state’s water resources
from land planning and development proposals.
A planning advice function was added to the
department’s Water Online portal in October 2015.
Since then, the department has serviced more than
7800 requests for water advice and information
from various decision-making agencies and other
stakeholders.
In 2017–18, the department assessed and
responded to 324 requests for water advice from the
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage; 437
from local governments; 162 from the Department
of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety; and 57
from the EPA. The department also responded to
55 requests from other state government agencies,
and advised on 239 water management reports
associated with land planning and mining activities.
In 2017–18, the department reviewed its statutory
functions, external referral base, delegation
frameworks and internal systems and processes
in relation to advice about the land planning
process. This work is establishing greater internal
coordination; overall it aims to provide a single
consolidated response to external requests for water
and environment advice.
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Supporting key government priorities
re

Outcome 1
Service 1

F e atu

A waterwise METRONET

The department is supporting
delivery of METRONET with
advice on key water opportunities,
water resource issues and risk
management.

The department contributed to waterwise
design for stormwater management associated
with the Yanchep rail extension, planning
processes for precincts at Redcliffe and
Forrestfield, and drainage for liveability options
at Redcliffe.

As a first step the department
worked with the Water Corporation
to identify important water matters
to be managed in collaboration
with other government agencies,
as well as current water availability
and supply issues, public drinking
water source area protection and
opportunities to demonstrate best
practice for waterwise urban design
outcomes.

The waterwise approach to managing
stormwater includes attention to managing
small events – particularly as these create
significant water quality risks to receiving
waterbodies. The intent is to manage small
rainfall events ‘at source’, meaning lot-scale
runoff is managed within lots and road runoff is
managed within road reserves.
The department’s Director General Mike
Rowe is a member of the METRONET Station
Precincts Steering Committee and an observer
on the METRONET Taskforce.

Jump to
the webpage!

WWW.
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Outcome 1
Service 1

Water information

In 2017–18, the department’s Water Information Reporting portal and GIS services
provided data and information on the quantity, quality, location of and demand
for water across the state. Information from the portal is delivered instantaneously
and puts vital information at the fingertips of consultants, miners, land and
property developers, farmers, infrastructure providers, government departments,
researchers and students.
The portal has been operating successfully for the past four years to provide
reliable, customised water information quickly and easily. This free and online
service provides instant access to more than 132 000 water monitoring sites and
an additional 80 million new measurements during the year.
In 2017–18, the multi award-winning portal received more than 5500 requests for
water information, 644 more than last year. Requests for data came mainly from
the private sector, government and the education and research sectors.
Water data and information supports a viable, sustainable resource for public
benefit while enabling individual economic benefits. Scientists and planners across
the public sector use the data for modelling and assessments to help determine
flood risk, drainage management, sustainable water allocations and, importantly,
water resource planning for the benefit of the wider community.

Data requests per financial year

Total

4000

5518

4869

5000

4638

4439

6000

5518

Data requests by sector 2017–18

3468

Water data and information is used to inform investment decisions of local,
regional and state significance, and supports other government agencies and
stakeholders in their planning for future economic growth, and urban and rural
development.

3000
2000
1000

Consultancy
3460 (62.7%)
Universities
632 (11.4%)
Public
248 (4.5%)
Mining
58 (1.0%)
Educational
institutes
21 (0.4%)

Department
612 (11.1%)
Government
– WA
252 (4.6%)
Government
153 (2.8%)

0

2013–14

2014–15

2015–16

2016–17

2017–18

Other
82 (1.5%)
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Data requests
It was another record year for data requests, with 5518 requests received in
2017–18. As expected, consultants were the largest users with 3460 requests.
This rose from 3157 last year, or up nearly 10 per cent. Universities also featured
strongly this year with 632 requests, compared with 343 last year, up 84 per cent.

Vital data now available online
Scientific data from more than 6300 hard copy hydrological reports have been
digitally captured and are available on the department’s portal. The project
identified and captured information for more than 7000 bores not previously
accessible in a digital format. The reports span from the 1980s to the present day
and contain vital data on water resources in regional Western Australia.
The digital data capture project was part of the Water for Food program and was
designed to provide a solid knowledge base to underpin the state’s agricultural
development. By capturing water information from existing reports, the project
saved time and money, fast-tracked activities and reduced impacts on the
environment by reducing the need to use exploratory bores.

Decision process for stormwater
management in WA
In September 2017, the department released the third edition of the Decision
process for stormwater management in WA. This process provides an approach
and outcome criteria for planning and designing stormwater management systems
for both new urban (greenfield, infill and brownfield) developments and retrofitted
systems.
The decision process supports the design of urban stormwater management
systems that protect public health and safety, and save infrastructure and
buildings from flooding. Well-designed systems also protect and enhance sensitive
receiving environments, by managing the water cycle, water quality, habitat
diversity and biodiversity. They enable economically-sustainable construction and
maintenance costs, and achieve good urban amenity.

A nnual rep o r t 2 0 1 7 –1 8

37

Home

Significant
issues

Overview

Disclosures

Agency
performance

Outcome 1
Service 1

Drainage for Liveability
The Drainage for Liveability program in collaboration with the Water Corporation
has been operating for two years. During that time a partnering agreement with
the Peel-Harvey Catchment Council has also been developed, outlining a shared
vision of creating liveable communities with improved management of water and
drainage in the Peel-Harvey catchment.
The program involved consultation with more than 17 local governments, both in
the metropolitan and regional centres, to instigate projects for improved liveability
outcomes near Water Corporation stormwater infrastructure. Most notable was
the upgrade of the Russell Street detention basin and launch of a ninja-style
obstacle course in April 2018, resulting in a multi-functional public open space in
the City of Bayswater. Projects have ranged from possum bridges, fish tagging
and water quality research to the creation of public open space, bike paths and
walkways.
Guidance notes have also been developed to support implementation of the
partnering agreements and inform stakeholders on stormwater integration into
public open space and small rainfall event management.

Waterwise Council Program
The Waterwise Council Program fosters a cooperative working relationship
between the department, the Water Corporation and local governments to build
demand-management capability and improve water efficiency, climate resilience
and liveability in council operations that extends to the wider community. More
than 80 per cent of metropolitan councils are participating in the program,
reaching about 1.6 million residents.

In 2017, in partnership with the Water Corporation, the department launched an
expansion of the Waterwise Council Recognition Scheme criteria to align with
the Water Sensitive Cities Index. While supporting councils to be more water
efficient will always be a key focus for the program, the expanded criteria will allow
us to highlight the great work councils are doing to create resilient, sustainable,
productive and liveable communities (and thus contributing to a more balanced
water cycle).
More information is available at the Waterwise Council Program website.

Kent Street Weir refurbishment
In May 2017, the department, using a capital funding allocation and in
collaboration with the then Department of Parks and Wildlife and the City of
Canning, began reconstruction of the Kent Street Weir. The upgrade was
completed on 22 December 2017 and officially opened by the Minister for Water
on 8 March 2018.
The upgrade has provided an improved facility for the public, enhanced the safety
of operators and visitors, and helped protect the freshwater environment for the
next 50 years.
The upgrade also benefits the conservation of native fish species through the
addition of a fishway and will ensure this historically significant site will continue to
be enjoyed for many years to come.
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Securing Perth’s water future
F e atu

Service 2

Water planning,
allocation and
optimisation
The department’s water planning,
allocation and optimisation ensures
the sustainable management of water
resources for the state’s long-term
benefit and relies on good science.
This includes planning and allocating
water for sustainable productive
use, protecting public drinking water
source areas, and ensuring the
sustainability of water resources and
their dependent ecosystems.

Gnangara groundwater system

The Gnangara groundwater system is a
crucial, shared water source for Perth,
supplying nearly half of Perth’s scheme
water and most self-supplied water
north of the Swan River.
This includes water for parks, gardens and
sporting grounds; domestic garden bores; the
Swan Valley tourism precinct; and fresh produce
from Wanneroo and Gingin. Many environmental
features also depend on Gnangara groundwater –
such as lakes, wetlands and unique vegetation.
In 2017–18, the department continued work
on the next Gnangara groundwater allocation
plan. We undertook comprehensive scientific
assessments and consulted with the main water
use sectors, including public water supply, public
open space and horticulture.

Jump to
the webpage!

In May 2018, we launched our Gnangara
groundwater website and released Our
groundwater future in Perth: Securing Gnangara
groundwater and adapting to climate change.
Both of these explain why a new plan is a
necessary response to climate change, and keep
our licence holders in the Gnangara system and
other interested stakeholders informed.
The Gnangara groundwater areas allocation
plan, released in 2009, was a significant step
in adjusting how we manage groundwater in
the context of climate change. However, high
groundwater use and lower rainfall have reduced
recharge to groundwater and altered the system’s
water balance. Our goal is to rebalance the
system by 2030 to secure Perth’s largest, most
accessible and economically viable water source
to support a healthy and liveable environment
for the people of Perth. The next Gnangara
groundwater allocation plan will be released for
public comment in late 2018.

WWW.
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Water security for the
Cockburn groundwater
area
Photo: Kwinana Industries Council

The Cockburn groundwater allocation plan was
released for public comment in early June 2018.
This plan updates the management of local
groundwater resources and accounts for the
continuing effects of climate change on groundwater
availability. Groundwater resources in the Cockburn
groundwater area are now fully or over-allocated.
The plan supports the department’s implementation
of the Western Trade Coast heavy industry local
water supply strategy 2016.
The plan sets allocation limits that reflect projected
declines in rainfall to 2030, protect important local
wetlands, and minimise the impacts on water quality
from movement of the seawater interface. It ensures
sustainable supplies for industrial water use in the
Western Trade Coast, as well as for public open
space, domestic garden bores, and local irrigated
horticulture.
To meet future demand in the Cockburn
groundwater area, the department is supporting the
use of new and existing alternative water sources –
by industry and the Water Corporation – such as the
recycling of treated wastewater for managed aquifer
recharge and later recovery.

Water security for the north
The state government has a clear vision for
sustainable development of the Kimberley and
Pilbara and improving the area’s economic outlook.
The department is committed to engaging with
irrigators, Aboriginal people and other stakeholders
across the north to inform how water is allocated in
the future.
The government has committed to supporting
economic development in the Fitzroy Valley without
damming the Fitzroy River. Recent hydrogeological
investigations will inform preparation of the first water
allocation plan for the Fitzroy River catchment.
The department is working closely with researchers
– CSIRO’s Northern Australia Water Resource
Assessment and the National Environmental
Science Program’s Northern Hub – to complete
environmental and cultural water requirement
studies to inform planning in the Fitzroy catchment.
The Derby groundwater allocation plan is due for

release for public comment in late 2018. This plan
balances the demands for irrigated agriculture with
securing water for the town and maintaining the
quality of the water near the coastline.
The department is also refining the way water is
allocated in the La Grange and West Canning Basin
areas using new science to sustainably develop
irrigated agriculture in highly-sensitive environmental
and cultural areas.

La Grange groundwater
knowledge and licensing
The La Grange area in the West Kimberley has seen
increased demand for water to supply irrigation
projects.
To provide effective guidance on regional and local
water management for project planning, more
detailed work on groundwater and vegetation
knowledge began in 2017. The department is
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investigating environmental water requirements in
parallel with collecting groundwater data. During the
year, the department’s staff visited pastoral stations
interested in expanding into irrigated agriculture and
pasture to determine a consistent and structured
approach to handling licence applications in the La
Grange management area.
The department produced a guide for proponents
that outlined what hydrogeological assessments
they would need to consider. By June 2018 all
potential licensees had received consistent and
transparent guidance. Groundwater-level data
loggers were installed in several monitoring bores
to improve our knowledge of groundwater recharge
rates, seawater interface dynamics and vegetation
dependency on groundwater levels.
The department’s understanding of groundwater
resources and management in La Grange has
built on previous technical investigations and will
lead to a sustainable irrigation industry managed
on established scientific principles. Expanded
cropping and meat production is consistent with

regional interests and aspirations. This will provide
local employment opportunities and support local
business.
In May 2018, we published an evaluation statement
addressing the current status of the La Grange
groundwater allocation plan. It states that the
aquifer management objectives will be met by
continuing with the scientific programs to gain better
knowledge of the groundwater system. We will use
licence conditions and licensee monitoring to ensure
there are no impacts on the long-term sustainability
of the aquifer or associated environmental values.

Evaluating allocation plans
The department evaluated water allocation plans
across the state to enable a flexible response to
changing circumstances, such as when new science
becomes available or to account for the effects of
climate change. The seventh year of the evaluation
program covered 23 water allocation plans and
several local strategies.

Highlights from the 2017–18 evaluation program
included:
•

Identifying where groundwater allocation limit
changes may be necessary to support future
water security in the Murray, West Canning
Basin, La Grange, Jurien and Gingin plan
areas.

•

Improving monitoring programs in the Lower
Collie, Myalup, West Canning Basin, Jurien,
Peel Coastal and La Grange plan areas.

•

Working with stakeholders and licensees on
responding to changes in water demand in the
Ord, Warren-Donnelly, La Grange and Myalup
plan areas.

•

Triggering our planning process for replacing
existing water allocation plans in the
La Grange, Esperance, Derby, Upper Collie and
Lower Gascoyne.

The department also published evaluation
statements in 2017–18 for Whicher, Ord and
La Grange.

A nnual rep o r t 2 0 1 7 –1 8

41

Home

Significant
issues

Overview

Disclosures

Agency
performance

Outcome 1
Service 2

Water for Food

used to review allocation limits while accounting for
different climate change futures.

The Water for Food program, launched in 2014, is
led by the Department of Primary Industries and
Regional Development and is aimed at supporting
the state’s regional communities by developing and
diversifying the agriculture and food sectors. We
deliver science to support the program through our
water resource assessment, allocation planning and
regulatory roles.

To support the Southern Forest Irrigation Scheme,
we developed a rainfall-runoff model of the Donnelly
River basin. The model will be used to assess the
future viability of the irrigation scheme, determine
environmental flows in the river and update our
estimates of water availability in the Donnelly River
basin. For the Myalup-Wellington project we have
completed predictive scenarios for the Upper Collie
catchment (to simulate the range of streamflows
and salt loads under different diversion, land use
and climate scenarios) and for Wellington Reservoir
(to assess the changes in reliability and salinity of
supply).

In 2017–18 the department finalised drilling
campaigns at Myalup in the South West, the Irwin
River area in the Mid West and Fitzroy Crossing in
the Kimberley. New hydrogeological information
from the drilling programs will be used to update
our estimates of water supply potential in these key
demand areas. At Dinner Hill (Mid West) we used
data from investigations to increase groundwater
allocation limits for agricultural enterprises. At
Myalup a new groundwater model will be completed
in August 2018 using data obtained from the recent
groundwater investigations. The model will be

We also finalised a GIS-based groundwater
prospectus for the Midlands area from Gingin
to Dongara. The digital map makes the regional
datasets published in the Northern Perth Basin
bulletin available online and guides where higher
yielding, lower salinity groundwater could potentially
be found at different depth slices within the main
regional aquifers.

State Groundwater
Investigation Program

The State Groundwater Investigation Program made
excellent progress on its ‘next generation’ suite of
projects. Since it began in July 2016, the program
has invested more than $5.5 million to build our
understanding of groundwater systems across the
state.
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In 2017–18 the department:
• completed 3156 metres of drilling
• installed 36 new groundwater monitoring bores
• collected and analysed groundwater samples
from more than 100 bores
• received data from the 8200 square kilometre
airborne electromagnetic survey flown late in
the previous financial year.
The information from this work allows us to make
evidence-based decisions on how to best use
this water for agriculture, public open space and
industry, while balancing social and environmental
values. Also as part of the program, the department
is building innovative groundwater modelling tools
with The University of Western Australia and the
Water Corporation.

East Midlands investigation – providing
certainty for agriculture and the environment
The $5.1 million East Midlands groundwater
investigation is seeking to discover how much water

is available between Gingin and Moora, and where it
can be taken from.
Since 2016, the project has flown an airborne
electromagnetic survey and used the resulting data
to select locations for drilling about 21 groundwater
monitoring bores on the Dandaragan Plateau. So
far six bores have been drilled, and when the drilling
program is complete in late 2018, the department
will have new data on the quality, quantity and flow
direction of groundwater in this area.
This information will help the department establish if
more water is available for agriculture and industry,
and where to access it.
The investigation will also help the management
of water use around Gingin Brook, which relies on
groundwater to support its flow and has experienced
up to a 40 per cent decline in streamflow since 2010.

Kings Park Formation investigation – securing
water for green spaces

aquifers beneath Perth’s western suburbs – where
there is potential for saline water from the ocean and
river to affect fresh groundwater. The work will help
local councils plan future water supplies for green
spaces while leaving enough water in the ground
to support ecosystems and the urban tree canopy.
Along with more efficient use of natural groundwater,
options such as managed aquifer recharge are being
considered to preserve the city’s green spaces for
future generations.
The research includes geophysical surveys, the
construction of groundwater monitoring bores up to
half a kilometre deep, and the use of shallow probes
for measuring how much water infiltrates the soil to
recharge the aquifers. During the 2017–18 financial
year, 1795 metres of drilling was completed, with
20 monitoring bores being installed. Groundwater
samples were analysed for chemistry, stable
isotopes and groundwater age dating. The project
is being conducted in partnership with the Western
Suburbs Regional Organisation of Councils and the
Town of Cambridge.

The department is working to improve our
understanding of how groundwater moves in
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Water management in
Carnarvon
A sustainable horticulture industry in Carnarvon is
important to Western Australia’s food supply and
to the area’s economy. In 2017–18, the department
implemented several initiatives to improve water
supply security for Carnarvon growers.
An additional 1 gigalitre per year was made available
to the Gascoyne Water Cooperative for allocation
to members. This was achieved by rebalancing the
town water supply allocation and reserve, making
more water available for irrigated agriculture.
The department has improved water security for
growers by reducing the total volume of entitlements
in Subarea A above the sustainable allocation limit of
6.1 gigalitres per year. This resource has historically
been over-allocated by up to 180 per cent, which
presented a risk to the groundwater resource and
the users who depended on it. As prescribed
by the Lower Gascoyne groundwater allocation
plan released in 2011, licensee entitlements were

reviewed in early 2018 and reduced where high
salinity or low usage were identified.
Investment by government in improving water
supply security in Carnarvon has improved industry
confidence. Total horticultural water use for 2017
was 12.8 gigalitres, which was the highest recorded
usage for the Carnarvon Irrigation Area. Water use
in 2018 is predicted to rise to 14 gigalitres. This
greater confidence will increase productivity in the
area and underpin a long-term economic future for
Carnarvon.

Rural Water Planning and
Watering WA
The Rural Water Planning program targets the
state’s dryland agricultural regions, which receive
less than 600 millimetres of annual rainfall. Those
without access to a reticulated water service are
given priority as these areas are the most vulnerable
to serious water deficiencies.
The program increases long-term self-sufficiency for
and optimises the efficient use of all available nonpotable water supplies. It does this by implementing
a variety of programs:
• The Farm Water Rebate Scheme, allowed
commercial farmers to apply for a rebate of
up to 50 per cent of the cost of approved
infrastructure improvements, such as dams
and catchments, tanks, pipes and pumping
systems. This scheme closed on 31 May 2018.
• The Farm Water Supply Planning Scheme,
which allows farmers to engage an approved
auditor to develop a farm water plan to
identify ways to improve the sustainability of
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their on‑farm water supplies. As of 1 June 2018 rebates under this scheme
increased from a maximum rebate of $500 to $1000.
• The Pastoral Water Grant Scheme, which provided grants for commercial
pastoralists looking to develop alternative water supplies. This scheme
closed on 30 June 2018.

Community Water Supply Program projects completed in 2017–18
Shire

Rural Water
Planning
grant

Result

$82 500

The shire improved stormwater runoff capture
and storage for use at town facilities in Beacon.

• The Community Water Supply Program, which provides grants for
community water supply improvements to ensure reliable non-potable water
supplies to meet emergency and community needs.

Mt Marshall

• Management of strategic community water supplies across the dryland
agricultural region to ensure these are available for emergency water
requirements.

Dumbleyung

$90 205

The shire improved stormwater capture and
storage for it to be used as an emergency water
supply, as well as for town sporting facilities and
firefighting.

Jerramungup

$46 282

The shire improved storage and treatment of
stormwater to ensure adequate water for town
facilities and emergency supply if required.

$61 904

The shire installed stormwater harvesting
infrastructure on shire buildings to provide a
fit‑for-purpose water source for shire use and for
emergency community water supply.

$100 000

The shire equipped an unused Water
Corporation bore and installed seven kilometres
of piping to supply the town with a non-potable
supply for community facilities, emergency farm
water and firefighting.

The Watering WA program is funded by Royalties for Regions. The Watering WA
Farms program supplemented funding available for farm water rebates and was
closed to new applications from July 2017. The Watering WA Towns program
supplemented funding available for community water supply projects and is now
fully subscribed.

Tambellup

For the 2017–18 financial year, the Rural Water Planning and Watering WA
programs funded:
• Farm Water Rebate Scheme payments of $1.2 million to 170 applicants
• Farm Water Supply Planning Scheme payments of $95 000 to 159 applicants
• Pastoral Water Grants of $87 339 to nine applicants
• Community Water Supply Program payments of $653 936 across 14 projects

Brookton
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An additional nine funded projects will continue into
the 2018–19 financial year, providing an important
supply of water for emergency stock watering,
firefighting and irrigated townscapes and ovals.
The Watering WA Clean Waterways program, which
implements actions on the ground to improve the
health of Avon waterways, will begin in 2018–19.

Protecting drinking water
In 2017–18, the department protected water quality
in proclaimed public drinking water source areas to
provide safe, reliable and good quality drinking water
to consumers.
During 2017–18, we proclaimed or amended the
West Mirrabooka, Perth Coastal and Gwelup, Nilgen
and Paraburdoo sources. We also abolished the
Dumbleyung and Four Mile Creek sources as they
were no longer needed to supply drinking water.
In 2017–18, we completed drinking water source
protection reports on new, or changing water quality
contamination risks and how to address them for
the Capel, Dardanup, Meekatharra, Samson and
Mount Magnet sources, as well as Perth’s artesian
Yarragadee bores. We also supported and endorsed
the Reserve Road (Chittering) and Moore River
South reports that were prepared by third parties.

The department continued to manage and protect
130 public drinking water source areas, which
involves:
•

contributing to strategic state government
projects like Perth and Peel @ 3.5 million,
METRONET and review of state planning
policies

•

working with state and local government, water
service providers and other stakeholders to
implement the drinking water source protection
program

•

responding to development applications,
mining or petroleum proposals, recreation and
transient activities within these areas

•

providing guidelines and advice on bestmanagement practices to protect drinking
water quality.
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Flood risk assessment and
management studies for
Aboriginal communities in
the Kimberley
To support management studies for Aboriginal
communities, the department assessed the flood
risk to four communities in the Kimberley region.

The work was undertaken for the Department of
Planning, Lands and Heritage and builds on a
successful collaboration that has delivered more
than 15 flood risk assessments during the past five
years.
The studies used the observations from past flood
events and the latest modelling techniques to
understand the flood behaviour of the waterways
affecting the communities. A key outcome of
the work is a recommended strategy to guide

community layout planning and infrastructure design
to increase resilience to future flood events. The
work can be used to increase community awareness
and inform flood emergency planning and response,
which will further reduce flood risk to people and
property.
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Swan River flood study
The department provided technical guidance and
support to the Eastern Metropolitan Regional
Council to update the flood risk mapping for
the Swan and Helena rivers. In June 2018, a
consulting firm completed hydraulic modelling
and a floodplain development strategy. The new
information will guide risk management, planning,
and decision‑making for development, as well as
support emergency response planning activities.
The project is supported by the Town of
Bassendean, City of Bayswater, City of Belmont,
City of Swan, City of South Perth and Town of
Victoria Park.

Improved decision
support in flood response:
impact‑based intelligence
In the aftermath of major flooding across WA in
the summer of 2017, it was identified that better
flood intelligence was needed to respond to flood
predictions issued by the Bureau of Meteorology.
The department provided scientific analysis to
help emergency response personnel gain a better
understanding of the flood risk and possible impacts
relating to the bureau’s predictions of flooding.

Western Australian rivers
and estuaries
As the lead agency for water quality management
in the state’s rivers and estuaries, the department
leads and coordinates management actions to
improve water quality based on good science
in rivers and regional estuaries. It also provides
science support to the Department of Biodiversity,
Conservation and Attractions for managing the
Swan-Canning estuary. Systematic river health
assessments are undertaken through the Healthy
Rivers program to inform both water management
and regulatory impact assessments.
More than 80 per cent of Western Australians live in
or around estuaries – they are central to the Western
Australian way of life, supporting businesses,
recreation and tourism. These diverse ecosystems
are under pressure from environmental factors, land
uses, the growing population and reduced river
flows.
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Regional Estuaries Initiative
The Regional Estuaries Initiative is the state
government’s single biggest investment in managing
Western Australia’s regional estuaries, aiming to
transform six key South West estuaries:
• Peel-Harvey estuary
• Leschenault estuary
• Vasse-Wonnerup estuary and Geographe Bay
• Hardy Inlet
• Wilson Inlet
• Oyster Harbour

Regional capacity building
The Regional Estuaries Initiative continues to build
partnerships with industry bodies, government
organisations and regional groups, including the
Department of Primary Industries and Regional
Development, Water Corporation, Western Dairy,
the City of Albany, South Coast NRM, South
West Catchment Council, Peel-Harvey Catchment

Council, Leschenault Catchment Council, GeoCatch,
Lower Blackwood Catchment Land Conservation
District Committee, Wilson Inlet Catchment
Committee and Oyster Harbour Catchment Group.

to demonstrate the benefits of optimised fertiliser
application. Forty-nine farms engaged with the
DairyCare project to implement better practices for
dairy effluent management.

In 2017–18, the Regional Estuaries Initiative held a
range of regional forums and one-on-one programs.
For example, a constructed wetlands workshop was
held with staff from the City of Albany, neighbouring
local governments and departmental staff. A nutrient
summit was held in Mandurah, bringing together 120
farming, land and water management experts, to
focus on how to support productive agriculture while
maintaining healthy estuaries.

Moving water in the landscape

Sustainable agriculture
The sustainable agriculture project is a collaboration
of farmers, industry bodies, the Department of
Primary Industries and Regional Development and
catchment groups to help farmers optimise their
fertiliser and dairy effluent management to reduce
excess nutrients running off into rivers and estuaries.
In 2017–18, the project mapped and tested soil
on 154 farms and established several farm trials

The $1 million Yakamia Creek remediation project
was launched in January 2018. Working with the
City of Albany and South Coast NRM, the project
will rehabilitate the area into a working wetland,
naturally reducing nutrients flowing into Oyster
Harbour.
The sustainable garden projects Bay OK and
Love the Leschenault were held in the Revitalising
Geographe Bay and Leschenault catchments, and
481 households were engaged for changing fertiliser
habits to make their gardens more estuary-friendly.

New technologies for remediation
Seven new soil amendment trials were set up in
paddocks and drains across Regional Estuaries
Initiative and Revitalising Geographe Waterways
catchments using a method to bind phosphorus
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in the soil in a form that plants can use. Soil
amendments are a critical tool for stopping
algae‑fuelling nutrients washing from sandy
catchments into rivers and estuaries.
A large-scale trial of a new phosphorus binding
clay product was run in the Lower Vasse River and
Peel drains, building on smaller trials in 2016–17.
The product reversed algal blooms and trapped
phosphorus in the sediments.

Science for management
Regular monitoring of water quality and algae
(phytoplankton) is vital to understanding what
influences the health of our estuaries. The
department monitors 153 sites across six estuaries
and 61 subcatchments. Data are used to report on
estuary condition – through the dedicated website
and published reports – and to inform catchment
and estuary models. Ultimately the data will be used
to determine management actions to improve water
quality.
In 2017–18 the department completed catchment
models for the Peel-Harvey and Vasse-Wonnerup

systems, showing the relationship between land use
and the flows of nutrients and water. These models
will be used to guide future management actions.
A hydrodynamic model of the Vasse-Wonnerup
estuary was completed to model estuary response
and help evaluate management actions. Estuary
response models of the Wilson and Hardy inlets are
also being developed. For the Peel-Harvey estuary,
an estuary response model is being developed
in collaboration with The University of Western
Australia.
Seagrass is a vital component of estuary
ecosystems and in 2017–18 the Regional Estuaries
Initiative carried out comprehensive monitoring of
seagrass in the Leschenault estuary and Wilson
Inlet.

achieve a healthy ecosystem and good water quality,
and removes the sandbar to enable the exchange of
water between the ocean and the inlet.
For the first time, a drone was used to capture
orthomosaic imagery and digital terrain elevation
information. This was done:
• at the opening of the sandbar in August 2017
• after the opening of the sandbar in November
2017
• at the closing of the sandbar in April 2018.
The information captured by the drone was used
with a hydrodynamic model to analyse changes in
water and sandbar dynamics under different bar
opening and river flow scenarios.

Drones used to capture new information at
Wilson Inlet
The department used drones to capture vital
information on water levels, land and water
movement associated with the opening of the Wilson
Inlet. The department routinely monitors the inlet to
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Peel-Harvey estuary
protection plan

Revitalising Geographe
Waterways

The department is working towards delivering the
government’s election commitment – a Peel‑Harvey
estuary protection plan that will focus on the actions
and behaviours required to improve the estuary’s
water quality and biological functions. In turn,
these improvements will support the natural values,
community and commercial use of the estuary
and the growing populations around it. Many of
the catchment actions will be identified though
development of the next-generation water quality
improvement plan based on whole-of-catchment
water balance and nutrient modelling.

Improving visual amenity, water quality and
significantly reducing nutrients are vital to achieving
long-term water quality improvements in locally
important estuaries such as the Vasse-Wonnerup
wetlands.

The plan’s development will be a highly consultative
process and based on defensible science. The
draft plan for public comment is expected to be
completed during 2018–19.

The four-year $15 million Revitalising Geographe
Waterways program is supported by the state
government to improve the health and management
of Geographe waterways, while increasing
community awareness. The program is overseen by
the multi-agency Vasse Taskforce and chaired by
the Hon. Dr Sally Talbot MLC, member for the South
West region.
During the past year the program’s major focus has
been turning science into action. As a direct result
of modelling investigations, the sandbar of the Toby
Inlet was opened in summer, greatly improving
water quality and increasing fish diversity. Similarly,
knowledge gained from three years of scientific
investigations in the Vasse estuary underpinned the
manipulation of seawater inflows into the estuary
(also during summer), greatly reducing toxic algal
blooms and reducing the risk of fish kills.

The continuation of on-ground works to reduce
nutrients in the catchment was also a major
focus of the program. Delivery partner GeoCatch
worked with more than 50 farmers to optimise
fertiliser use, improve dairy effluent management
and protect waterways through a fencing and
revegetation initiative. A further 200 community
members participated in gardening workshops and
demonstrations. This built on GeoCatch’s previous
work with the community across the catchment, and
has contributed to an overall reduction in nutrients
entering Geographe Bay. These local actions,
combined with innovative soil amendment trials
being rolled out at a landscape scale, are providing
evidence that improvements in water quality can
be made despite increasing urbanisation and
agricultural intensification.
The Revitalising Geographe Waterways program
is a working example of water stewardship with
a collaborative approach across all levels of
government, industry and the community to deliver
catchment-scale water quality outcomes. Extending
collaboration opportunities to the community has
greatly enhanced awareness, improved relationships
and is building confidence in achieving long-term
water quality improvements.
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Estuary science in the
Swan‑Canning
Long-term science programs continued in the
Swan-Canning estuary in partnership with the
Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and
Attractions. This includes weekly monitoring and
reporting of water quality and algal activity in the
estuaries, and fortnightly sampling and reporting
of water quality in the 30 sub-catchments draining
into the estuaries. The department operates the
Phytoplankton Ecology Unit to identify and report on
microalgae that cause algal blooms, and works with
other government agencies to issue health alerts
and respond to algal blooms as required.
The department operates two oxygenation plants
on the Swan River – at Guildford and Caversham –
and two on the Canning River. Major upgrades in
the Canning are complete and the two plants can
now more efficiently deliver oxygen 4.8 kilometres
upstream of Kent Street Weir. Oxygen release from
the plants is triggered by in-river sensors when
oxygen levels are low. The plants have been able
to respond to all low‑oxygen events, such as those
triggered by organic matter washed in by the rain.

Healthy Rivers program
The department assessed the ecological health of
73 river sites in 2017–18, examining the status of
aquatic biodiversity, aquatic habitat, water quality,
fringing vegetation, hydrology and physical form.
These assessments were conducted as part of
the department’s Healthy Rivers program, which
includes monitoring of a network of priority river sites
to inform critical management decisions.
Information from these assessments supports
land use planning, licensing, management of
environmental water releases, water allocation
planning, and advice on impact assessment and
waterways management activities.

Fish kill response
coordination
The department, in partnership with the Department
of Health and Department of Primary Industries
and Regional Development, is responsible for
coordinating the response to fish kills in the state’s
inland waters (including estuaries) outside of the
Swan-Canning system.
In 2017–18, the department responded to
11 reported fish kill events, investigating causes,
communicating the status and risks to the
community, and supporting management.
Information on fish kills is important to improve our
understanding of how land use and climate change
affects the state’s waterways, which in turn helps to
improve management.
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Water regulation,
licensing and industry
governance
The department’s responsible,
proportional regulation ensures
investment, growth and development is
supported by sustainable management of
the state’s water resources. This service
includes management of water licensing
and permits. It also includes management
of the legislation governing the operations
of water service providers.

Western Australia’s water use has almost doubled
in the past three decades and projections show
demand will double again by around 2050.
The mining, agriculture and public water supply
sectors are the biggest consumers, accounting for
more than two-thirds of all licensed water use, with
associated benefits to the state’s employment and
economy.
Water is essential to the future of Western Australia.
The state’s public water supply is delivered by six
primary water service providers including the Water
Corporation, Aqwest and Busselton Water. Water
is also essential for the green parks and recreation
spaces that support the state’s liveability.
Rising demand is increasing competition for water
in many parts of the state. This, coupled with the
challenges presented by climate change impacts
in the south-west, is increasing the number of
fully‑allocated resources and the complexity of water
resource management.

Water Online
enhancements for
licences and permits
The Water Online portal continued to make
water-related transactions easier and faster. The
portal, launched in July 2015, now serves as the
department’s key customer interface, and has
transformed our interactions with customers and
external stakeholders. Since the initial rollout,
the department has received more than 3000
registrations for online services relating to water
licensing and requests for planning advice, and 65
per cent of licence applications are now received
online.
The Water Online experience was enhanced in June
2017: an integrated licence, compliance and water
resource management system was implemented
to support licence assessment and compliance
management. Additional benefits include the ability
for licensees to track the progress of water licence
applications and submit additional information
online.
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In 2017–18, as part of delivering a one-stop shop
for water and environment regulatory services, the
department prepared to expand the current Water
Online services to include online capability for
environmental regulatory services.
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Streamlining water and environmental assessments
F e atu

One-stop shop launched

Early in 2018 we launched our new
one-stop shop single entry point on our
website, as well as an enquiries hotline,
bringing together all environment and
water assessment, approval applications
and enquiries under a single contact
point.

The department received a large number of
applications for native vegetation clearing and
groundwater abstraction in these regions.

The creation of the one-stop shop service is
consistent with the state government’s public
sector reforms, which are designed to improve
customer access to government services online
and reduce response times. The department’s
improvements demonstrate how agencies can
contribute to and support the government’s drive
for digital transformation across the public sector.

The department engaged with proponents early in
the development phase through our water licensing,
vegetation clearing and environmental impact
assessment processes to enable early recognition
of the issues to be addressed, which in turn allowed
the timely assessment of their applications.

Diversifying agriculture in the Kimberley and
Pilbara under a one-stop shop
In line with the one-stop shop framework,
the department established a team of senior
specialists tasked to deliver efficient assessments
of environmental and water approvals relating
to northern irrigated agriculture proposals in the
Pilbara and Kimberley regions.

The Kimberley and Pilbara regions retain high
conservation values. Limited existing information
about these conservation values generally results
in applicants being required to conduct their own
surveys.

The department collaborated with other state
government agencies to improve coordination
and support the scientific and policy work being
undertaken. We partnered with the Department
of Primary Industries and Regional Development
to streamline applications related to irrigated
agriculture by establishing an inter-agency working
group.

We also collaborated with the Department of
Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions to
support scientific and policy work on native flora,
fauna and coastal wetlands in the rangelands,
providing information to support the assessment of
applications.
During the 2017–18 financial year, the department
was able to finalise the assessment of 14 clearing
permit applications and 20 water licences relating
to irrigated agriculture in the Pilbara and Kimberley
regions. A further four clearing applications relating
to the Carlton Plains proposal were referred to the
EPA under Part IV of the Environmental Protection
Act 1986, culminating in the release of the EPA
assessment report for Stage 1 of the Carlton Plains
proposal in March.

Jump to
the webpage!
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Western Australia’s water users by sector
Outcome 1
Service 3

Regulating for the sustainable,
productive use of water

Total licensed volume by sector

Total

3691 GL

Western Australia’s growth and development depends
on secure and sustainable water supplies. The
department licenses self-supply water users to access
water for purposes including mining, agriculture,
horticulture, and irrigation of public parks and recreation
spaces, each of which benefit the state’s economy and
the community.
More than 83 per cent of the state’s licensed water
supports industry and development, while about 17 per
cent is used in homes. Mining and agriculture are the
biggest consumers.

A total of 64 private water entitlement trades between
licensed water users occurred during the year: 41
permanent trades and 23 temporary trades.

Commercial and institutional
356 GL (10%)
Irrigation scheme supply
391 GL (10%)
Parks, gardens and recreation
102 GL (3%)
Other
57 GL (1%)

* Other includes environment and conservation, and stock and domestic sectors.

Groundwater licensed volume by sector

Total

2754 GL

At 30 June 2018, the department administered 13 390
licences and permits across the state, and managed
744 and 415 groundwater and surface water resources
respectively.
In 2017–18, a total of 3691 gigalitres was licensed
for use: 2754 gigalitres from groundwater and 937
gigalitres from surface water resources. Surface water
figures include licensed dam storage volumes that are
not always available for use due to variable rainfall and
inflows.

Agriculture
594 GL (16%)
Industry and power generation
102 GL (3%)
Mining
1 504 GL (41%)
Public water scheme supply
585 GL (16%)

Agriculture
411 GL (15%)
Environment and conservation
27 GL (1%)
Mining
1 485 GL (54%)
Public water scheme supply
264 GL (10%)

Commercial and institutional
354 GL (13%)
Industry and power generation
71 GL (2%)
Parks, gardens and recreation
101 GL (4%)
Other
41 GL (1%)

* Other includes irrigation scheme supply, and stock and domestic sectors.

Surface water licensed volume by sector (allocated volume)

Total

937 GL

Agriculture
182 GL (20%)
Irrigation scheme supply
377 GL (40%)
Public water scheme supply
321 GL (34%)

Industry and power generation
31 GL (3%)
Mining
19 GL (2%)
Other
6 GL (1%)

* Other includes commercial and institutional; environment and conservation; parks, gardens and
recreation; and stock and domestic sectors.
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Cutting red tape
The department issues class exemptions from
licensing under the Water Services Act 2012. These
exemptions reduce regulatory costs and encourage
efficient sewerage services and recycling for
local governments and non-potable water service
providers.

Integrated Water Supply
Scheme
The Water Corporation’s Integrated Water Supply
Scheme supplies public drinking water to Perth,
Mandurah, the Goldfields, agricultural areas and
some South West towns. The water is sourced
from a combination of groundwater, surface water
and desalinated seawater produced from two
desalination plants.
In 2017–18, the department issued groundwater
licences to the Water Corporation authorising the
taking of 141 billion litres per year from the Gnangara
and Jandakot groundwater systems for the scheme,

comprising 123.95 billion litres and 17.05 billion
litres per year respectively. This total also includes
licences authorising the recovery of 14 billion litres
as part of the Water Corporation’s groundwater
replenishment scheme.

Compliance and
enforcement for water
resource management

In 2017–18, as in previous years, the department
and the Water Corporation adjusted the pattern of
the Integrated Water Supply Scheme’s borefield
abstractions using the latest environmental data to
limit impacts on ecologically important sites. The
pumping adjustments are enforced through licence
conditions.

Compliance monitoring and enforcement is
necessary for effective water resource management.
It helps to ensure that the state’s precious water
resources are being used lawfully and sustainably,
and that individual licensees are complying with the
terms, conditions and restrictions of their licences.

During 2017, the department continued to work with
the Water Corporation to determine how to adapt to
the reductions in groundwater abstraction needed
to maintain a sustainable groundwater supply for the
scheme. Given the scheme’s customers draw on
Gnangara system groundwater more than any other
user group, this ongoing work is an important part of
the next Gnangara groundwater allocation plan.

In 2017–18, the on-ground compliance monitoring
effort targeted at-risk management areas across
Western Australia, with an increased emphasis on
off-site monitoring activities where the risk to water
resources, the environment and other water users
was considered to be low.
Investigative and enforcement activities were
prioritised based on the risk posed to water
resources and other water users, scale, culpability
and public interest, and focused on alleged offences
that were most likely to significantly impact the
resource or undermine public confidence in effective
water resource management. Examples include the
unauthorised taking of water, exceeding a licensed
water entitlement or interfering with a water meter.
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Improved metering regulations
Following the release of the department’s Measuring the taking of water policy in
2016, the requirement for licensees to meter their water use and to report meter
readings has been enacted in legislation.

Outcome 1
Service 3

Response to non-compliance
Category

Water licence compliance checks

2015–16

2016–17

2017–18

2569

1726

2450

Incidents of suspected non-compliance
identified

653

452

1335

Incidents of suspected non-compliance
resolved

563

652

878

Education letters

197

51

109

18

5

0

135

126

128

Infringement notices

44

59

54

Direction notices

27

20

14

2

2

0

Licence amendments
Warning notices

Prosecutions

The amendment to the Rights in Water and Irrigation Regulations 2000 in
February 2018 requires certain licensees to install meters and provide the details
to the department within 30 days of the installation. Licensees must then maintain
meter accuracy, record monthly meter readings and submit the data annually.
The regulations do not apply where it is considered to be impractical to measure
water take using a meter. For example, alternative measurement methods may be
more effective for some on-stream dams. In very limited circumstances, a licensee
may be exempt from all forms of measurement. The department will administer
the exemptions on behalf of the Minister for Water.
Reflecting the staged implementation under the policy, the regulations come
into effect for different licensees at different times, starting on 31 March 2018
for licences with large annual water entitlements of 500 000 kilolitres or more.
The regulations will apply to licensees in the high-risk Gnangara groundwater
allocation plan area earlier than licences outside the area with the same
entitlement. All licences with entitlements of 10 000 kilolitres or more will be
required to be metered in accordance with the regulations by the end of 2020.
Until now, metering requirements have been imposed on licensees using individual
licence conditions. The complexity of measuring and enforcing water entitlements
has meant that licences could contain more than 10 individual conditions
relating to metering. Replacing these conditions with regulations allows for more
consistency across all licences and streamlines the department’s licensing
operations. Without the regulations, full implementation of the measurement
policy would have required amendments to thousands of individual licences.
The regulations will override any pre-existing metering conditions on licences.
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2
Emissions, discharges
and clearing of native
vegetation are effectively
regulated to avoid
unacceptable risks to public
health and the environment
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Environmental
regulation
The department seeks to prevent,
control and abate activities that have
the potential to cause pollution or
environmental harm. It has adopted a
risk-based approach to delivering its
regulatory role, which broadly fits into
three main functions:
• approvals and licensing
• monitoring, audit and compliance inspections
• enforcement, including complaint and incident
investigation.

Licensing and approvals
The department assesses, determines and/or
advises on environmental licences and approvals in
the areas of:
• industry regulation
• contaminated sites regulation
• native vegetation clearing regulation
• noise regulation.
Core regulatory instruments include works
approvals, licences, classifications and native
vegetation clearing permits. These are assessed and
determined in accordance with statutory and target
timeframes. Performance against timeframes is
reported quarterly on the department’s website.

Compliance and
enforcement
The department investigated environmental
complaints and incidents, while also undertaking a
wide range of proactive compliance programs and
initiatives to ensure emissions and discharges met
acceptable criteria.
The department’s environmental compliance and
enforcement activities foster a balance of proactive
engagement and the application of sanctions,
as appropriate, to ensure the risks associated
with environmental breaches are addressed and
instruments contain robust regulatory controls.
Compliance and enforcement outcomes range from
licence amendment, suspension or revocation,
statutory notices, and orders to modified penalty
fines and prosecution.
Our compliance and enforcement activities
and outcomes are reported quarterly on the
department’s website.
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Environmental regulation
Improved cost recovery model for
environmental regulation services
In May 2018, the state government introduced an
improved cost recovery model for environmental
regulation that better reflects the true cost to
industry. This initiative is part of the government’s
response to the increasing demand for
environmental assessments and approvals
associated with economic growth. The cost
recovery model will help to address the downturn
in performance in recent years, which resulted from
staffing reductions and a lack of approvals process
reforms.
This additional revenue will be used to employ more
staff in environmental regulation and compliance
functions, as well as create a streamlined online
application process to reduce red tape and improve
the timeliness of decision-making for environmental
approvals. There will be a staged introduction of
the cost recovery model, starting on 1 July 2018 for
industry regulation, followed by clearing regulation
later in 2019, following consultation.

Clearing regulation
During 2017–18, the department received
409 clearing permit applications, granted
303 applications and refused 13 applications. Of
these, 61 were applications to amend an existing
clearing permit. The average time for determining
these applications (excluding stop clocks) was
75 days. Forty-three per cent of clearing permit
applications were determined within the 60-day
target timeframe. Clearing permit applications are
also assessed and determined under delegation by
the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and
Safety (DMIRS). The above performance figures
do not include permit applications processed by
DMIRS.
The department also:
• continued to engage with key stakeholders,
such as the Western Australian Local
Government Association (WALGA) and
Main Roads Western Australia, to identify
opportunities – through the clearing permit
process – to balance the retention of native
vegetation and road safety.
• eliminated a backlog of more than 80 offset
obligations related to conditions on clearing
permits and Ministerial Statements, which had
not previously been published in the online
Environmental Offsets Register.

• expended more than $3 million from the
Environmental Offsets Fund, contributing to
the acquisition of three properties as offsets to
approved clearing.

Industry regulation
During 2017–18, the department received
170 applications for new works approvals and
licences, granted 137 applications and refused no
applications. The average time for determining these
applications (excluding stop clocks) was 72 days.
More than 54 per cent of new works approvals and
licence applications were determined within the
60‑day target timeframe.
The department also received 323 applications to
amend works approvals and licences, and granted
278 amendments, during the 2017–18 year. The
average time for determining these amendment
applications (excluding stop clocks) was 62 days.
More than 65 per cent of amendment applications
were determined within the 60-day target timeframe.
During 2017–18, the department also completed
12 reviews of existing licences consistent with
its Guidance statement: licence duration. These
reviews ensure that the licences remain effective for
controlling risks to the environment and public health
at the licensed premises.
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The department is committed to providing clear,
publicly available, reliable and relevant information
on regulatory processes and requirements. In this
regard, we relaunched the Industry regulation guide
to licensing, publishing the first in a series of fact
sheets for the prescribed premises category.
The department also started working with port
authorities around the state to develop guidance
and operational requirements to facilitate sea
trade in natural resources and new commodities.
The guidance will allow for trials to occur while
maintaining valid and effective licences for
prescribed premises that protect the environment
and public health.

Air quality services
During 2017–18, the department continued the
maintenance and operation of a network of fixed air
quality monitoring stations. The network consists
of seven metropolitan sites and an expanded
network of six regional sites, with a new station
commissioned at Kalgoorlie in December 2017.
The monitoring network measures the
concentrations of National Environment Protection
(Ambient Air Quality) Measure (Air NEPM) criteria
pollutants, including carbon monoxide, nitrogen
dioxide, ozone, sulfur dioxide and particles. All the
department’s air quality monitoring sites operating
for the full 2017–18 year achieved greater than

90 per cent data recovery. We also continued the
progressive upgrade of criteria pollutant monitoring
equipment at the monitoring stations.
The department also undertook:
• In collaboration with the Shire of East Pilbara,
installation of a total suspended particulate
high-volume sampler at Newman in June 2018.
This was to prepare for a 12-month study on
lead and asbestos levels in the town. Shire
officers assisting with this project are being
trained by department staff to perform on-site
sample filter exchanges.
• Installation of two total suspended particulate
high-volume samplers at Collie in April 2018.
These are for a 12-month preliminary study to
assess total suspended particles and heavy
metals including chromium concentrations.
• Preparation of specialist technical advice in
response to about 120 separate requests. More
than 95 per cent of this advice was delivered
within specified timeframes. Technical advice
is provided in the form of memoranda, expert
reports, policy guidance, air quality data and
correspondence.
• Continued participation in the Collie airshed
study, funded by industry. This study is
seeking to develop a consistent, rigorous
assessment and air quality management
regime for the Collie basin. During 2017–18,
the department was again successful in a

competitive grants program for access to
the Pawsey Supercomputer Centre, and is
running additional scenarios for advanced
three-dimensional weather models to simulate
meteorology for the region. Associated data
analytics to assess model performance against
real-world monitoring are being developed.
• Publishing for public consultation our draft
odour guideline for prescribed premises.
Community concern about odour is a leading
cause of complaints about air quality made
to the department. The department is one
of the leading agencies in Australia for the
assessment and management of odour,
and has specialist staff who are recognised
nationally and internationally for their expertise.
The guideline sets out information requirements
for the analysis of odour impact risk for
prescribed premises.
• A redetermination of maximum permissible
quantities of sulfur dioxide emissions for
industry in the Kwinana industrial area in
accordance with the Environmental Protection
(Kwinana) (Atmospheric Wastes) Policy
1992. The need for the redetermination has
arisen due to planned changes in emission
profiles for existing industry, as well as new
industrial facilities coming into the area.
The redetermination involves emission
data assessment and air quality dispersion
modelling using advanced statistical methods.
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F e atu

A new LiDAR (Light
Detecting and Ranging)
study at Mandogalup.

A 12-month field trial of a
vehicle-mounted Remote Air
Pollution Infrared Detector
(RAPID) completed in
October 2017.

The previous Point Samson and Port
Hedland LiDAR studies were published on
the department’s website and demonstrated
the valuable contribution of the technology
in determining dust sources and pathways.
The LiDAR technology completes a circular
scan every few minutes, over a distance of
up to six kilometres, and generates a map of
particles in the air at the time.

This technology was subsequently deployed
throughout the metropolitan region in several
investigations of emissions. The RAPID is
able to detect 87 air toxics, through the use
of an infrared detector that can automatically
monitor and identify industrial chemicals
– from a distance of up to five kilometres
away – providing reliable identification of
gas plumes. The technology has proved
invaluable in detecting emissions from
industrial facilities from a distance in real-time,
allowing department staff to immediately
investigate the issue and sources of pollution.
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Contaminated sites
There were 188 known or suspected contaminated sites reported to the
department under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 between 1 July 2017 and
30 June 2018, and 452 sites were classified during the period. Each site typically
is classified more than once to reflect new information. By 30 June 2018, a total
3784 sites had been classified under the Act.
In addition, the department reviewed more than 170 acid sulfate soil reports and
responded to approximately 620 requests for technical advice.
Classification of contaminated sites

389
369

Not contaminated –
unrestricted use

546

–
288 Contaminated
remediation required

Report not
substantiated

Decontaminated

Total

3784

Sites classified as at
30 June 2018

138

Contaminated –
restricted use

608

Remediated for
restricted use

1446 Possibly
contaminated –
investigation
required

In late 2017 the department coordinated preparation of the WA Government
Statement on Per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), setting out how
government agencies are working collectively to respond to this emerging
contamination challenge. The department also contributed technical expertise
to the development of the first PFAS national environmental management plan,
which was endorsed by Australia’s Environment Ministers in February 2018. The
plan provides a consistent, practical, risk-based framework for the environmental
regulation of PFAS-contaminated materials and sites. The department continues
to contribute to the second version of the plan, expected to be released in early
2019.
In April 2018 the department released an updated draft guideline on the use of
monitored natural attenuation (MNA) for groundwater clean-up for eight weeks’
public comment. The department expects to publish the final guideline in 2018–19.
Number of sites reported and classified
Form 1 reports

Sites classified

2015–16

136

390

2016–17

371

448

2017–18

188

452
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Environmental noise
The department provides specialist environmental
noise advice to several key stakeholders including
the Minister, the Environmental Protection Authority,
local and state government agencies, and the
community. Environmental noise expertise also
supports the department’s policy, regulatory,
compliance and enforcement functions.
In its role of supporting Western Australian local
governments to administer the Environmental
Protection (Noise) Regulations 1997, the department
reviewed 56 acoustic reports, and responded to
28 requests for assistance with noise data analysis
and 19 requests for general environmental noise
support.
Specialist environment noise advice was provided
on 23 occasions that related to matters under
Environmental Protection Authority consideration,
and in response to 24 requests from other Western
Australian government agencies.
In total, the department responded to 264 requests
for specialist noise advice.
Further support is provided to local government in
the form of noise regulation training, with 24 local
government officers being trained since July 2017.

Environmental compliance
and enforcement
Compliance
The department undertakes its environmental
compliance activities through a structured annual
program.
The 2017–18 compliance priorities and targets
program outlined the framework for our compliance
activities during the year. The 139 planned proactive
prescribed premises inspections undertaken were
lower than the 200 planned due to compliance
inspection resources being moved to areas of
greater risk to the environment and public health. An
additional 59 reactive inspections were undertaken
across both prescribed premises and for waste levy
compliance. The high-risk matters were addressed
using the legislative powers of the Environmental
Protection Act 1986, in particular environmental
protection notices, closure notices and vegetation
conservation notices.
In 2017–18, the amount of statutory notices issued
significantly increased – demonstrating that the

structured compliance program is identifying and
addressing significant environmental issues for the
benefit of the environment and the community.
Environmental protection notices were issued to a
range of industries including liquid waste facilities,
intensive agricultural activities, and the construction
and demolition industry. These notices require
actions to be taken within specified timeframes
and have resulted in improved environmental and
amenity outcomes. All notices are publicly available
on the department’s website.
The department continues to monitor significant
proposals authorised under Ministerial Statements
and has completed targeted audits of high-risk
proposals, including iron ore mining activities, oil and
gas facilities, and large infrastructure projects.

Enforcement
During the 2017–18 financial year, the department
received and assessed more than 1900 reports of
alleged breaches of environmental legislation.
During the period 48 formal warning letters and
18 infringements were issued.
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In addition, eight vegetation conservation notices
were issued, requiring the re-vegetation of areas that
were assessed to have had native vegetation cleared
without appropriate approvals or exemptions.
Two prosecutions were also initiated for the
unauthorised clearing of approximately 44 hectares
of native vegetation on properties located in
Walebing and Waddington north of Perth.
A $50 000 modified penalty notice was issued to a
mining company for hypersaline water released into
the environment that caused material environmental
harm.
Three convictions were recorded during 2017–18:
• A Mirrabooka drycleaner was fined $22 500
after being convicted in Perth Magistrates
Court for failing to investigate contamination
under the drycleaning business.
• A commercial gardener from Hocking was fined
$22 000 after being convicted in Joondalup
Magistrates Court for illegally clearing
approximately 7500 square metres of native
vegetation at a property in Carabooda.

• A Balcatta company was fined $40 000 after
being convicted in Perth Magistrates Court for
illegally clearing approximately 38 hectares of
native vegetation in the Shire of Ashburton.

Waste operations
On 28 February 2018, the department’s waste levy
compliance and controlled waste tracking functions
were added to the illegal dumping program to create
a dedicated waste operations function.
Through targeted compliance and enforcement
activities, the department investigates illegal
dumping and littering complaints. The function
also seeks to maximise waste avoidance, resource
recovery and the diversion of waste from landfill, and
regulates the safe transport of controlled waste on
the state road network.
Waste operation highlights in 2017–18 included:
• department representatives becoming part
of the WALGA’s newly formed Reduce Illegal
Dumping Working Group
• a compliance program targeting quarterly levy
returns and Waste Avoidance and Resource
Recovery (WARR) Levy Regulation 5(1)
exemptions for landfill premises

• amending of the approved manner document
for estimating the volume or weight of waste
received at and disposed of to landfills
• fixing shortfalls in levy return/exemption
calculations, resulting in increased or additional
levy return payments
• targeting record keeping requirements for nonmetropolitan landfills
• increasing the number of investigations
undertaken of potentially unauthorised/
unlicensed waste sites resulting from
complaints or intelligence obtained from other
sources
• improving engagement with local
government agencies regarding potential waste
storage/burial sites
• continuing to manage Environmental Protection
Notice (EPN) CEO2953/17 relating to lead
contamination at the Cityscore Pty Ltd,
Maddington site.
• supporting the waste taskforce, established to
provide advice to the Minister for Environment
on developing a sustainable and productive
recycling sector in Western Australia.
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Illegal dumping and litter

Waste levy compliance

Controlled waste tracking

The department is responsible for investigating and
prosecuting illegal dumping under the Environmental
Protection Act 1986. Upon conviction, this offence
carries a maximum fine of $125 000 for corporations
and $62 500 for individuals.

Under the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery
Levy Act 2007, Perth metropolitan landfill operators,
and non-metropolitan landfill operators receiving
metropolitan waste, are required to report and
pay a quarterly waste levy on the amount of waste
received for burial. The department monitors and
enforces compliance with these requirements and
those set out under the Waste Avoidance and
Resource Recovery Levy Regulations 2008.

The department is responsible for administering
the Environmental Protection (Controlled Waste)
Regulations 2004. The regulations require a person
or business that transports controlled waste as
part of a commercial activity to be licensed as
a controlled waste carrier. The purpose of the
regulations is to enable the safe and authorised
transportation of controlled waste on the state’s
public roads.

In 2017–18, the department carried out 129 planned
inspections targeting waste levy compliance in
addition to reactive inspections undertaken as
part of the Annual Compliance Program (see
Compliance). This included waste levy compliance
inspections, audits of levy return forms and
compliance monitoring inspections of associated
industries.

During 2017–18, 2348 controlled waste licences
were issued, with approximately 700 package driver
and 500 package vehicle profiles being added to
the department’s controlled waste tracking system.
A total volume of 1 413 465 tonnes of controlled
waste was tracked during 2017–18, compared
with 1 214 772 tonnes in 2016–17 – an increase of
16 per cent.

In 2017–18, 13 prosecutions involving 32 charges
were instigated for illegal dumping of waste. Also
during 2017–18, nine illegal dumping prosecutions
were finalised with convictions before the courts.
Department staff also investigate litter complaints
under the Litter Act 1979 and, where there is
evidence to substantiate the complaint, issue
infringement notices. During 2017–18, 76 litter
infringement notices were issued, eight contested
litter infringements were referred to the courts for
prosecution, and four contested litter infringements
resulted in convictions.
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Pollution response
The department’s pollution response function
operates around-the-clock for pollution incidents
and emergencies across Western Australia. Our
staff triage incoming incidents and emergency
notifications through the Pollution Watch telephone
or email system, as well as through direct contact
from emergency services. Our team responds
immediately to minimise risks to the environment
and public health. We dealt with 3571 reports to the
Pollution Watch service in 2017–18.
The pollution response team also attends hazardous
materials emergencies to provide support to the
emergency services.
The objectives of incident and emergency response
are to protect public health and the environment,
ensure that appropriate actions are taken to prevent
further pollution occurring, arrange clean-up, and
secure evidence for any future investigation. The
team responded to 415 incidents last year, which
included fuel and chemical spills, tanker rollovers,
industrial fires and the dumping of chemicals in
environmentally sensitive areas.

Regulatory Services
Stakeholder Reference
Group
As part of department’s commitment to a
consultative and cooperative approach including
engaging early and frequently with its stakeholders,
we established the Regulatory Services Stakeholder
Reference Group. The reference group will
foster an effective consultation approach and a
collaborative effort to address issues and further
form constructive working relationships with key
stakeholders. The group will also provide high
level strategic advice on policies, guidelines,
procedures, strategies and processes that frame
the department’s regulatory functions for water and
environmental regulation.
The group’s inaugural meeting was held on 15 June
2018 and will continue to meet regularly into the
future. The core membership of the reference group
are from the conservation, resources, industry, and
government sectors.
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Programs
Light Industry Program
The Light Industry
Program aims to reduce
contaminants from light
industrial activities entering
the Swan and Canning
rivers through stormwater
drainage systems. The
program educates both
proprietors and the
wider community about
how they can play their
part in reducing their
environmental impact.
Since the program’s inception, 1033 joint audits
have been conducted across 597 individual light
industrial premises. Between 1 July 2017 and 30
June 2018, 223 joint audits were conducted across
118 individual light industrial premises.
Approximately 74 per cent of premises audited
did not comply with environmental laws when first
inspected. As of July 2018, this non-compliance rate
has dropped significantly – to around 15 per cent.

►► Light Industry Program awards 2017–18

National Pollutant Inventory

The Light Industry Program was successful in
receiving a number of awards in 2017–18. These
included:

The department coordinated the provision of data to
the National Pollutant Inventory, a publicly accessible
national internet database <www.npi.gov.au> that
provides the community, industry and government
with information on the emissions of 93 substances
from industry, transport and commercial premises to
air, land and water.

• Winner, Building the Regulatory Craft,
National Australasian Environmental Law
Enforcement and Regulators neTwork
(AELERT) Achievement Awards
• Winner, Excellence in Policy and Education,
Stormwater WA Awards for Excellence
• Special Commendation, Best Practice in
Collaboration Across Government Agencies,
Institute of Public Administration Australia WA
Achievement Awards

The department worked with industry to collect,
validate and publicly report available emissions and
transfer data from 813 industrial facilities in Western
Australia.
The department conducted 10 audits on
companies submitting National Pollutant Inventory
reports. Facilities audited included gold mines,
quarries, power stations, oil refineries and fertiliser
manufacturers. Audits enable onsite assessment of
emission values reported to the National Pollutant
Inventory and assist in developing an understanding
of facility operations and possible issues associated
with reporting.
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Household Hazardous Waste program

Container deposit scheme

The Household Hazardous Waste program provides
local governments with Waste Avoidance and
Resource Recovery Account funding to help with the
collection, storage and recovery, as well as disposal,
of hazardous waste generated by households. The
program is delivered by local governments with
policy and project management support provided by
the department.

The department is developing the Western Australian
container deposit scheme, which is expected to
start in 2020. Under the scheme, consumers will
be able to receive a 10 cent refund on all eligible
beverage containers including; soft drink, juice, beer,
and cider in plastic and glass bottles, paper-board
cartons, and steel and aluminium cans between 150
millilitres and three litres.

Since the program’s inception, thousands of tonnes
of hazardous materials have been collected from
13 permanent facilities throughout the state, and
through temporary collection events. In 2017–18,
about 550 tonnes of materials including acids,
batteries, flammable liquids, paint and cleaning
products were collected for safe recovery or
disposal.

The scheme will reduce litter, increase recycling and
protect the environment. It will complement the Litter
prevention strategy for Western Australia 2015–20
and the Western Australian waste strategy: creating
the right environment. A cost-benefit analysis
concluded that the scheme would return $1.37 for
every dollar spent.

Following a review process, a new five-year program
for 2018 to 2023 was approved by the Minister for
Environment in February 2018. The new program
has a budget of $9 million and provides local
governments with funding support for the collection
of household hazardous waste.

In August 2017, the department published the
Western Australian container deposit scheme
discussion paper. A total of 160 written submissions
were received during the eight-week public
consultation period and 3256 people completed an
online survey. More than 97 per cent of respondents
supported the scheme.

The department continues to engage with a range
of stakeholders, including through an advisory
group comprising of beverage manufacturers,
retailers, waste, recycling and logistics service
providers; environmental and community groups;
social enterprises; and a government interagency
working group. Technical working groups have
been established to inform technical design and
the department is visiting key sites to inform our
understanding of industry concerns.
Modelling of refund point locations, consumer
preferences, infrastructure requirements and
opportunities for social enterprise participation
are being investigated to ensure the scheme is
successfully implemented throughout Western
Australia.
Amendments to the Waste Avoidance and Resource
Recovery Act 2007 and new regulations to
implement the scheme are being developed.
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Working with the community to
create a plastic bag free WA
Countdown to the plastic bag ban

On 12 September 2017, the state
government announced its intention to
implement a lightweight plastic bag ban.
The government took this action in
response to growing national and
international evidence of the negative
environmental impacts of lightweight
plastic bags. A ban was considered
the most effective option to reduce the
number of plastic bags entering our
environment.
Community support for the ban has been very
strong. A community survey, commissioned by the
department in November 2017, found that 95 per
cent of respondents were concerned about the
impacts of plastics on our waterways, oceans,
wildlife and landfill sites, and 84 per cent supported
a ban on lightweight plastic bags.
The department, in partnership with the Boomerang
Alliance, engaged the community and key
stakeholders in discussions about how to reduce
the use of lightweight plastic bags and their impacts
on the environment from November 2017 to March
2018.

A total of 4441 responses were received during
the comment period, with more than 94 per cent
support for a ban on lightweight plastic bags.
Feedback from the consultation process resulted in
the gazettal of the Environmental Protection (Plastic
Bags) Regulations 2018 on 12 June 2018.
The consultation and work of the Boomerang
Alliance also guided the ‘What’s your bag plan?’
community education campaign, which was
launched in June 2018 and was run in the lead-up to
the ban. This was supported by the
<www.whatsyourbagplan.wa.gov.au> website, with
resources for the community and retailers.
The department partnered with the National Retail
Association (NRA) to help retailers understand and
comply with the ban and find alternatives for their
customers. The NRA’s retailer-focused education
campaign includes retail precinct tours and a
dedicated website, <www.bagbanwa.com.au>.
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Development and
implementation of
strategic policy and
legislation that promoted
sustainable environmental
outcomes
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Environmental policy

Environmental Protection Amendment
Regulations 2018

The department develops and implements strategic policy
and legislation that promote environmentally sustainable
outcomes.

In April 2018, these regulations were amended to ensure sites that accept
and have only ever accepted clean fill and uncontaminated fill – which meet
environmental and health thresholds after testing – are not licensed as landfill
premises or liable for the waste levy.

In 2017–18, the department:

The use of clean fill and uncontaminated fill in these circumstances promotes
recycling, and increases diversion from landfill, providing certainty for development
and reducing costs.

•

Participated in the implementation of the National Clean Air Agreement,
which began on 11 January 2018. This included reviewing national
reporting standards for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide and ozone,
and finalising the introduction of product emissions standards for
new outdoor power equipment and marine engines, non-road ignition
engines and equipment.

The department consulted with experts, industry and the community to make
amendments to the Environmental Protection Amendment Regulations 2018 and
the Landfill Waste Classification and Waste Definitions 1996.

•

Provided climate change advice to state government agencies, local
government and other stakeholders on climate change risk and
vulnerability assessments and adaptation planning.

The Landfill Waste Classification and Waste Definitions 1996 contain an amended
definition of clean fill and a new definition for uncontaminated fill (including
threshold limits for physical and chemical contaminants).

•

Began a review of the Environmental Protection (Controlled Waste)
Regulations 2004 to streamline processes for the regulation of
the transportation of controlled wastes. This review complements
amendments made in 2014 to provide greater clarity for industry.

The amendments were required following the decision of Justice Beech in
Eclipse Resources Pty Ltd v The State of Western Australia [No 4] (2016) WASC
62 on 9 March 2016, which clarified the application of the waste levy and the
definition of waste. It had unintended consequences, particularly for the use
of fill in development, including waste levy liability under the Waste Avoidance
and Resource Recovery Levy Act 2007 and licensing under the Environmental
Protection Act 1986.
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Protecting cultural and spiritual
values to Aboriginal people
Ancient rock art on the Burrup Peninsula (Murujuga)

The Burrup Peninsula and
surrounding Dampier Archipelago
contain the largest concentration
of engraved rock art (petroglyphs)
in the world, with up to one million
petroglyphs in the area.
The rock art is exceptionally diverse, comprising
images of birds, marine life and land animals,
human figures, figures with mixed human and
animal characteristics, and geometric designs.
The rock art is of immense cultural and spiritual
significance to Aboriginal people and is of
national and international heritage value.
In response to stakeholder and public concerns
that industrial emissions are affecting the rock
art, a range of scientific studies have been
conducted during the past 15 years. The
conclusions of some of these studies have
been contested; as a result, the department
commissioned independent reviews which
identified a range of improvements for providing
more robust, reliable results about emissions
and their impacts on the rock art.

The department is developing the Burrup Rock
Art Monitoring Strategy in partnership with the
Murujuga Aboriginal Corporation. The strategy
will provide a long-term framework to guide
the protection of the rock art and improve its
governance. The strategy builds on the previous
studies and establishes a scientifically rigorous,
world’s best-practice monitoring program and
a risk-based approach to the management of
impacts to the rock art that is consistent with
the government’s responsibilities under the
Environmental Protection Act 1986.
A stakeholder reference group will be
established to help finalise and implement
the strategy. The reference group includes
representatives from the Murujuga Aboriginal
Corporation; the Western Australian Museum;
research organisations with expertise in rock
art; local, state and Australian government
departments; industry; and the community.

Jump to
the webpage!
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National chemical
standards
The department continues to work with the
Australian Government and state and territory
jurisdictions on important national chemical
reform projects to protect public health and the
environment.
The department is participating in developing
the National Standard for Environmental Risk
Management of Industrial Chemicals. This standard
will streamline regulation of industrial chemicals,
enabling a more consistent, efficient and effective
approach to environmental risk management of
industrial chemicals across all jurisdictions. The
standard will be established in Commonwealth
legislation and be implemented in Western Australia.
The department is also consulting with the
Australian Government as it considers ratifying
the Minamata Convention on Mercury. If ratified,
the convention will require the implementation of
measures across Australia to protect public health
and the environment from anthropogenic emissions
and releases of mercury and its compounds.

The department is also assisting the Australian
Government with its obligations under the
Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic
Pollutants, and provided input as part of the
public consultation process on the ratification
of the Stockholm Convention amendment on
perfluorooctane sulfonate-related chemicals (PFOS).

Certification of
environmental practitioners
The department has been leading work for the
Heads of Environmental Protection Agencies in
Australia and New Zealand to improve assurance
in the quality and reliability of reports prepared by
environmental consultants.
The department researched standards and
personnel certification schemes across Australia
and internationally to understand best practice for
schemes that certify environmental practitioners.

principles to guide the certification of environmental
practitioners in Australia and New Zealand.
The principles cover the requirements for a
practitioner to be certified, re-certification associated
with continued professional development, ethical
and professional conduct, and general conformity to
the Australian and New Zealand standard for bodies
operating certification of persons.
These principles have been endorsed by the Heads
of Environmental Protection Agencies and are
now being adopted by environmental practitioner
certification organisations across the country. The
principles are publicly available, and can also be
found on the department’s website:
<www.der.wa.gov.au/our-work/national-policy>.
It is anticipated that the adoption of these principles
will improve the level of confidence of the public
and government in the quality of work and reports
produced by certified environmental practitioners in
both countries.

As a result of this work, the department, in
collaboration with the Heads of Environmental
Protection Agencies Certification of Environmental
Practitioners Working Group, developed a set of
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Waste avoided and the
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Waste strategies

Waste reform projects

Waste Strategy

The department provides support for
waste avoidance and to maximise the
recovery of materials from landfill.

The department continued to progress its legislative
and regulatory reform agenda during 2017–18.

The Western Australian Waste Strategy outlines
the state’s objectives and targets for waste and
recycling.

The Minister for Environment is responsible for
ensuring the Waste Authority is provided with
services to fulfil its functions. The department’s
staff provided services including those for programs
and projects outlined in the annual business plan in
2017–18.

The department also sought feedback on proposed
reforms to address indefinite stockpiling of waste
and associated financial and environmental risks and
stimulate the recycling industry in Western Australia.
The reforms are also intended to strengthen the
relationship between the waste framework and the
environmental protection regime and improve the
quality and reliability of data on waste.

During 2017–18, the department supported the
Waste Authority’s review of the current waste
strategy, which is to make Western Australia a
sustainable low-waste society in which public health
and the environment are valued and protected. Key
themes of the review included:
• the introduction of circular economy principles

The department is also progressing legislative and
regulatory amendments to allow for the reuse of
waste-derived materials which meet environmental
and health standards.

• new objectives to minimise environmental
impact, reduce waste generation and increase
recovery

The department will continue to work closely with
stakeholders on its legislative and regulatory reform
agenda.

• clear priorities that relate to the objectives and
targets

• revised targets

• an increased focus on collaboration and shared
responsibility.
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Better Bins

A consultation process was conducted between
October 2017 and March 2018. Ten workshops
were held across the state, attended by nearly
400 people. Ninety-seven written submissions were
received, as well as 419 responses to an online
survey.
Western Australia’s new waste strategy, expected
to be released in late 2018, will set a new direction
to improve the state’s waste and recycling
performance, protect the environment and deliver
economic benefits.

The $20 million Better Bins Kerbside Collection
Program (Better Bins) is a flagship Waste Authority
initiative that has continued to improve local
government kerbside waste systems in 2017–18.
The program supports the state government’s 2020
municipal solid waste recovery targets by funding
local governments to use better waste bin collection
systems with consistent
Australian standard lid
colours.
The department
administers the program
on behalf of the Waste
Authority. The program
has been promoted to all
local governments and a
review of performance data
provided by participating
local governments has
been overseen.

During 2017–18, six additional local governments
signed up to the program and entered into funding
agreements. On 28 June 2018, the Minister for
Environment announced the funding agreements
for the City of Joondalup and the Town of Mosman
Park. The cities of Melville and Subiaco, the Town
of East Fremantle and the Shire of Gingin also
received funding during the year. As a result, some
114 000 extra homes will gain improved kerbside
collection services.
To date, local governments have been awarded
more than $9.3 million to provide Better Bins
kerbside collection services to more than
363 729 households, through a combination of twoand three-bin systems.

Year

2017–18

Number of local
governments
receiving Better Bins
funding

6

Number of
households

114 209
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Environmental impact assessment of development
proposals
Department staff dealt with 45 development proposals that were referred to the EPA for environmental impact
assessment in 2017–18. Of these, the EPA determined that 31 proposals required formal assessment. A further
six proposals did not require assessment, but specific advice was provided to proponents.

Service 7

Environmental impact
assessment services to
the EPA
The Environmental Protection Authority
(EPA) is an independent board that
provides advice to the Minister for
Environment (The Minister). The
department provided services to the
EPA to conduct environmental impact
assessment of significant development
proposals, strategic proposals and
planning schemes.

The number of development proposals referred during 2017–18 was higher than the previous two years. The
number of proposals referred requiring formal assessment in 2017–18 was the highest since 2010–11. Our staff
will support the EPA as it considers this increase in proposals requiring assessment.
The EPA also received the referral of two proposals for METRONET during 2017–18
(Yanchep Rail Extension Part 1 – Butler to Eglinton, and Cockburn-Thornlie).
Referral of development proposals and decision on referrals*

Total referrals received
Managed under Part V

80

Not assessed Public advice given

70

No advice given

60

Assessment on Proponent
Information: Category A (API A)**
Assessment on Proponent
Information: Category B (API B)**
Public Environmental Review
(PER)***

50

Assessed

40
30

Derived proposal

20

Referral information

10
0

Assessed
2013–14

2014–15

2015–16

2016–17

2017–18

Environmental review:
No public review
Environmental review:
Public review***

* During the year some referrals may have been withdrawn, deemed invalid or been a replicate of a third party referral for the same proposal.
** Level of assessment is no longer used.
*** The former Public Environmental Review is equivalent to Environmental review: Public review.
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Environmental impact assessment of
schemes and scheme amendments

Referral of schemes and not assessed decision on referrals
300
250

Department staff dealt with 203 schemes and amendments to schemes referred
to the EPA for environmental impact assessment during 2017–18. This was a
decrease of 16 per cent from the previous year, most likely due to administrative
improvements in the planning system. Notably there were fewer amendments
to local government planning schemes (174 compared with 215 in the previous
year) and an increase in the referral of complete new local planning schemes
(10 compared with three in the previous year).

200
150
100
50
0
2013–14

2014–15

Total received

2015–16

Not assessed Advice given

2016–17

2017–18

Not assessed No advice given

The EPA made 194 determinations on schemes and amendments to schemes
during 2017–18. This was also a 16 per cent reduction on the previous year,
predominantly for the ‘not assessed’ category (162 compared with 210). The
percentage of schemes the EPA determined not to assess but provided advice
regarding environmental factors increased by 50 per cent (31 compared with 20).
The EPA determined that one local planning scheme was incapable of being made
environmentally acceptable, and following consultation between the Ministers for
the Environment and Planning, the scheme amendment was withdrawn.
The average number of days it takes the EPA to make its determinations on
planning schemes, once sufficient information has been received, has changed
marginally to 19 days, compared with 17 for 2016–17 and 19 for 2015–16.
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Environmental impact assessments
completed

Stakeholder engagement
The environmental impact assessment process continued to provide opportunities
for input from the public before decisions were taken by the EPA. These
opportunities included the seven-day public comment period on referrals received
and the public review period on environmental review documents. The public was
encouraged to participate in consultation by offering advice, identifying omitted
relevant data/information, providing local knowledge and proposing alternatives.

During 2017–18, department staff provided support to the EPA to complete
19 assessment reports.
Assessments completed
Type of assessment

2015–16

2016–17

2017–18

Formal assessments
Public environmental review

6

11

5

Assessment on proponent information
– Category A*

6

5

-

Assessment on referral information

-

1

6

Strategic proposal

1

Changes to conditions
Section 46 changes to conditions
Total

6

14

7

18

31

19

* Level of assessment is no longer used.

The department provided advice to the EPA to help it complete the formal
assessment of 12 mining, industrial and infrastructure proposals during 2017–18.
This included the completion of a strategic proposal after six years of assessment
and a lithium hydroxide product manufacturing plant located near Bunbury. The
department is receiving many enquiries from proponents into the development of
lithium mines in response to the high global demand for lithium.
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Increase in proposals received a good sign for WA
F e atu

EPA assessments on the rise

A leading indicator of a recovering
economy is the number of significant
proposals requiring assessment by the
EPA, which has markedly increased since
the last financial year.
Not only has 2017–18 seen a rise in the number
of referrals requiring formal assessment, but also
an increase in the complexity and diversity of the
proposals requiring assessment.
The increase in complexity and variety reflects the
current diversity and innovation in the Western
Australian economy. The map shows the location of
the proposals where a formal level of assessment
was set during 2017–18.
►► Location of referrals given a formal level of
assessment
During 2017–18, applications to change
Ministerial‑approved proposals and conditions
increased 20 per cent compared with 2016–17. The
overall active assessment workload has increased
from approximately 140 assessments in 2015–16 to
more than 220 assessments in 2017–18.

Referrals given a formal level of assessment
35
30

Iron Ore

Infrastructure

Mineral sands/salt

Planning

Potash

Irrigated agriculture

Lithium

Renewable energy

Other mines

Waste

25
20
15
10
5
0
2015–16

2016–17

2017–18

Assessed - API A*

Assessed - Environmental
review; No public review

Assessed - PER

Assessed - Environmental
review; Public review

Assessed Referral information
* Level of assessment is no longer used.
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EPA policy and guidance
overview

Service 8

Role of EPA policy and guidance

Environmental
management
services to the EPA
The department develops statutory
policies, guidelines and strategic
advice for the EPA to manage
environmental impacts and protect
the environment.

The EPA has an established policy framework that
relates to its objectives and functions as established
under section 15 and 16 of the Environmental
Protection Act 1986. The policy framework sets
out a systematic and considered process for the
development and review of the EPA’s guidelines and
procedures.
EPA policy hierarchy

Environmental Protection Act 1984

Documents to support EIA*

Procedures
of EIA*

Advice and reference
material

Environmental
considerations in EIA*

Documents within the EPA’s policy framework fall
into one of three categories:
1. Processes and procedures for environmental
impact assessment under Part IV of the
Environmental Protection Act 1986. This section
provides information for proponents to navigate
the assessment process.
2. Environmental considerations in environmental
impact assessment, dealing with the
substantive aspects of assessment. This
section of the framework is hierarchical, with
the Statement of environmental principles,
factors and objectives setting out the
environmental factors related to assessment,
environmental factor guidelines for each factor,
and technical guidance.
3. Policies, advice and reference material
related to the EPA’s business outside of the
formal assessment process. This information
includes state government policies endorsed
or administered by the EPA, the EPA’s strategic
advice to the Minister for Environment, and
advice published by the EPA on environmental
matters generally.

* Environmental impact
assessment
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EPA policy framework review
The EPA completed a review of its policy framework in February 2018. Overall, the
review found stakeholders were supportive of the new policy framework released
in December 2016, particularly noting the EPA’s procedures and guidelines were
more informative, easier to navigate and linked more clearly to the Environmental
Protection Act 1986. Stakeholders were also supportive of the improved
opportunity for engagement in the review process.
The review identified several improvements for the policy framework. The
improvements are being progressively implemented and the EPA continues to
work closely with its stakeholder reference group to address the substantive
issues raised.

The following amendments to EPA procedures and guidance were made in
2017–18:
• Minor update of the Environmental impact assessment (Part IV Divisions 1
and 2) procedures manual
• Revised Environmental factor guideline – Landforms
• New Environmental factor guideline – Inland Waters
• Revised Statement of environmental principles, factors and objectives
Future updates and changes as part of the review will be published on the EPA
website.
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Strategic activities
Perth and Peel @3.5 million and Strategic
Assessment of the Perth and Peel regions
The department provided significant input to
the Western Australian Planning Commission’s
Perth and Peel @3.5 million sub regional planning
frameworks, which were released by the Minister for
Planning in March 2018. The framework documents
defined the development footprint in Perth and Peel
for a population of 3.5 million to be assessed in the
Strategic Assessment of Perth and Peel Regions
(SAPPR).
In April 2018, the state government announced its
decision to suspend work on SAPPR, pending a
review. Environmental agencies undertook significant
work through the SAPPR process to improve our
understanding of the current levels of cumulative
environmental impacts within the Perth and Peel
regions. This work will help our new amalgamated
agency to inform regulatory assessments.
The department reviewed the geomorphic wetlands
of the Swan Coastal Plain dataset to identify
wetlands of high conservation value. This information
will be used across government to inform various
priority projects including METRONET and
Westport.

Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund
The Pilbara Environmental Offsets Fund is a
strategic conservation fund established to offset
the significant residual impacts of development
assessed under Part IV of the Environmental
Protection Act 1986 and, potentially, Parts 9 and
10 of the Environment Protection and Biodiversity
Conservation Act 1999. In April 2018 the department
received approval from Treasury to establish
the special purpose account to receive offset
contributions.
The fund will provide positive outcomes for the
Pilbara by funding landscape-scale projects from
combined offset contributions. It will also provide
a greater opportunity to leverage investment in
conservation efforts from Commonwealth programs,
ranger groups, state government and natural
resource management organisations.

this group have completed a preliminary meeting
to scope the five-year implementation plan and
recommend projects for 2018–19.

Projects to address gaps
In the 2017–18 financial year, the department
allocated resources to the following projects to
address gaps identified by the EPA:
• Information and gap analysis on mine site
rehabilitation
• Subterranean fauna research projects
• Summary of current information available
to assess extent and condition of native
vegetation
• Opportunities for remote sensing technologies
to map and monitor native vegetation

Projects delivered through the fund will have an
on-ground focus to improve native vegetation and
habitat for species such as the greater bilby, Pilbara
olive python, Pilbara leaf-nosed bat and ghost bat
by undertaking weed and feral animal control and
erosion and fire management.
The fund will be managed by government with
advice from a stakeholder advisory group with local,
on-ground and specialist experience. Members of
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Partnering with government and industry to deliver better
environmental outcomes
Improving biodiversity data sharing

Improving

the availability of
information for proponents

I n d ex o f B i o d i v er s i t y S u r v e y s f o r A s s e s s m e n t s

Index of Biodiversity Surveys for
Assessments (IBSA) was launched by
the department in May 2018. IBSA is a
new whole-of-government initiative led by
the department, in collaboration with the
Western Australian Biodiversity Science
Institute, EPA and the Department of
Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety.
IBSA’s objective is to capture and consolidate
data contained in biodiversity survey reports to
support assessments and compliance under
the Environmental Protection Act 1986 and to
provide a platform to make the information publicly
available.

Once data has been used for assessment purposes,
the department will make basic information for each
dataset available online via IBSA. Full participation in
IBSA will deliver better environmental outcomes and
improved efficiency of assessments for proponents.
Before the implementation of IBSA, an estimated
$38 million was spent each year collecting
biodiversity data to support environmental
assessments under the EP Act, yet the information
was not centralised or easily discoverable.
Proponents will now have improved access to
information through IBSA, reducing costs and delays
associated with poor availability of biodiversity data.
IBSA will also enable government, industry and the
community to obtain maximum value from existing
data, while supporting ongoing strategic planning,
decision-making and management.

Reducing costs and
delays associated with poor
availability of biodiversity data

Allowing

government, industry
and the community to get maximum
value from existing data

Supporting

ongoing
strategic planning, decision making
and management

Jump to
the webpage!

WWW.
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Compliance with Ministerial
statement implementation
conditions are monitored
effectively
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Service 9

Compliance
monitoring services
to the Minister for
Environment
The department audits the
compliance with conditions set under
Ministerial approvals and undertakes
enforcement action as appropriate.

Compliance with Part IV
of the Environmental
Protection Act 1986
In accordance with section 48(1) of the
Environmental Protection Act 1986, the department
may monitor proposals approved by the Minister,
for the purpose of determining whether the
implementation conditions set out in the Ministerial
Statement are being complied with.
If a proponent does not ensure that implementation
of the proposal is in accordance with the
implementation conditions, the proponent commits
an offence.
When non-compliance with an implementation
condition or proponent commitment in a Ministerial
Statement is identified, the proponent is issued
with a ‘notice of non-compliance’, detailing actions
required to rectify the issue and regain compliance.
The Minister for Environment is informed of each
non-compliance.
As outlined in Service 4: Environmental regulation
– compliance, the department undertakes its

environmental compliance activities through
a structured annual program. The program
incorporates a variety of proactive and reactive
methods to monitor compliance including audits
of proposals, reviews of compliance assessment
reports, on-site inspections, and stakeholder
engagement. The annual program enables
resources to be effectively managed to achieve
the best environmental outcome. The results from
the compliance audits identify areas for improving
proponents’ compliance, and inform future annual
programs and the environmental impact assessment
process.

Compliance and audit
activity
Under the 2017–18 program, 60 audits of Ministerial
Statements were conducted on a range of proposals
including port and rail infrastructure; oil and gas
facilities; chemical processing and manufacturing
facilities; waste to energy plants; gold, iron ore and
mineral sands mines; and significant infrastructure
projects.
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Significant issues
impacting the agency

As a result of Machinery of Government changes
announced by the state government on 28 April
2017, and implemented on 1 July 2017, the
department created a one-stop shop service for
industry and developers with the aim of streamlining
and simplifying Western Australia’s water and
environmental regulation.
The government has committed $1.7 million funding
to develop a container deposit scheme in Western
Australia. The department is designing the scheme
and, following consultation with stakeholders, will be
responsible for its implementation. It is anticipated
that the scheme will begin in 2020.
In 2018–19, the department will finalise reviews of
the waste levy policy and the operation of the Waste
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account.
A series of major initiatives will be implemented from
2018–19 to 2020–21 to support development in the
Perth and Peel regions. This includes delivery of a
new water allocation plan to support the long‑term
sustainable use of the Gnangara groundwater
system (which makes up nearly half of Perth’s
scheme water supply), improving the management

of the Peel-Harvey estuary and catchment to
support long-term water quality improvements, and
identifying and securing key environmental values in
the region.
Work will continue through 2018–19 on the
development of the Estuary Protection Plan to
improve the water quality of the Peel-Harvey estuary.
The plan commits to providing comprehensive
estuary protection that creates an integrated
approach towards catchment management.
The majority of actions will be identified through
numerical modelling and consultation to revise the
Water Quality Improvement Plan. The opportunity
is to add a number of estuary-specific actions and
the challenge will be to set the policy and planning
framework needed to implement the plan.
Given more than 80 per cent of Western Australians
live in, or around, estuaries, the department will
continue to deliver priority strategic initiatives to
improve the health of some of the state’s most
at-risk estuaries through the $20 million Regional
Estuaries Initiative and the four-year Revitalising
Geographe Waterways Royalties for Regions
projects.

The department will work to ensure that water,
waste and environmental issues – and innovative
approaches to resolving them – are considered
during urban design and planning, including
major government infrastructure initiatives such as
METRONET.
In 2018–19, the department will begin work on
a Fitzroy River water allocation plan, using the
outcomes of scientific programs undertaken
by local, state and national organisations and
working with community, pastoral and Aboriginal
stakeholders.
As a result of climate change, the state’s south-west
is experiencing declining annual rainfall. This trend is
creating significant water resource management and
supply planning issues, driving reduced dam inflows,
lower streamflows, and declining groundwater levels.
In response to this, the department is undertaking
various actions and measures across government
agencies and government trading enterprises to set
priorities in this area.
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In 2018–19, the department will finalise the Perth
Region Confined Aquifer Capacity study and
the Royalties for Regions-funded groundwater
investigations, and begin a series of investigations in
priority areas across the state, including identifying
potential water supply options to maintain urban
green spaces.
In partnership with the Murujuga Aboriginal
Corporation, and with input from industry, technical
experts, the community and local governments,
the department will finalise a strategy to provide
a long‑term framework to monitor and analyse
changes to the world-class Aboriginal rock art at
the Burrup Peninsula, and ensure management
responses are in place to address any changes to
the rock art.
The department has established the Pilbara
Environmental Offsets Fund to combine individual
offset payments to enable the delivery of larger
and more strategic biodiversity projects in the
Pilbara. The department is developing a five-year
implementation for the fund, with advice from
stakeholders, in 2018–19.

Where possible, projects will build on local
conservation programs like those already
undertaken by natural resource organisations and
Traditional Owner Ranger Groups to maximise
conservation benefits and create local jobs.
The department will continue to support the
government’s lightweight plastic bag ban
and investigate further actions to reduce the
environmental harm of other single use plastics to
create awareness and influence behaviour change
with retailers and the broader community. The ban
will bring Western Australia into line with other states
that already have similar bans in place.

Through high-calibre science and strong
partnerships across government, industry, water
utilities, research and community stakeholders,
the department will continue to demonstrate how
water in the urban landscape can improve the
sustainability, productivity, resilience and liveability
of Western Australian communities, while achieving
water quality improvements in drainage to rivers and
estuaries.

The department is seeking to reduce red tape,
and simplify how its stakeholders do business, by
progressing a comprehensive digital strategy and
investigating enhanced data management capacity
options. This work will also provide stakeholders
with greater online access to information and
services, while ensuring security of information.
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Contents of statements
Statement of comprehensive income

At the date of signing, I am not aware of any circumstances which would
render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or
inaccurate.

Wayne Millen
Chief Finance Officer

Mike Rowe
Director General

27 August 2018

27 August 2018
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Note

2018
($’000)

Note

2018
($’000)

Cost of services

Income from state government

Expenses

Service appropriation

4.1

92 892

State Grants

4.1

3 835

Resources received free of charge

4.1

1 708

Royalties for Regions Fund

4.1

8 287

Employee benefits expense

3.1

97 876

Supplies and services

3.3

31 689

5.1.1,5.2.1

10 380

Accommodation expenses

3.3

9 695

Grants and subsidies

3.2

18 463

Other expenses

3.3

4 724

Loss on disposal of non-current assets

3.4

582

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Total cost of services

173 409

Total Income from state government

106 722

Surplus for the period

54 300

Total comprehensive income for the period

54 300

See also the ‘Schedule of income and expenses by service’.
The Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees

4.2

25 029

Commonwealth grants and contributions

4.3

2 467

4.5,9.6

75 509

Waste levy
Interest revenue
Other revenue

735
4.6

Total Revenue

17 244
120 984

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total Gains
Total income other than income from state government

Net cost of services

4.4

2
2
120 986

52 423
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Statement of financial position
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Note

2018
($’000)

Note

Assets

Liabilities

Current assets

Current liabilities

2018
($’000)

Cash and cash equivalents

7.1

5 512

Payables

6.4

7 559

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

7.1

63 985

Employee related provisions

3.1

19 836

Receivables

6.1

30 457

Other current liabilities

6.5

354

Amounts receivable for services

6.2

6 307

Total current liabilities

Other current assets

6.3

1 598

Total current assets

107 859

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

7.1

633

Amounts receivable for services

6.2

30 965

Infrastructure property plant and equipment

5.1

337 523

Intangibles

5.2

24 866

Total non-current assets

393 987

Total assets

501 846

27 749

Non-current liabilities
Employee related provisions

3.1

5 073

Other non-current liabilities

6.4

1 658

Total non-current liabilities

6 731

Total liabilities

34 480

Net assets

467 366

Equity
Contributed equity

9.10

411 761

Reserves

9.10

1 305

Accumulated surplus

54 300

Total equity

467 366

See also the ‘Schedule of assets and liabilities by service’.
The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Note

Reserves

Contributed
Equity
($’000)

Accumulated
surplus
($’000)

($’000)

Total Equity
($’000)

Balance at 1 July 2017

-

-

-

-

Revaluation surplus

-

1 305

-

1 305

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

54 300

54 300

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations

9.10

-

-

-

-

9.10

10 264

-

-

10 264

9.10(a)

465 227

-

-

465 227

9.10

(63 730)

-

-

(63 730)

Total

411 761

1 305

54 300

467 366

Balance at 30 June 2018

411 761

1 305

54 300

467 366

Net assets transfe rre d from the forme r age ncies
Distribution to owners

The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Note

2018
($’000)

Note

2018
($’000)

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from state government
Service appropriation

77 120

Cash transferred from the former agencies

9.10(a)

Capital contributions

88 529
10 264

Holding account drawdown

7 354

Distributions to owner

(63 443)

Net proceeds on sale of land remitted to consolidated account

(287)

Royalties for Regions Fund

8 287

State grants

3 835

Net cash provided by state government

131 659

Payments
Purchase of non-current assets

(15 743)

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets

320
7.1

Net cash used in investing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(15 423)
70 130

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period

7.1

70 130
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The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Utilised as follows:

Cash flows from operating activities
Payments
Employee benefits

(99 214)

Supplies and services

(28 039)

Accommodation

(9 699)

Grants and subsidies

(11 688)

GST payments on purchases

(8 601)

Other payments

(3 986)

Receipts
User charges and fees

24 675

Commonwealth grants and contributions

2 302

Interest received

530

Waste levy

73 971

GST receipts on sales

909

GST receipts from taxation authority

6 451

Other receipts

6 282

Net cash used in operating activities

7.1

(46 107)
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Summary of consolidated account appropriations and income estimates
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Estimate

Actual

2018

2018

($'000)

($'000)

Variance

Estimate

Actual

2018

2018

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

90 200

92 490

Amount authorised by other statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver
services

2 290
-

613

402

(211)

90 813

92 892

2 079

Water information and advice

43 286

41 647

1 639

Water planning allocation and optimisation

34 373

40 027

(5 654)

Water regulation, licensing and industry
governance

17 706

17 419

287

Environmental regulation

39 277

36 685

2 592

6 910

4 608

2 302

Environment policy
Waste strategies

Capital
Item 161 capital appropriation

Grand total

($'000)

Details of expenses by service

Delivery of services
Item 106 net amount appropriated to deliver
services

Variance

11 329

10 264

(1 065)

102 142

103 156

1 014

24 604

19 922

4 682

Environmental impact assessment services to
the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA)

8 229

8 878

(649)

Environmental management services to the
EPA

3 483

3 138

345

Compliance monitoring services
to the Minister for Environment

2 391

1 084

1 307

Total cost of services

180 259

173 408

6 851

(109 044)

(120 986)

11 942

Net cost of services

71 215

52 423

18 793

Total appropriations provided to deliver
services

71 215

52 423

18 793

Purchase of non-current physical assets

(17 139)

(15 743)

1 396

Capital contribution (appropriation)

(17 139)

(15 743)

1 396

55

100

45

55

100

45

Less total income

Capital expenditure

Details of income estimates
Income disclosed as administered income
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Notes to the financial
statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

1 Basis of preparation
The Department of Water and Environmental Regulation is a WA Government entity and is
controlled by the State of Western Australia which is the ultimate parent. The agency is a
not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective). A description of the nature of its
operations and its principal activities have been included in the ‘Overview’ which does not
form part of these financial statements.
These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority
of the agency on 27 August 2018.
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(a) Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA) the Treasurer’s Instructions (the
Instructions or TI) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) including applicable
interpretations and where appropriate those AAS paragraphs applicable for notfor-profit entities have been applied. The Financial Management Act 2006 and the
Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions) take precedence over AAS. Several AAS
are modified by the Instructions to vary application disclosure format and wording.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect
upon the reported results details of that modification and the resulting financial
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
(b) Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual
basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will
apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the
case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).
(c) Judgements and estimates
Judgements estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial
information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in
the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where
amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates
and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

2 Agency outputs
(a) How the department operates
This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the agency
receives and how this funding is utilised to achieve the agency’s objectives. This
note also provides the distinction between controlled funding and administered
funding:
Note
Agency objectives

2.1

Schedule of income and expenses by service

2.2

Schedule of assets and liabilities by service

2.3

2.1 Agency objectives
Mission
The department’s mission is to lead and excel in the sustainable management and
protection of Western Australia’s water and environment. The department works to
ensure the state’s water resources and environment are healthy and able to support
a strong economy and thriving communities, now and in the future.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned
Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions other
than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior
to, transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.
Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by
TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities
and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. The transfers of net assets
to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
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The department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriation and
is supplemented by funds received from other sources to provide specialist
related services. The financial statements encompass all funds through which the
department controls resources to carry on its functions.

Service 4: Environmental regulation

The department’s management framework is consistent with the Government goal
for social and environmental responsibility, which is to ensure a quality environment
with liveable and affordable communities and vibrant regions.

Service 5: Environment policy

Services

Service 6: Waste strategies

The department provides the following services:

By advising on and implementing the State Government’s strategies to reduce the
environmental impact of waste.

Service 1: Water information and advice
The department enables investment decisions of regional and state significance
through the provision of data and information on the quantity, quality, location of,
and demand for, water across the state. The information also underpins policy
advice for consideration by Government and supports other government agencies
and
stakeholders in their planning for future economic growth and urban
and rural development.
Service 2: Water planning, allocation and optimisation
Water planning, allocation and optimisation ensure the sustainable management
of water resources for the long term benefit of the state and rely on good science.
This includes planning and allocating water for sustainable productive use,
protecting public drinking water sources, and ensuring the sustainability of water
resources and their dependent ecosystems.
Service 3: Water regulation, licensing and industry governance
Responsible proportional regulation ensures investment, growth and development
is underpinned by the sustainable management of the state’s water resources
for the long term benefit of the state. This service includes the management of
water licensing. It also includes the management of the legislation governing the
operations of water service providers.

By performing environmental regulation functions of approvals, compliance and
enforcement.

By developing and implementing the policies and strategies that promote
sustainable environmental outcomes.

Service 7: Environmental impact assessment services to the Environmental Protection
Authority (EPA)
By providing environmental impact assessment support to the EPA for significant
proposals (that is, proposals involving major projects, industrial, mining, petroleum
and infrastructure developments) and strategic proposals. The department also
assists the Minister for Environment in issuing and managing Ministerial approval
statements.
Service 8: Environmental management services to the EPA
By providing policy and technical advice and support to the EPA on matters
including environmental impact assessment environmental policies and guidelines
and emerging environmental issues.
Service 9: Compliance monitoring services to the Minister for Environment
Audit the compliance with conditions set under Ministerial approvals and undertake
enforecment actions as appropriate.
The department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf
of Government which are not controlled by, nor integral, to the function of the
department. These administered balances and transactions are not recognised in
the principal financial statements of the department but schedules are prepared
using the same basis as the financial statements and are presented at note 10.1
‘Administered income and expenses’ and note 10.3 ‘Administered assets and
liabilities’.
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2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Water
information
and
advice

Water
planning,
allocation
and
optimisation

($’000)

($’000)

Water
regulation,
licensing
Environmental
and industry
regulation
governance
($’000)

($’000)

Environment
policy

($’000)

Environmental
impact
assessment
services to the
Environmental
Protection
Authority
(EPA)

Waste
strategies

($’000)

($’000)

Environmental
management
services to the
EPA

Compliance
monitoring
services to the
Minister for
Environment

Total

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Cost of services
Expenses
Employee benefits expense

21 049

15 155

12 513

24 892

3 645

10 458

6 808

2 398

958

97 876

Supplies and services

8 825

10 544

2 360

4 670

565

2 900

1 290

447

87

31 688

Depreciation and
amortisation expense

4 537

4 991

198

365

46

123

85

31

4

10 380

Accommodation expenses

2 718

1 268

1 765

1 982

245

1 092

446

161

19

9 695

Grants and subsidies

2 816

6 372

266

3 667

20

5 150

110

51

11

18 463

155

84

80

147

19

49

34

12

1

582

1 548

1 613

237

962

67

150

105

38

4

4 724

41 647

40 027

17 419

36 685

4 608

19 922

8 878

3 138

1 084

173 409

12

2

41

23 545

537

76 401

1

0

0

100 538

2 082

8

3

333

41

-

-

-

-

2 467

5

-

3

-

-

726

-

-

-

735

680

4 741

200

1 392

27

10 131

52

18

3

17 244

7

(3)

6

(5)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(0)

(0)

2

2 786

4 748

252

25 265

605

87 257

51

18

3

120 986

38 861

35 279

17 166

11 421

4 003

(67 335)

8 827

3 120

1 081

52 423

Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and
contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total income other than income
from state government

Net cost of services
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2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service continued

Water
information
and
advice

Water
planning,
allocation
and
optimisation

($’000)

($’000)

Water
regulation,
licensing
Environmental
and industry
regulation
governance
($’000)

($’000)

Environment
policy

($’000)

Environmental
impact
assessment
services to the
Environmental
Protection
Authority
(EPA)

Waste
strategies

($’000)

($’000)

Environmental
management
services to the
EPA

Compliance
monitoring
services to the
Minister for
Environment

Total

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Income from
state government
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge

24 747

13 438

12 736

23 470

2 976

7 868

5 456

1 973

229

92 892

957

98

141

199

28

67

153

47

18

1 708

Royalties for Regions Fund

1 958

6 298

31

-

-

-

-

-

-

8 287

State grant

1 062

1 880

579

-

-

-

220

63

31

3 835

28 724

21 714

13 487

23 669

3 004

7 935

5 829

2 082

279

106 722

(10 136)

(13 565)

(3 679)

12 249

(999)

75 270

(2 999)

(1 038)

(803)

54 300

Total income from state government

Surplus/(deficit)
for the period

The Schedule of income and expenses by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2.3 Schedule of assets and liabilities by service
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Water
information
and advice

Water
planning,
allocation
and
optimisation

Water
regulation,
licensing
and industry
governance

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Environmental
regulation

($’000)

Environment
policy

Waste
strategies

($’000)

($’000)

Environmental
impact
Compliance
assessment
Environmental
monitoring
services to the management services to the
Environmental services to the
Minister for
Protection
EPA
Environment
Authority
(EPA)
($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Total

($’000)

Assets
Current assets

26 070

14 157

13 417

24 725

3 135

18 288

5 748

2 078

242

107 859

Non-current assets

104 959

56 995

54 018

99 543

12 622

33 370

23 140

8 366

973

393 987

Total assets

131 029

71 152

67 435

124 268

15 757

51 658

28 888

10 444

1 214

501 846

Current liabilities

7 392

4 014

3 805

7 011

889

2 350

1 630

589

69

27 749

Non-current liabilities

1 793

974

923

1 701

216

570

395

143

17

6 731

Total liabilities

9 186

4 988

4 727

8 712

1 105

2 920

2 025

732

85

34 480

121 844

66 164

62 707

115 557

14 653

48 738

26 863

9 712

1 129

467 366

Liabilities

Net assets

The Schedule of assets and liabilities by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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3. Use of our funding
Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how the department’s funding
is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the
items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the
department in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:
Note

2018
($’000)

Employee benefits expense

3.1(a)

97 876

Employee related provisions

3.1(b)

24 909

Grants and subsidies

3.2

18 463

Other expenditure

3.3

46 108

3.1 (a) Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries

71 304

Termination benefits
Superannuation - defined contribution plans

6 799
(a)

Superannuation - defined benefits plans

6 982
1 119

Annual leave

7 039

Long service leave

2 805

Other related expenses

1 828

Total employee benefits expenses

97 876

(a) Defined contribution plans include WestState Superannuation Scheme (WSS), Gold State
Superannuation Scheme, Government Employees Superannuation Schemes (GESBs) and other
eligible funds.

Termination benefits
Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or
when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination
of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the department is
demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.
Superannuation
The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income
comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions) the
WSS, the GESBs or other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid to
the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in respect of the GSS is
paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.
GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of
employees and whole-of-government reporting. It is however a defined contribution
plan for department purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined
contributions) made by the department to GESB extinguishes the department’s
obligations to the related superannuation liability.
The department does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has
no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees.
The Liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer
benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are
assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the department to the GESB.
The GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees
vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

Wages and salaries
Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and
salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements and WorkCover premiums.
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3.1 (b) Employee related provisions

(a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as
follows:

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees, in respect of wages and
salaries, annual leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the
reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are
delivered.

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

Employee benefits provisions

Long service leave

7 080

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

1 877

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.

12 191

(b)

Purchased Annual Leave

370

Deferred salary scheme (c)

19
19 660

Other provisions
Employment on-costs

5 202
7 080

Current
Annual leave (a)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

(d)

Total current employee related provisons

176
19 836

(b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are
classified as current liabilities as the department does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as noncurrent liabilities because the department has an unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of
service.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur
as follows:

Non-current
Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave (b)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)
Total non-current employee related provisons
Total employee related provisons

2018
($’000)

5 027
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
46
5 073
24 909

4 908
12 309
17 217

The provision for long service leave liabilities are calculated at present value as
the department does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months.
The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected
future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to
the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement and discounted using market yields
at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities: Classified as current where there is no
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
2018
($’000)
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

2018
($’000)

Recurrent
Contaminated Sites Management Account Grants

383

Grants other

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses
when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs
are included as part of ‘Other expenses, Note 3.3 (apart from the unwinding of
the discount (finance cost))’ and are not included as part of the department’s
‘employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment oncosts provision’.

413

Rural Water Grants

6.4(c)

4 474

State-wide water efficiency measures

259

Water Sensitive Cities - Cooperative Research Centre

150

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account (WARR)

4.5

5 128

Water Innovation Partnership
Watering WA

2018
($’000)
222

Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised

176
(176)

230
1 860

(a)

National partnership payments

Transferred in from the former agencies

Carrying amount at end of period

3.2 Grants and subsidies
Note

(d) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave
liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future
payments.

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave
liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense.

19
19

Employment on-costs provision

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying
amount of the long service leave provision.

2 337

(b)

Capital
The Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets Account

(c)

Total grants and subsidies

3 229
18 463

222

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical
experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the department’s long
service leave provision. These include:
•
Expected future salary rates
•
Discount rates
•
Employee retention rates; and
•
Expected future payments

(a) Grants issued in partnership with regional local councils to deliver alternative water supply projects
through stormwater harvesting, wastewater re-use, refurbishment of agricultural area dams and town dams.
(b) The State of Western Australia entered into a project agreement for the National Water Infrastructure
Development Fund on 21 January 2016. The agreement aims to support delivery of feasibility studies that
inform investment decisions on potential new or augmented water infrastructure to secure the nation’s
water supplies and deliver strong economic benefits for Australia, while protecting environment.
(c) The Establishing and Maintaining Vegetation Offsets Account was established for the purpose of
establishing or maintaining vegetation as a condition of a clearing permit granted under the Environmental
Protection Act 1986. The requirement for an offset counterbalances the loss of native vegetation as
a condition of a native vegetation clearing permit. The department is responsible for determining the
offsets sites acquired using Offset Account monies. There is reliance on the Department of Biodiversity,
Conservation and Attractions to identify and acquire appropriate land with the intention the land will be
protected under the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984.
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3.3 Other expenditures
2018
($’000)
Supplies and services
Communications

1 235

Consultants and contractors

21 028

Consumables

140

Materials

235

Travel

1 037

Vehicle lease and hire

1 942

Minor plant, machinery and equipment

2 314

Plant, machinery and equipment lease

481

Chemical analysis expense

1 326

Other supplies & services

1 951

Total supplies and services expenses

31 689

Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals

7 558

Power and water consumption

824

Rates and taxes

416

Security

82

Repairs & maintenance

366

Cleaning

449

Transactions in which the department provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability)
or labour to another party without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised
as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.

Total accommodation expenses

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to
conditions regarding their use. Alternatively they may be paid as specific purpose grants which
are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

Audit fees

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as
an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. They include transactions
such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other transfer
payments made to public sector agencies, local government, non-government schools, and
community groups.

9 695

Other expenses
269

Equipment repairs and maintenance

1 114

Bad and doubtful debts expense
Transfer of Water For Food funding
Employment on-costs

53
(a)

2 007
372

(b)

Other operating expenses

909

Total other expenses

4 724

Total other expenditures

46 108
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(a) Transfer of remaining funding to the Department of Primary Industries and Regional
Development relating to the Water For Food project.

3.4 Loss on disposal of non-current assets

(b) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs
liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at
note 3.1(b) ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

2018
($’000)
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Other expenditures:
Other expenditures generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in
normal operations.

Land

287

Plant, equipment and vehicles

20

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

Supplies and services:
Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in
which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution
are expensed when the materials are distributed.
Accommodation expenses:
Operating lease payments are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease
term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.
Repairs maintenance and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.
Equipment repairs and maintenance:
Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except
where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that
case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
Doubtful debt expense is recognised as the movement in the provision for
doubtful debt. Please refer to note 6.1.1. Movement of the allowance for impairment
of receivables.
Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other
employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of
annual and long service leave liabilities is included at Note 3.1(b) Employee related
provision. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

Land

(767)

Buildings

(122)

Net loss

(582)

4. Our funding sources
How we obtain our funding
This section provides additional information about how the department obtains its
funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and
measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the department and
the relevant notes are:
Note

2018
($’000)

Income from state government

4.1

106 722

User charges and fees

4.2

25 029

Commonwealth grants and contributions

4.3

2 467

Gains

4.4

2

Waste levy

4.5

75 509

Other revenue

4.6

17 244
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4.1 Income from state government

(a) Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the
department gains control of the appropriated funds. The department gains control of appropriated funds
at the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for
services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

2018
($’000)
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation

92 892

(a)

92 892

Department of Communities (Housing)

177

Department of Biodiversity Conservation and Attractions
Fremantle Ports

1 648
24

Main Roads WA

35

Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development
Office of Emergency Management

1 530
94

Water Corporation

14

Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation

197

Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety

117

Total State Grants

Department of Finance

•

The budgeted depreciation expense for the year; and

•

Any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(b) State Grants
State Grants are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the department obtains
control over the funds.
(c) The Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account, and, Regional Community
Services Accounts are sub-funds within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The
recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas and are recognised
as revenue when the department gains control on receipt of the funds.

4.2 User charges and fees
2018
($’000)

746

Main Roads

138

State Solicitor's Office

681
1 708

Royalties for Regions Fund
(c)

4 431

Contaminated sites

174

Other charges and fees

217

9

Landgate

Total services received

20 207

Controlled waste (b)a

21

Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development

Total income from State Government

A receivable (asset).

Industry fees (a)
113

Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage

Total Royalties for Regions Fund

Cash component; and

•

3 835

Services received free of charge from other state government agencies
during the period:

Regional Community Services Account(c)

•

The receivable (holding account – note 6.2) comprises the following:

State Grants (b)

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered (as set out in note 2.2). Appropriation
revenue comprises the following:

25 029
(a) Licensing and registration fees relating to prescribed premises under the Part V of the Environmental
Protection Act 1986.
(b) Fees for the licensing of vehicles transporting controlled public waste as per the Environmental
Protection (Controlled Waste) Regulations 2004.
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

8 210
77
8 287
106 722

Dep ar tm ent o f Water and Env iro nm ental Reg ulatio n

116

Home

Overview

Agency
performance

Significant
issues
Disclosures

4.3 Commonwealth grants and contributions

4.5 Waste levy
2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)
Commonwealth grants and contributions

385

National Partnership Payments

For non-reciprocal grants the department recognises revenue when the grant is
receivable at its fair value as and when its fair value can be reliably measured.
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably
determined and the services would have been purchased if not donated.
291

Indian Ocean Territories Waters

The Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account (WARR) was established in
2008 under section 79 of the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007
(WARR Act). Under the Act, Metropolitan landfill operators are required to fund the
operations of the WARR Account. The WARR Account holds revenue allocated from
the levy to fund programs and waste management.

4.6 Other revenue
2018
($’000)

3

National Pollutant Inventory

83

Reef Integrated Monitoring and Reporting Program
National Partnership Payments

75 509

2 082
2 467

Indian Ocean Territories Environment

Waste levy

8

Services rendered (a)

5 202

Lease-rentals-land & buildings

528

2 082

Grants & subs revenue-recurrent

265

2 467

Tree annuity

228

Tree harvest

152

Recoup-expense overpaid prior year

136

4.4 Gains

Insurance Recovery-Workers Comp Prior Yr
Recovery of Waste Levy

2018
($’000)

127
10 000

(b)

Other revenue

606

Net proceeds from disposal on non-current assets

17 244

Land

2

Net gain (loss)

2

Total other income

2

(a) Income from services rendered to the Department of Primary Industries and Regional
Development under the Water for Food program.
(b) On 12 June 2018, the Administrators of one of the department’s debtors, Eclipse Resources Pty
Ltd agreed to the proposal to settle overdue waste levies of $10 million. This amount was received in
July 2018.

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These
include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations
of non-current assets.
Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting
from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling
expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of
comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale).
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5. Key assets
Assets the department utilises for economic benefit or service potential
This section includes information regarding the key assets the department utilises
to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both
the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance of
these assets:
Note

2018
($’000)

Infrastructure property plant and equipment

5.1

337 523

Intangibles

5.2

24 866

Total key assets

362 389
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5.1 Infrastructure property, plant and equipment
Year ended 30 June 2018
Capital
works in
progress

Works
of art

Computing
equipment

Vehicles

Infrastructure

Plant
equipment

Measurement
sites

Leasehold
improvements

Buildings

Land

Total

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

1 July 2017
Net assets transfe rre d
from the forme r age ncies

5 834

10

303

40

778

4 733

162 077

788

5 063

150 440

330 069

5 834

10

303

40

778

4 733

162 077

788

5 063

150 440

330 069

Additions

12 304

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

258

12 563

Transfe r s In/(O ut) (a)( b)

(7 480)

-

29

111

3 834

665

2 842

-

-

700

700

Carrying amount at start of
period

D isposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(122)

(411)

(533)

Revaluation incre me nts/
(de cre me nts)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1 305

-

(35)

(947)

322

Impairme nt losses

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Impairme nt losses
reve r se d

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

D e pre ciation

-

-

(151)

(19)

(74)

(641)

(4 071)

(515)

(127)

-

(5 598)

10 659

10

181

132

4 538

4 757

162 153

274

4 780

150 040

337 523

Carrying amount at 30 June
2018

(a) The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) is the only department with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to DPLH for sale and the agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner.
(b) Transfer in/(out) from tangible capital works in progress to asset and expense and land transferred from non-current asset held for sale (Note 9.9).
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5.1 Infrastructure property plant and equipment continued
Initial recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, costing $5 000 or
more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal
cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property
plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5 000 are immediately
expensed direct to the statement of comprehensive Income.
Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred
at their fair value.
The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the
shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the
leasehold improvement.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the
measurement of: land, buildings and infrastructure. Land is carried at fair value.
Buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. All other property, plant and equipment
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian
Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics) and recognised
annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the
asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.
Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2017 by the Western Australian
Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics). The valuations were
performed during the year ended 30 June 2018 and recognised at 30 June 2018.
In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market
values for land: $39 537 950 and buildings: $2 719 000. For the remaining balance
fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of current replacement cost
and fair value of land was determined on the comparison utility basis with market
evidence.

Measurement sites are independently valued every five years by an external
services valuer. In the intervening years, the measurement sites are revalued
internally by use of the building cost index (BCI) provided by the Department of
Finance. Groundwater Measurement sites were independently revalued by Aquenta
Consulting as at 30 June 2017.
Fair value for infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of
replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset i.e. the
current replacement cost. The current replacement cost is generally determined
by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset
of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications, adjusted for
obsolescence. Obsolescence encompasses physical deterioration, functional
(technological) obsolescence and economic (external) obsolescence.
Revaluation model:
(a) Fair value where market-based evidence is available:
The fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market
values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are
revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount
restated to the revalued amount.
(b) Fair value in the absence of market-based evidence:
Buildings and measurement sites: Fair value for existing use specialised
buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future
economic benefits embodied in the asset i.e. the current replacement cost. Current
replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated
depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed
or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence and optimisation (where applicable)
of the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the
market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and
the gross project size specifications.
Valuation using current replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input,
consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) for buildings
and internally for measurement sites. The fair value measurement is sensitive to
the estimate of consumption/obsolescence with higher values of the estimate
correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings.
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Restricted use land: Fair value is determined by comparison with market evidence
for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of
comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).
Significant assumptions and judgements: The most significant assumptions
and judgements in estimating a fair value are made in assessing whether to apply
the existing use basis and in determining estimated economic life to assets.
Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not
provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Leasehold improvement

Vehicles

20 to 40 years

Plant and equipment
127
74
641
19

Computing equipment

151

Depreciation leasehold improvements

515

20 years

(b)

Measurement sites

Depreciation

Plant equipment

Useful life : Years

Building

2018
($’000)

Infrastructure

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s
value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical
estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are
included in the table below:
Asset

5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment charge for the period

Buildings

Finite useful lives
All infrastructure property plant and equipment having a limited useful life are
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects
the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule
include assets held for sale, land and investment properties.

Computing equipment (hardware and software (a))
Infrastructure

20 to 40 years
5 to 20 years
3 to 5 years
20 to 50 years

Vehicles

5 years

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware
(b) Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives.

Depreciation measurement sites

4 071

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each annual reporting period, and adjustments are made where appropriate.

Total depreciation

5 598

Land and works of art, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated.
Depreciation is not recognised in respect of these assets because their service potential has
not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period.

Amortisation
Computing software
Analytical products
Total amortisation
Total depreciation & amortisation for the period

3 932
850
4 782
10 380

As at 30 June 2018 there were no indications of impairment to property plant and
equipment or infrastructure.
Please refer to note 5.2 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that
has been performed for intangible assets.

Impairment
Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is
recognised. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable
amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement through other
comprehensive income.
As the department is a not-for-profit agency, the recoverable amount of regularly
revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.
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If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the
carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However this
reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised in prior years.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or
for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or
where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement
costs. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments are made
where appropriate.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following are demonstrated:
(a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale
(b) An intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it
(c) The ability to use or sell the intangible asset
(d) The intangible asset will generate future economic benefit
(e) The availability of adequate technical financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell the intangible asset
(f)

5.2 Intangible assets
Year ended 30 June 2018

Capital
work in
progress

Analytical
products

Computer
software

Total

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.
Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

1 July 2017
Opening amount at start of period
Transferred in from the former agencies

5 138

8 383

13 909

27 430

Additions

2 218

-

-

2 218

Transfer In/(Out)

(a)

Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at 30 June 2018

The ability to measure reliably the expenditure directly attributable to the
intangible asset during its development.

(4 302)

359

3 943

-

-

(850)

(3 932)

(4 782)

3 054

7 892

13 920

24 866

(a) Transfer in/(out) from capital works in progress to asset and expense

Initial recognition
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5 000 or more and internally generated
intangible assets costing $5 000 or more that comply with the recognition criteria
as per AASB 138.57 (as noted below), are capitalised.
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the
Statement of comprehensive income.
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6 Other assets and liabilities

5.2.1 Amortisation and impairment
2018
($’000)
Charge for the period
Analytical products

850

Computer software

3 932

Total amortisation for the period

4 782

As at 30 June 2018 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.
The agency held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during
the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible
assets not yet available for use.
Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis
at rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible
assets controlled by the department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.
The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Development costs

3 to 5 years

Software

3 to 5 years

(a)

Analytical Products

(b)

10 years

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the department’s
controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and
liabilities incurred during normal operations:
Note

2018
($’000)

Receivables

6.1

30 457

Amounts receivable for services

6.2

37 272

Other current assets

6.3

1 598

Payables

6.4

(9 217)

Other current liabilities

6.5

(354)

6.1 Receivables
2018
($’000)
Current
Receivables

1 231

Allowance for impairment of receivables

(63)

Accrued revenue

28 098

GST receivable

1 191

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware

Total current

30 457

(b) Analytical Products are intangible assets such as geophysical datasets and groundwater models
which are usually produced as part of project work. These products are used by the department to
improve its understanding and management of water resources.

Total receivables

30 457

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when
an indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1.

The department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as
security for receivables.
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for
collectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables
is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.
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6.4 Payables

6.1.1 Movement of the allowance for impairment of receivables
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)
Transferred in from the former agencies

(295)

Current

Doubtful debts expense

(53)

Trade payable

Impairment losses reversed during the period

285

Other payables

Balance at end of period

(63)

Accrued expenses (c)

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any
receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account.
The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is
objective evidence that the department will not be able to collect the debts.

6.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding account)
2018
($’000)
Current

6 307

Non-current

30 965

Balance at end of period

37 272

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or
payment of leave liability. 		
The department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid
partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued
amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement
to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

6.3 Other assets
2018
($’000)
Current
Prepayments

1 598

Total current

1 598

661

(a)

Accrued salaries

562
6 015
321

(b)

Total current

7 559

Non-current
Accrued expenses (c)

1 658

Total non-current

1 658

Balance at end of period

9 217

(a) Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the department becomes obliged to make
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to
fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. 		
(b) Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period.
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end. The department considers
the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.
(c) Accrued Expenses relates to Rural Water Grants an independent department approved water
auditor conducts an on-farm water audit, sends a schedule of works based on the audit. The
department reviews the schedule of works and approvals. The water auditor goes back and reviews
what works have been done under the schedule of works and sends back the schedule of works to
the department. The farmer makes an application for a rebate. The department reviews and pays the
rebate claim. The program officially closed on 30 June 2018. Unprocessed applications for rebates
are accrued as the department’s liabilities.

6.5 Other current liabilities
Revenue received in advance

352

Stale cheque holding account

2
354

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in
advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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7 Financing

7.1.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/
(used in) operating activities

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the
financing and cashflows of the department.
Note
Cash and cash equivalents

Note

2018
($’000)

Non-cash items

Reconciliation of cash

7.1.1

70 130

Reconciliation of operating activities

7.1.2

(46 107)

7.2.1

Depreciation and amortisation expense

5.1.1

Doubtful debts expense

78 738

Capital commitments

7.2.2

180

Other expenditure commitments

7.2.3

6 287

10 380

3.3

Prior year error-related to the former agencies

7.2

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

(52 423)

Net cost of services

7.1

Commitments

2018
($’000)

Disposal of assets as a result of the former agencies
Services received free of charge

53
657
1 050

4.1

1 708

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property plant and equipment

580

Revaluation decrement

724

7.1 Cash and cash equivalents

(Increase) / decrease in Assets

7.1.1 Reconciliation of cash

Current receivables (a)

(11 984)

Other current assets

142

Current

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

5 512
(a)

Total Current

2 708

(a)

Other current liabilities

(1 809)

69 497

Non-current provisions

(418)

Other current liabilities

Non current
- Accrued salaries suspense account

Current payables

63 985

(b)

Total Non-current
Balance at end of period

633
633
70 130

(a) Composed of the Waste Avoidance Resource Recovery account ($38.6 million), Low Emissions
Energy Development fund ($9m), Environmental Offsets account ($8.2 million), and other funds ($8.2
million) that are restricted in their purpose and cannot be used in general operations.
(b) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting period
that occurs every 11th year. This account is classified as non-current for 10 out of 11 years.

Net GST receipts / (payments)

1 658
(1 241)

(b)

Change in GST in receivables/ payables

2 106

(c)

Net cash used in operating activities

(46 107)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form
part of the reconciling items.		
(b) This is the net GST paid/received i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise of cash on hand and funds
held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay.
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7.2 Commitments

7.2.2 Capital Commitments
2018
($’000)

7.2.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
2018
($’000)
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:		
Within 1 year

9 397

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

22 043

Later than 5 years

47 299

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure
additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements are payable as
follows:
Within 1 year

180
180

The totals presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive

78 738

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.
The department has entered into 11 property leases which are non-cancellable
and rents are payable monthly in advance. The leases have terms ranging from
within one to 15 years; some with options to renew at the end of the lease.
The department’s accommodation leases account for $8.76 million of the noncancellable operating lease commitments for 2018. Above lease commitment
include $69.5m payable to Department of Finance relating to 8 Davidson Terrace
Joondalup accommodation where the department is planning to relocate.
The department’s fleet leases account for $1.95 million of the non-cancellable
operating lease commitments for 2018. The lease term varies depending on the
vehicle. The lease payments are fixed for the term of the lease and are payable
monthly. There is no option to renew the lease at the end of the lease term. The
department leases its motor vehicle fleet and certain office premises. The lease
expenditure is expensed as it is incurred. Motor vehicle leasing arrangements are
under the terms of the State Fleet Funding Facility Contract administered by State
Fleet - State Supply Commission.
The department’s printer leases account for $0.16 million of the non-cancellable
operating lease commitments for 2018. The lease term is two years. The lease
payments are variable for the term of the lease based on an agreed volume
of copies and are payable monthly. There are two optional one year contract
extensions to the lease exercisable at the discretion of the department at the end of
the lease term. The lease expenditure is expensed as it is incurred.

7.2.3 Other expenditure commitments
2018
($’000)
Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting
period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

6 263

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

24
6 287

The totals presented for other expenditure commitments are GST inclusive.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies –
operating lease commitments
The department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office
accommodation. Some of these leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature
and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as
operating leases.
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8 Risks and contingencies
This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques
of the department.
Note
Financial risk management

8.1

Contingent assets

8.2.1

Contingent liabilities

8.2.2

Fair value measurements

8.3

8.1 Financial risk management
Financial instruments held by the department are cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables and payables. The
department has limited exposure to financial risks. The department’s overall risk
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.
8.1 (a) Summary of risks and risk management
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the department’s receivables
defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation
to each class of recognised financial asset is the gross carrying amount of those
assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at Note
8.1(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and Note 6.1 ‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the department’s financial assets is minimal because
the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For
receivables other than Government the department trades only with recognised
creditworthy third parties. The department has policies in place to ensure that sales
of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result
that the department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting
period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the department is unable to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due.
The department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course
of business.
The department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including
drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates
and interest rates will affect the department’s income or the value of its holdings of
financial instruments. The department does not trade in foreign currency and is not
materially exposed to other price risks. The department’s exposure to market risk
for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term debt obligations.
Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 8.1(e)
the department is not exposed to interest rate risk because the majority of cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and it has no
borrowings.
8.1 (b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
2018
($’000)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

5 512

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

64 618

Receivables

29 266

(a)

Amount receivable for services

37 272

Total financial assets

136 668

Financial liabilities
Payables

9 217

Total financial liability

9 217

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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8.1 (c) Ageing analysis of financial assets
Year ended 30 June 2018

2018
Cash and cash equivalents

Carrying
amount

Not past
due and not
impaired

Up to 1
month

1-3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1-5 years

Impaired
financial
assets

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

5 512

5 512

5 512

-

-

-

-

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

64 618

64 618

64 618

-

-

-

-

Receivables

29 266

28 456

520

112

178

-

(63)

37 272

-

-

950

5 357

30 965

-

136 668

98 586

70 650

1 062

5 535

30 965

(63)

(a)

Amount receivable for services

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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8.1 (d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the agency’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section
includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.				
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure

2018

Maturity dates

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount

Fixed
interest
rate

Variable
interest
rate

Noninterest
bearing

Nominal
amount

Up to
1 month

1-3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1-5
years

More
than
5 years

%

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

5 512
1.96

5 512

64 618

39 063

29 266

(a)

Amount receivable for services

37 272
136 668

-

39 063

5 512

5 512

25 555

64 618

63 985

29 266

29 266

29 266

37 272

37 272

97 605

136 668

98 763

9 217

9 217

1 544

9 217

9 217

1 544

633
950

5 357

30 965

950

5 357

30 965

6 015

1 658

6 015

1 658

633

Financial liabilities
Payables

9 217
9 217

-

-

-

-

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

8.1 (e)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the agency’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the
period and equity for a 1 per cent change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
-100 basis points

2018

+100 basis points

Carrying
amount

Surplus

Equity

Surplus

Equity

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Financial assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

39 063

(391)

(391)

391

391

(391)

(391)

391

391

Financial liabilities
Total increase / (decrease)
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8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

Contaminated sites

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of
financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal
value.
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or
payable respectively.

There is an outstanding contingent liability in relation to the remediation of
the Brookdale Liquid Waste Treatment Facility in agreement with the Water
Corporation.

8.2.1 Contingent assets

The following contingent assets are excluded from the assets included in the
financial statements:

Benefit potentially receivable in relation to Supreme Court action involving
Fobbing Hall Pty Ltd.
Benefit potentially receivable in relation to Supreme Court action involving R.C.G
Technologies Pty Ltd.

400
780

2018
($’000)
Benefit potentially receivable from the state's claim for outstanding waste levies
involving Moltoni Corporation Pty Ltd (amount is plus costs and penalties)

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, State Agencies are required to report
known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Water and
Environmental Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the Act, the DWER
classifies these sites on the basis of risk to human health, the environment and
environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated - remediation
required or possibly contaminated - investigation required, the department may
have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

1 400

8.3 Fair value measurements
Assets measured at fair value: 2018

100
2 940

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Fair value at
the end of
period

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

4 440

8.2.2 Contingent liabilties

The following contingent liabilities are excluded from the liabilities included in the
financial statements:
Potential costs outcome in relation to state's claim for outstanding waste levies
involving Moltoni Corporation Pty Ltd.

100

Cost potentially payable in relation to WA Industrial Relations Commission
action involving termination of registered employee.

180

Costs potentially payable in relation to Supreme Court action involving Fobbing
Hall Pty Ltd.

100

Land (Note 5.1)

-

39 538

110 501

150 039

Buildings (Note 5.1)

-

2 719

2 061

4 780

Measurement Sites (Note 5.1)

-

-

162 153

162 153

-

42 257

274 715

316 972

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Land and Buildings (office accommodation) are derived using
the market approach. Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and
buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per
square metre.
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Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

2018
Transfers from the former agencies

Land

Buildings

Measurement
Sites

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

111 980

2 135

162 077

-

-

2 842

Revaluation increments/(decrements)
recognised in Other comprehensive
income

(733)

(21)

1 305

Transfers from/(to) Level 2

(347)

-

-

Disposals

(399)

-

-

-

(53)

(4 071)

110 501

2 061

162 153

Additions

Depreciation expense
Fair value at end of period

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under ‘Other Gains’
Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.
Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event
or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are generally
limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s
instructions require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised
within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a
recurring basis.

Measurement Sites (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to
the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the
asset i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the
current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated
on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic
benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current
replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable
replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project
size specifications.
Valuation using depreciation replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input,
consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) for buildings
and internally for measurement sites. The fair value measurement is sensitive to
the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate
correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings.
Basis of valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some
non-financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions
or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not
determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue
of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

Land (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for
land with low level utility (high restricted use land). The relevant comparators of land
with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input
in this valuation methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values
of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with higher
estimated fair values of land.
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9 Other disclosures

9.1 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other
pronouncements for the understanding of this financial report.

Note
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

9.1

Key management personnel

9.2

Related party transactions

9.3

Related bodies

9.4

Affiliated bodies

9.5

Special purpose accounts

9.6

Indian Ocean Territories Account

9.7

Remuneration of auditors

9.8

Non‑current assets classified as assets held for sale

9.9

Equity

9.10

Supplementary financial information

9.11

Explanatory statement

9.12

The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’
or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where applicable the department plans to apply the following
Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for
reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB 9

Financial Instruments

1 Jan 2018

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing
a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The department has not assessed that recognition
of expected credit losses yet which may increase the
amount of impairment losses recognised as Other
expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income,
and thus have an adverse impact on the department’s
Surplus/(Deficit) for the period.

AASB 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 Jan 2019

This Standard establishes the principles that the
department shall apply to report useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
rising from a contract with a customer. The mandatory
application date of this Standard is currently 1 January
2019 after being amended by AASB 2016-7.
Department’s income is significantly derived from
appropriations which will be measured under AASB
1058 and will be unaffected by this change. However
the department has not yet determined the potential
impact of the Standard on ‘User charges and fees’
revenue. In broad terms, it is anticipated that the
terms and conditions attached to these revenues will
defer revenue recognition until the department has
discharged its performance obligations.
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Operative for
reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB 16

Leases

1 Jan 2019

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting
model and requires a lessee to recognise assets
and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than
12 months unless the underlying asset is of low
value.

Operative for
reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB
2010-7

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors
This Standard addresses the accounting for a
service concession arrangement (a type of public
private partnership) by a grantor that is a public
sector department by prescribing the accounting
for the arrangement rom the grantor’s perspective.
Timing and measurement for the recognition of a
specific asset class occurs on commencement of
the arrangement and the accounting for associated
liabilities is determined by whether the grantee is paid
by the grantor or users of the public service provided.
The department has not identified any public private
partnerships within scope of the Standard.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has
been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to
1 January 2018. Other than the exposures to AASB 9
noted above the Model department is only insignificantly
impacted by the application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB
2014-1

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income
recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit
(NFP) entities more closely reflecting the economic
reality of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts
with customers. Timing of income recognition is
dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to
a liability or other performance obligation (a promise
to transfer a good or service) or a ontribution by
owners related to an asset (such as cash or another
asset) received by an department. The department
anticipates that the application will not materially impact
appropriation or untied grant revenues.

AASB 1059

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments
to other Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in
December 2010.

Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been
quantified the entity currently has commitments for $78
738 000 worth of non-cancellable operating leases
which will mostly be brought onto the Statement of
Financial Position. Interest and amortisation expense
will increase and rental expense will decrease.

AASB 1058

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4,
5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131,
132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12,
19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB
9 and consequential amendments to other Standards.
These changes have no impact as Appendix E has been
superseded and the department was not permitted to
early adopt AASB 9.

AASB
2014-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance
of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this
Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1
January 2018. The department has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB
2014-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of
AASB 9 (December 2014). The department has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.
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Operative for
reporting
periods beginning
on/after

AASB
2015-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Effective Date of AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Clarifications to AASB 15

Compensation band ($)
1 Jan 2018

This Standard clarifies identifying performance
obligations principal versus agent considerations timing
of recognising revenue from granting a licence and
provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15.
The department has not yet determined the application
or the potential impact when the deferred AASB 15
becomes effective from 1 January 2019.

AASB
2016-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities

AASB
2016-8

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and
authoritative implementation guidance for not-forprofit
entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance
assists not-for-profit entities in applying those standards
to particular transactions and other events. There is no
financial impact.

2018

$350 001 - $360 000

1

$220 002 - $230 000

2

$210 002 - $220 000

4

$200 001 - $210 000

2

$190 000 - $200 000

1

$90 000 - $120 000

1

1 Jan 2018

2018
($’000)

This Standard defers for not-for-profit entities the
mandatory application date of AASB 15 to 1 January
2019 and the consequential amendments that were
originally set out in AASB 2014-5. There is no financial
impact arising from this standard.
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-forProfit Entities

The department has determined key management personnel to include cabinet
ministers and senior officers of the department. The department does not incur
expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be found in the
Annual Report on State Finances.
The total fees salaries superannuation non-monetary benefits and other benefits for
senior officers of the department for the reporting period are presented within the
following bands:

This Standard amends the mandatory application date
of AASB 15 to 1 January 2018 (instead of 1 January
2017). It also defers the consequential amendments
that were originally set out in AASB 2014-5. There is no
financial impact arising from this Standard.

AASB
2016-3

9.2 Key management personnel

Short-term employee benefits

1 Jan 2019

1 899

Post-employment benefits

239

Other long-term benefits

227

Total compensation of senior officers

2 366

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the
department in respect of senior officers.
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9.3 Related party transactions

•

The department is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the
State of Western Australia.

commitment relating to lease rental payable to Department of Finance
($77 million Note 7.2.1)

•

Department of Biodiversity Conservation and Attractions
($2.6 million Note 3.2)

Related parties of the department include:
•

all cabinet ministers and their close family members and their controlled or
jointly controlled entities

•

all senior officers and their close family members and their controlled or jointly
controlled entities

•

other departments and statutory authorities including related bodies that are
included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements (i.e.
wholly-owned public sector entities)

•

associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity;

•

superannuation payments to GESB (Note 3.1(a))

Significant transactions with government-related entities

Material transactions with other related parties
•

superannuation payments to GESB ($6.9 million Note 3.1(a))

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the department there were no
other related party transactions that involved key management personnel and/or
their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

9.4 Related bodies
The department currently does not provide any assistance to other agencies which
would deem them to be regarded as related bodies under the definitions included
in Treasurer’s Instruction 951 “Related and Affiliated Bodies”.

9.5 Affiliated bodies

In conducting its activities the department is required to transact with the state and
entities related to the state. These transactions are generally based on the standard
terms and conditions that apply to all agencies. Such transactions include:

The department currently does not provide any assistance to other agencies which
would deem them to be regarded as related bodies under the definitions included
in Treasurer’s Instruction 951 “Related and Affiliated Bodies”.

•

income from state government ($93 million Note 4.1)

9.6 Special purpose accounts

•

equity contributions ($10 million Note 9.10)

•

services rendered ($0.3 million) or received ($1.7million) free of charge
(Note 4.1 and Note 11)

•

lease rentals payments to the Department of Finance (Government Office
Accommodation $7.6 million and State Fleet $1.9 million Note 3.3) and the
Housing Authority (Government Regional Officer Housing $0.3 million
Note 3.1) and related outstanding balances (Note 7.2.1)

•

Royalties for Regions Fund ($8.4 million Note 4.1)

•

remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General ($0.3 million
Note 9.8).

•

insurance premium paid to Risk Cover during the year ($0.7 million Note 3.3)

•

grants received from other state agencies during the year
($3.6 million Note 4.1)

Reserve 31165 Trust Account (b)
The purpose of the account is to Joint management as specifies in clause 9 of
the Agreement and in relation to land south of Lake Argyle for the purposes of
protecting the water resource value of Lake Argyle and the Ord River Dam.
2018
($’000)
Transferred from the former agencies

330

Receipts

151

Payments

-

Balance at end of period

481
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9.7 Indian Ocean Territories Account

Contaminated Sites Management Account (a)
The purpose of the account is to enable investigation or remediation of any site
where the state or a public authority (excluding Local Government) is responsible
for remediation. The account also funds the department’s costs of investigation and
ensuring compliance with notices.

Indian Ocean Territories Account (Water activities)
The purpose of the account is to account for Commonwealth funds for service
delivery arrangements for services by the department to the Indian Ocean
Territories.

2018
($’000)
Transferred from the former agencies

1 942

Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

171
(250)
1 863

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account (a)
The purpose of the account is to: encourage the conservation of resources and
energy through waste reduction and recycling; to promote support and encourage
viable alternatives to landfill disposal of waste; to encourage applied research and
the development of appropriate waste management waste reduction and recycling
infrastructure and markets. The account is used to fund nominated programs and
other waste management initiatives approved by the Minister for the Environment on
the advice of the Waste Authority of Western Australia.
2018
($’000)
Transferred from the former agencies

33 246

Receipts

19 862

Payments

(14 526)

Balance at end of period

2018
($’000)
Transferred from the former agencies

4

Receipts

3

Payments

(3)

Balance at end of period

4

Indian Ocean Territories Account (Environmental activities)
The purpose of the account is to account for Commonwealth funds for service
delivery arrangements for services by the department to the Indian Ocean
Territories.
2018
($’000)
Transferred from the former agencies

33

Receipts

292

Payments

(322)

Balance at end of period

3

38 581

(a) Established under section 16(1)(c) of FMA.
(b) Established under section 16(1)(b) of FMA.
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9.8 Remuneration of auditors

9.10 Equity

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the
current financial year is as follows:
Contributed equity

2018
($’000)
Auditing the accounts financial statements controls and key performance
indicators

2018
($’000)

Balance at start of period

269
269

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation
Net assets transferred in Note

9.9 Non-current assets classified as assets held for sale

Total contributions by owners

The following table represents a summary of assets held for sale:

Distributions to owners

Land

2018
Transferred from the former agencies

(a)

($’000)

Less writedown
from cost to
fair
value less
selling costs

Total

($’000)

($’000)

1 055

-

1 055

(700)

-

(700)

Total assets classified as held for sale

355

-

355

Less assets sold

355

-

355

Closing balance

-

-

-

Total assets reclassified as Property Plant
and Equipment

(a) During the 2012-13 year the Minister agreed to the sale of a series of land parcels owned by the
department but are no longer required. There were no parcels of land remaining held for sale as at
the end of 2017-18 financial year.						

-

10 264
465 227

(a)

475 491

Transfer to consolidated account

(63 730)

Total distributions to owners

(63 730)

Balance at end of period

411 761

2018
($’000)

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period

-

Net revaluation increments /(decrements)
Measurement Sites

1 305

Balance at end of period

1 305

a) The Department of Water (DoW) Department of Environment Regulation (DER) and Office of
The Environmental Protection Authority (OEPA) were amalgamated to form a new department i.e
Department of Water and Enviornmental Regulation on 1 July 2017.
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Assets and Liabilities transferred from former agencies at 1 July 2017 are as
follows:

9.11 Supplementary financial information
a) Write-offs

DER

DOW

OEPA

Total

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Cash assets

61 148

26 464

917

88 529

Receivables

19 496

28 285

723

48 504

Other current assets

410

2 824

-

3 234

9

27 344

77

27 430

2 496

327 314

259

330 069

(628)

(3 213)

(195)

(4 036)

Provisions

(9 337)

(15 757)

(2 153)

(27 247)

Other liabilities

(1 084)

(172)

-

(1 256)

Total Net Assets

72 510

393 089

(372)

465 227

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Payables

There were no write-offs during the year.
b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
During the financial year nil, losses of public money and public and other property
through theft or default
c) Gifts of public property
The department had no gifts of public property during the financial year.

9.12 Explanatory statement (Controlled Operations)
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2018 are
shown below. Narratives are provided for key major variances which are generally
greater than:
• 2 per cent and $3.6 million for the Statements of comprehensive income and
cash flows, and
• 2 per cent and $8.2 million for the Statement of financial position.
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9.12.1 Statement of comprehensive income variances
Variance
Note

Estimate
2018
($’000)

Actual
2018
($’000)

Variance
2018
($’000)

Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services

1

97 876

1 716

38 306

31 689

6 617

Service appropriation
State grants

13 334

10 380

2 954

Accommodation expenses

10 542

9 695

847

2

Other expenses
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total cost of services

Estimate
2018
($’000)

Actual
2018
($’000)

Variance
2018
($’000)

Income from state
government

99 592

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Grants and subsidies

Variance
Note

90 813

92 892

2 079

4

-

3 835

3 835

1 775

1 708

(67)

5

17 166

8 287

(8 879)

Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund

14 209

18 463

(4 254)

4 276

4 724

(448)

Total income from state government

109 754

106 722

(3 032)

-

582

(582)

54 300

(21 824)

173 409

6 850

Surplus for the period

38 539

180 259

Total comprehensive income
for the period		

38 539

54 300

(21 824)

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and
contributions
Waste Levy
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total revenue

3

23 797

25 029

1 232

3 951

2 467

(1 484)

76 000

75 509

(491)

750

735

(15)

4 546

17 244

12 698

109 044

120 984

11 940

-

2

2

-

2

2

109 044

120 986

11 942

71 215

52 423

18 792

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Other gains
Total gains
Total income other than income from
state government

Net cost of services
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Major Estimate and Actual (2018) Variance Narratives
1. Supplies and services was underspent by $6.6 million mainly due to the
transfer of Royalties for Regions Water for Food programs to the Department
of Primary Industries and Regional Development. In addition delays were
experienced in the commercement of some Waste Avoidance and Resource
Recovery Account programs which further reduced expenditure.
2. Grants and subsidies was overspent primarily due to unanticipated expenses
within Rural Water Grants and the Vegetation Offsets Account. Further
the National Partnership Program was reclassified as controlled from the
Administered Accounts where it was previously budgeted. This was partially
offset by an underspend within the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery
Account due to project commencement delays.
3. On 12 June 2018 the creditors of Eclipse Resources Pty Ltd voted in favour of
a proposal to pay the department a $10 million settlement over the recovery of
unpaid Waste Levies.
4. These grants were cost recoveries related to environmental monitoring and
the operation of oxygenation plants in the Swan Canning Estuary and analysis
for the Peel Integrated Water Initiative funded by Department of Biodiversity
Conservation and Attractions. This revenue could not be reliably estimated at
the time of budget preparation.
5. The Water for Food programs were originally budgeted under the Royalties for
Regions program. Subsequently the programs were transferred to Department
of Primary Industries and Regional Development.

9.12.2 Statement of financial position variances
Variance
Note

Estimate
2018

Actual
2018

Variance
2018

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

10 080

5 512

(4 568)

Restricted cash and cash
equivalents

6

45 056

63 985

18 929

Receivables

7

1 214

30 457

29 243

7 711

6 307

(1 404)

17 737

1 598

(16 139)

81 798

107 859

26 061

718

633

(85)

32 318

30 965

(1 353)

274 245

337 523

63 278

21 953

24 866

2 913

59

-

(59)

Total non-current assets

329 293

393 987

64 694

Total assets

411 091

501 846

90 755

Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets

7

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents
Amounts receivable for services
Infrastructure property, plant and
equipment
Intangible assets
Other

8
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Major Estimate and Actual (2018) Variance Narratives
Variance
Note

Estimate
2018

Actual
2018

Variance
2018

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables

1 503

7 559

(6 056)

19 515

19 836

(321)

Other current liabilities

1 249

354

895

Total current liabilities

22 267

27 749

(5 482)

Employee related provisions

Non-current liabilities
Payables
5 471

5 073

398

Other non-current liabilities

Employee related provisions

7

1 658

(1 651)

Total non-current liabilities

5 478

6 731

(1 253)

27 745

34 480

(6 735)

383 346

467 366

84 020

284 307

411 761

(127 454)

Reserves

60 500

1 305

59 195

Accumulated surplus

38 539

54 300

(15 761)

383 346

467 366

(84 020)

Total liabilities

Net assets

6. Restricted cash and cash equivalents is $19 million (42 per cent) greater than
forecast. The variance is primarily due to delays in spending within the Waste
Avoidance and Resource Recovery Account. This was partially offset by the
transfer of Royalties for Regions Water for Food programs to the Department
of Primary Industries and Regional Development and the associated restricted
funds.
7. On 12 June 2018, the creditors of Eclipse Resources Pty Ltd voted in favour
of a proposal to pay the department a $10 million settlement over the recovery
of unpaid Waste Levies. This was subsequently received in July 2018. Further
$17 million Waste Levy accrued income was classified as other current assets
within the budget.
8. The revaluation process for measurement sites was was not finalised at the
time of 2017–18 budget estimate preparation. An unanticipated revaluation
increment and consequent increase in asset values as a result of the
revaluation was therefore not anticipated within the 2017–18 budget.

Equity
Contributed equity

Total equity
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9.12.3 Statement of cash flows variances
Variance
Note

Estimate
2018

Actual
2018

Variance
2018

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Cash flows from state government

Estimate
2018

Actual
2018

Variance
2018

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Statement of cash flows

Service appropriation
Cash transferred in

Variance
Note

9

Capital appropriations
Holding account drawdown

77 311

77 120

(191)

58 350

88 529

30 179

11 329

10 264

(1 065)

4 622

7 354

2 732

Distributions to owner

9

(40 030)

(63 730)

(23 700)

Royalties for Regions Fund

5

17 166

8 287

(8 879)

State grants

4

-

3 835

3 835

128 748

131 659

(924)

Net cash provided by state government

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets

(17 139)

(15 743)

1 396

320

320

(17 139)

(15 423)

1 716

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets

Cash flows from investing
activities

Cash flows from operating activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

55 854

70 128

14 274

Payments

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the period

58 350

-

58 350

114 204

70 130

44 074

Employee benefits

(99 201)

(99 214)

(13)

(34 672)

(28 039)

6 633

Accommodation

(10 542)

(9 699)

843

Grants and subsidies

(14 209)

(11 688)

2 521

Supplies and services

1

GST payments on purchases

10

-

(8 601)

(8 601)

Other payments

10

(14 662)

(3 986)

10 676

Receipts
Sale of goods and services
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions

3 783
24 675

878

3 951

2 302

(1 649)

530

530

76 000

73 971

(2 029)

-

909

909

Interest received
Waste levy
GST receipts on sales

(3 783)

23 797

GST receipts from taxation authority

8 487

6 451

(2 036)

Other receipts

1 513

6 282

4 769

(55 755)

(46 107)

9 648

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating
activities

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the period

Major Estimate and Actual (2018) Variance Narratives
9. Cash transferred in included additional funds transferred back to the
Consolidated account that were not included in the original estimates.
10. GST payments on purchases were budgeted under other expense payments.
Hence the negative variance of this item is offset by the positive variance of
other expense payments.
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10.1 Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service
This section sets out all of the statutory disclosures regarding the financial performance of the department
Note
Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service

10.1

Explanatory statement for administered items

10.2

Administered assets and liabilities

10.3

Water
information
and advice

Water
planning,
allocation
and
optimisation

Water
regulation,
licensing
and industry
governance

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

Environmental
regulation

2018
($’000)

Environment
policy

Waste
strategies

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

Environmental
impact
assessment
services to the
Environmental
Protection
Authority
(EPA)

Environmental
management
services to the
EPA

Compliance
monitoring
services to the
Minister for
Environment

General - not
attributed

Total

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

2018
($’000)

Income from
administered items
Income
For transfer:
Regulatory fees and other
charges (a)
National Partnership Payments

100

100
-

(b)

Total administered income

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100

100

97

97

97

97

Expenses
Payments into the Consolidated
account
Total administered expenses

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(a) Payments into the Consolidated account included water fines collected on behalf of Water Corporation.
(b) Commonwealth grant received for National Water Infrastructure Development Fund project during the year.
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10.2 Explanatory statement for administered items

10.3 Administered assets and liabilities

All variances between estimates ( original budget) and actual results for 2018.
Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are generally greater than
5% and $1 100.
Variance
Note

Estimate
2018

Actual
2018

Variance
2018

($’000)

($’000)

($’000)

Income from administered
items
Income

2018
($’000)

Asset
Current asset
Cash and cash equivalents

3

Total administered current assets

3

Total administered assets

3

Liability

For transfer:

Current liability

Regulatory fees and other charges

1

55

100

45

National partnership payments

2

3 770

-

(3 770)

Payables

3

3 825

100

(3 725)

Total administered current liabilities

3

Total administered liabilities

3

Total administered income
Expenses
Payments into the consolidated account

1

55

97

(42)

Grants & subsidies-recurrent

2

3 770

-

3 770

3 825

97

3 728

Total administered expenses

(a) Payments into the Consolidated account included water fines collected on behalf of Water Corporation, and environmental
infringement regulatory fees and fines collected on behalf of government.

Major Estimate and Actual (2018) Variance Narratives
1. Regulatory fees and other charges were greater than anticipated due to a $50
000 Modified Penalty Notice issued in relation to environmental breaches. This
in turn resulted in a higher return back into the Consolidated Account.
2. The funding agreement with Commonwealth for National Water Infrastructure
Development Fund was incorrectly budgeted under the Administered
Account. Subsequently it was reclassified into the Department of Water and
Enviornmental Regulation’s controlled account.
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11 Resources provided free of charge
During the period the following resources were provided to other agencies free of
charge for functions outside the normal operations of the department
State Governments Departments and agencies

2018
($’000)

Keep Australia Beautiful Council (WA)

260

Main Roads WA

53

Other agencies

17

Total resources provided free of charge

330
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Key performance indicators
Certification of key performance indicators
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2018

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation’s
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation for the reporting period ended 30 June 2018.

Mike Rowe
Director General
Date 27 August 2018
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Outcome-based management framework

Following the Machinery of Government
changes, the Department of Water, the
Department of Environment Regulation
and the Office of the Environmental
Protection Authority were amalgamated
and formed the Department of Water and
Environmental Regulation (DWER) on 1
July 2017. This is the first reporting period
for the department post amalgamation.

Government goal
Better places:
A quality environment
with liveable
and affordable
communities and
vibrant regions.

Agency outcome

Agency services
1. Water information and advice

Western Australia’s growth and development is
supported by the sustainable management of water
resources for the long-term benefit of the state.

2. Water Planning, Allocation
and Optimisation
3. Water Regulation, Licensing
and Industry Governance.

Emissions, discharges and clearing of native
vegetation are effectively regulated to avoid
unacceptable risks to public health and the
environment.

4. Environmental Regulation.

Development and implementation of strategic
policy and legislation that promoted sustainable
environmental outcomes.

5. Environmental Policy.

Waste avoided and the recovery of materials from
landfill maximised.

6. Waste Strategies.

Quality advice to the Environmental Protection
Authority (EPA) and Minister for Environment (the
Minister) on significant proposals and environmental
issues.

Compliance with Ministerial statement implementation
conditions are monitored effectively.

7. Environmental Impact
Assessment Services to the
EPA.
8. Environmental Management
Services to the EPA.
9. Compliance Monitoring
Services to the Minister for
Environment.

Results with significant variances of 10 per cent or more compared to the target results are explained.
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Key effectiveness indicators
List of indicators
►► Key effectiveness indicators

page
1.

Proportion of stakeholders who perceive the department to be
effectively managing the state’s water as a resource for sustainable,
productive use

148

2.

Proportion of priority growth areas that have a water supply planning
strategy

149

3.

Percentage of regulatory compliance activities completed as planned

149

4.

Percentage of potential environmental risks identified during compliance
monitoring program that are rectified within two months

150

5.

Percentage of advice and recommendations that met Ministerial
approval, without the need for significant modification

151

6.

Percentage of Municipal Solid Waste reported as diverted from landfill
through recycling compared to waste strategy target in the Perth
Metropolitan Region

151

7

Percentage of Commercial and Industrial Waste reported as diverted
from landfill through recycling compared to the state-wide waste
strategy target

151

Percentage of Construction and Demolition Waste reported as diverted
from landfill through recycling compared to the state-wide waste
strategy target

152

The EPA’s satisfaction with the Department’s Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA) service, during the year, in line with Best Practice
Principles of EIA

152

8.

9.

10. Percentage of project-specific conditions which did not require
significant change following the appeal process

152

11. Percentage of assessments that met agreed timelines

153

12. The EPA’s satisfaction with the Department’s provision of environmental
management services during the year

153

13. The number of Ministerial Statements audited compared to targets

153

1.

Proportion of stakeholders who perceive the department to be
effectively managing the state’s water as a resource for sustainable,
productive use(a)

(a)	

The 2017–18 survey results have a confidence interval of
+/-4.7% at 95% confidence level. Other survey statistics
include:
- Population size: 1 351 stakeholders
- Stakeholders invited to participate: 1 351
- Number of respondents: 326
- Response rate: 24%

Target 60%
Actual 64%

The management of the state’s water resources to enable growth and
development is a core objective for the department, and this occurs within the
context of ensuring the sustainability of the resources and their dependent
environments.
The department has many stakeholders with competing interests, including those
from industry, investment, community and environmental sectors.
A survey was conducted in March 2018 with the intent to determine the extent
to which stakeholders perceive the department to be effectively fulfilling the
statutory and other obligations that form its core role rather than satisfaction with
a particular decision or handling of a specific issue.
The indicator is based on feedback received from the stakeholders through the
survey. It is calculated as a percentage of respondents answering ‘Very effective’
or ‘Quite effective’ to a question in the survey about their perception of the
department effectively managing the state’s water as a resource for sustainable
productive use. The other options for selection included ‘Neither one nor the
other’, ‘Quite ineffective’, ‘Very ineffective’ or ‘Don’t know’.
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2.

Proportion of priority growth areas that have a
water supply planning strategy

3.
Target 94%
Actual 75%

In priority growth areas, the department develops a water
supply plan or strategy to identify current and future water
resource and supply options to meet demand for industry
and population growth over the long-term. This supports the timely development
of resource and supply options to meet demand in areas of state priority.
Priority growth areas are selected based on advice from an inter-agency Senior
Officers Group (water supply planning). Projects included under priority growth
areas have strategic significance for the state, and areas identified through the
Water Supply-Demand Model as having a gap between future water demand and
water availability.

Percentage of regulatory compliance activities
completed as planned

Target 100%
Actual 78%

During the compliance inspection program the department
identifies compliance or non-compliance with the regulatory
requirements. Non-compliance is broken down into three
types—administrative non-compliance, operational non-compliance and emissions.
Administrative non-compliances are technical in nature and low risk, such as a
required report being submitted one day late. This will not cause an environmental
impact and can usually be rectified in further through education.
Operational non-compliance can be low or medium risk, such as a crack in a retaining
wall, which may not have caused an emission or discharge at present; however, it
may in the future if not rectified.

The indicator is calculated as a percentage of the priority growth areas with a
water supply planning strategy out of the total priority growth areas identified.

If a licensee fails or repeatedly disregards licence condition, or there is an emission
or discharge, enforcement action is considered in accordance with the department’s
compliance and enforcement policy.

►► Variance analysis

The department monitors and educates licensees for the lower risk
of non-compliances.

The result represents a total of 12 completed planning strategies against the
planned 16 identified priority growth areas as part of the four year program
commenced under the Department of Water in 2013–14. Of the remaining areas,
Myalup-Wellington and Southern Forests irrigated agriculture investments cases
could not meet the definition of a water supply strategy following the transfer of
the Water for Food project to the Department of Primary Industries and Regional
Development. Furthermore the Gascoyne Master Plan could not be finalised
during 2017–18.

The indicator is aimed at providing assurance that the department’s staff identify and
work to rectify low risk non-compliance before it becomes an emission
or discharge.
►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Actual and the 2017–18 Target results is due
to the targeting of high risk areas where the matters are often more complex and
protracted than general compliance activities.
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Members of the public or licenced companies can contact the Pollution Watch
Hotline and inform the department of incidents where there may be a risk to the
environment. The department conducts a risk assessment and may divert resources
from the planned compliance program to undertake unplanned compliance
inspections if the risk is considered high. The department undertook 59 unplanned
inspections in the 2017–18 financial year. Unplanned inspections can be the result
of the incidence of non-compliance with a lawful requirement which can result in a
complex, detailed and lengthy investigation.
The department planned 350 inspections, of which it conducted 273. In addition,
there were 59 unplanned inspections. Therefore, the department undertook 332 total
inspections.

4.

Percentage of potential environmental risks
identified during compliance monitoring program
that are rectified within two months
Target 80%
Actual 45%

During the compliance inspection program the department
identifies compliance or non-compliance. Non-compliance
is broken down into three types—administrative noncompliance, operational non-compliance and emissions.
Administrative non-compliances are technical in nature and low risk, such as a
required report being submitted one day late. This will no cause an environmental
impact and can usually be rectified in further through education.

If a licensee fails or repeatedly disregards licence conditions, or there is an emission
or discharge, enforcement action is considered in accordance with the department’s
compliance and enforcement policy.
►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Actual and the 2017–18 Target is due to the
targeting of resources at areas of highest risk and the non-compliances identified are
generally more complex and rely on third party action to become compliant.
The target was implemented on basis of previous work practices where mainly
low risk and administrative issues were identified. Increased complexity of issues
required a longer timespan to get parties back into compliance. Moving from noncompliance to compliance might be a simple administrative or process fix, or it might
be a significant engineering upgrade to a facility that will take time.
The department has used a range of legislative notices, including Environmental
Protection Notices, Vegetation Conservation Notices, Closure Notices and
Prevention Notices to ensure compliance with lawful requirements is quickly
restored. Once a notice is issued the department maintains contact with recipient to
ensure they are undertaking the activities prescribed within the notice, and that the
notice is having the desired effect.
The indicator is aimed at providing assurance that the department’s staff identify and
work with relevant parties to rectify issues that may affect the environment.

Operational non-compliance can be low or medium risk, such as a crack in a
retaining wall. The non-compliance has not cause an emission or discharge, but may
if it is not rectified.
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5.

Percentage of advice and recommendations that
met Ministerial approval, without the need for
significant modification

Target 95%
Actual 97%

This indicator seeks to ensure that the advice provided by
the department is consistent with the government’s policy
direction by measuring how well it meets the Minister’s expectations.

6.

Percentage of municipal solid waste reported as
diverted from landfill through recycling compared
to waste strategy target in the Perth
metropolitan region

Target 50%
Actual 33%

The indicator is a direct measure of the effectiveness of the
government’s waste management goal of diverting waste
from landfill and reflects the target in the Waste Strategy.
Municipal solid waste includes construction and demolition waste generated by local
governments.
Due to significant time required to gather the relevant information, 2016–17 data was
used to calculate these indicators as reported in the Recycling Activity in Western
Australia 2016–17 report.
►► Variance analysis

from the kerbside. In Western Australia two bin systems, on average, diverted
around 20 per cent of waste from landfill in 2016–17. Three bin collection systems
are capable of achieving much higher diversion rates, averaging 51 per cent landfill
diversion across Western Australia in 2016–17. In 2016–17, only 17 per cent of
Perth metropolitan households had a third bin. It is anticipated that the roll-out of a
third kerbside bin by local governments under the Better Bins program will start to
have a positive impact on performance in future years.

7.

Percentage of commercial and industrial waste
reported as diverted from landfill through
recycling compared to the state-wide waste
strategy target

Target 55%
Actual 46%

The indicator is a direct measure of the effectiveness of the
government’s waste management goal of diverting waste from landfill and reflects
the target in the Waste Strategy.
►► Variance analysis
Increases in the waste levy rate since 2015 has increased the cost of landfilling but
led to a more limited response from the industry than expected. Although organic
waste already represents a significant proportion of recovered materials from the
commercial and industrial stream, there are likely to be significant opportunities to
improve performance against this target with increased recovery of this material
type.

The variance between the 2017–18 Actual and the 2017–18 Target reflects the
lack of significant change in the services and infrastructure being provided by local
governments to households. The majority of household waste is collected directly
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8.

Percentage of construction and demolition
waste reported as diverted from landfill through
recycling compared to the state-wide waste
strategy target

practice principle (currently, the International Association for Impact Assessment’s
principles of EIA best practice).
Target 60%
Actual 77%

The department strives to ensure that all advice provided to the EPA is as
practical, efficient, rigorous, participative and fit for purpose as possible. In
line with this goal, this year the EPA considered the EIA services provided by
the department were of a very high standard, which resulted in the KPI being
exceeded by more than 10 per cent.

The indicator is a direct measure of the effectiveness of the
government’s waste management goal of diverting waste
from landfill and reflects the target in the Waste Strategy.
►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Actual and the 2017–18 Target is primarily
due to a decrease in the total amount of construction and demolition (C&D)
waste reported as being disposed of to landfill rather than an increase in the
amount recycled. Scheduled increases in the waste levy since 2015 have made
C&D waste landfilling more cost prohibitive. Furthermore it is likely that industry
has engaged in more stockpiling of C&D waste in lieu of disposal which has
contributed to the decrease in the quantity of C&D disposed of to landfill thus
increasing the overall diversion rate.

9.

The EPA’s satisfaction with the department’s
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) service,
during the year, in line with best practice
principles of EIA

►► Variance analysis

Target 82%
Actual 97%

The indicator is determined through surveys of the EPA
members (service recipients) who rate the quality of each service against best

10. Percentage of project-specific conditions which
did not require significant change following the
appeal process

Target 80%
Actual 94%

The indicator assists stakeholders in ascertaining the
quality of conditions recommended by the department’s
EIA services. The department provides periodic reports
to the EPA outlining the results of the appeals process and drawing attention to
significant changes to the recommended conditions. This provides an important
part of the government’s expectation of a ‘continuous improvement loop’ in the
appeals process.
A significant change can be deemed as a substantial change to the form of a
condition, the deletion or addition of a new condition, a substantial change to
the outcome or objective specified in a condition. A substantial change to the
specified requirements of an Environmental Management Plan or Environmental
Monitoring Plan and a change to a prescribed action are determined on a case by
case basis.
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►► Variance analysis
The department strives to ensure the conditions recommended to the EPA are as
robust and comprehensive as the project requires and therefore does not require
substantial change by the Office of the Appeals Convenor. In line with this goal,
this year the department’s recommended conditions required minimal substantial
changes and therefore exceeded KPI by more than 10 per cent.

11. Percentage of assessments that met agreed
timelines
Target 83%
Actual 92%

The agreed timeline is stated in the EPA’s Report and
Recommendations and refers to the time between the
endorsement of the scoping document and the release
of the Report and Recommendations. The timeline for an
assessment may vary according to the complexity of the project and are usually
agreed with the proponent soon after the level of assessment is determined.
►► Variance analysis
The department strives to ensure that assessments are completed in a timely
manner and within the timelines published in EPA guidelines. In line with this goal,
this year the department exceed the KPI by more than 10 per cent.

12. The EPA’s satisfaction with the department’s
provision of environmental management services
during the year

Target 83%
Actual 90%

The level of quality is determined by the EPA with reference
to the desirable underlying qualities of good environmental management advice.
The EPA rates the quality of advice on strategic advice, statutory policies or
guidelines provided by the department.
Each of the EPA members who participate in a decision rates the product on
a scale of one to five (poor to excellent) and the scores of each member are
averaged, combined and proportionally adjusted to a percentage. The final
indicator is the average rating awarded to all environment management services
endorsed by the EPA during the period.

13. The number of Ministerial Statements audited
compared to targets
Target 100%
Actual 100%
Compliance monitoring is managed through a structured
annual compliance management program. The annual
program sets out the number of audits to be undertaken
and using a priority matrix, identifies the Ministerial Statements to be audited.
The Minister imposes conditions on proposals in order to ensure that they are
managed in an environmentally acceptable manner.
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Key efficiency indicators
Proportion of statutory referrals from decision making
authorities where advice is provided within target
timeframes

Service 1
Water information
and advice
The department enables investment
decisions of regional and state
significance through the provision of
data and information on the quantity,
quality, location of, and demand for, water
across the state. The information also
underpins policy advice for consideration
by government and supports other
government agencies and stakeholders in
their planning for future economic growth
and urban and rural development.

Target 96%
Actual 95%

Technically proficient, reliable and timely advice on the
state’s water resources enables effective decision-making
by Decision-Making Authorities (DMAs) that directly supports growth, development
and investment for the long-term benefit of the state. Decision-Making Authorities
include:
• Department of Water and Environmental Regulation
• Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage
• Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety
• Department of Local Government, Sports and Cultural Industries.
This includes advice about water availability; the avoidance, management and
mitigation of impacts on water resources; and the protection of public drinking
water sources.
This indicator represents a measure of the department’s timeliness with respect to
the provision of advice on various statutory referrals from DMAs. It demonstrates
the efficiency with which the department is meeting statutory timeframes in
providing water information and advice.
A statutory referral is a formal request for water advice from a DMA that has
a statutory timeframe associated with the provision of that water advice. This
indicator is calculated as a percentage of the total number of statutory referrals
from DMAs to the department for advice that met the 35 business day timeframe
within the period.
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Average cost per statutory referral assessment

This measure provides information on the amount of
operational expenditure being used for statutory referrals
that enable decisions on proposals that support the state’s
growth and development.

Target $10 273

Actual $13 072

The indicator is relevant to the service because it is a directly attributable
operational cost incurred in service delivery to meet the desired outcome.
An assessment is generated from both a formal request for water advice from
a DMA or proponent such as under the Better Urban Water Management
Framework. The indicator is calculated using the total cost of the Water
Information and Advice service divided by the total number of assessments
conducted within the period.
►► Variance analysis
The increase in Average cost per statutory referral assessment between the
2017–18 Target and 2017–18 Actual is due to the restructure, amalgamation and
reformed functions of the department following the Machinery of Government
changes. This initiated changes in the cost allocation methodology to
appropriately allocate the cost of service against all key efficiency indicators. As
the 2017–18 budgeting process was performed early during the amalgamation
process, the targets reported did not take into account the revised cost allocation
methodology based on which the actual KPI results have been reported.
The total number of statutory referral assessments completed during the period
remained on-target.

Average cost per water measurement site managed
Access to reliable and current information about water
resources – quantity and quality—is a core input to decision
making by government and water dependent businesses
that enables growth and development of the state.

Target $12 933

Actual $ 8 754

Stakeholders access water information and data to support investment and
business decisions. It also supports accurate water resource management
decisions and advice. To service this need, the department measures or holds
water data for over 116 000 ground water and surface water field sites, verifies and
stores the data and makes it available as water information.
Regular or periodic field measurements are essential to maintain up to date data,
and verification, storage and accessibility, are essential to make data available as
reliable information.
This indicator is calculated by dividing the number of active sites by annual cost of
water measurement and water information functions.
►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Actual and the 2017–18 Target results is due to
the increase in number of sites measured relating to groundwater resulting from
new investigations. Short term projects were undertaken in the West Canning
Basin for readings from many bores that had not been read for several years
contributing to the increased count of sites this year. The department undertakes
a number of short notice planned projects to maintain the specific science data
needs, investigations to address issues and to provide additional data for other
large projects. The variable nature of measurement for many of the measurement
projects can result in reasonably significant differences from year to year.
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Average cost per plan, report or guidance document to
support water planning, allocation and optimisation

Service 2
Water planning, allocation
and optimisation
Water planning, allocation and
optimisation ensures the sustainable
management of water resources for the
long term benefit of the state and rely
on good science. This includes planning
and allocating water for sustainable
productive use, protecting public
drinking water sources, and ensuring
the sustainability of water resources and
their dependent ecosystems.

Target $218 250

Water resources need to be sustainably managed to
Actual $417 794
achieve sufficient water quantity and quality for current
and future needs. Increasingly precise, systematic and
transparent management is predicated by science-based water allocation and
optimisation plans, reports and guidance documents.
They guide and define management decisions to meet demand and avoid,
mitigate or minimise unsustainable impacts on resources. With this in place
sufficient good quality surface and groundwater will remain an ongoing part of
future water supply for economic and population growth and the liveability of
towns and cities.
Average cost is calculated by dividing the cost of the services by the total number
of the following types of documents or advice produced:
1. Plans
•
•
•

Water allocation plan
Drinking water source protection plan
Statement of response to public submissions

2. Plans for public comment:
•
•

Water allocation plan for public comment
Water source protection plan for public comment

3. Technical reports
•
•
•

Drinking water source protection area assessments
Environmental water requirements reports
Allocation limits methods report
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4. Guidance documents
•
•
•
•
•

Water quality land use compatibility table
Pilbara water in mining guideline
Water allocation planning: a guide to our process
Water quality protection notes and information sheets
Local water licensing strategy

5. Status reports including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Jandakot and Gnangara compliance reports
Water allocation plan evaluations
Drinking water source protection reviews
State-wide planning reports (eg Water resources inventory)
Pre-planning or implementation phase status reports
Communication products (or sets of communication products)

Average cost per hour of scientific support for water
planning, allocation and optimisation

The sustainable management of water resources for the
long term benefit of the state relies on quality, contemporary
water science. The indicator will enable judgement about the
efficient application of the department’s science capacity.

Target $210

Actual $196

This indicator shows the average cost of providing scientific support for the
achievement of water planning, allocation and optimisation outcomes.
This indicator is calculated by dividing annual cost of FTE and operational
expenses by total hours worked by employees directly supporting scientific
outcomes for this service.

►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Actual and the 2017–18 Target results is
greater than expected, largely due to less documents or advice delivered than
the predicted target. This reflects the changes in the complexity of the work
(reprioritisation of available staff onto higher priority projects) increasing the cost
per document or advice. The focus on high priority projects, such as the next
Gnangara plan and government funded Water for Food projects, increased
the ratio of cost per product to deliver quality work for the public in high water
demand areas. There were also a number of factors that were outside of our
control, leading to less documents or advice delivered:
• Cost of severances and less internal staff
• Delays in delivery of technical advice
• Delays in the approvals and communications process.
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Average cost of assessing a water licence application by risk assessment
category:

Low risk

Service 3
Water regulation, licensing
and industry governance
Responsible, proportional regulation
ensures investment, growth and
development is underpinned by
sustainable management of the state’s
water resources for the long term benefit
of the state. This service includes the
management of water licensing. It
also includes the management of the
legislation governing the operations of
water service providers.

Medium risk

High risk

Target $ 4 790

Target $5 551

Target $8 571

Actual $1 701

Actual $14 297

Actual $28 762

Water licenses or access entitlements are a fundamental asset for giving confidence
in investment decisions. Responsible, proportional regulation gives confidence that
Western Australia’s water resources are being sustainably managed for the long
term benefit of the state. The average cost by risk category enables judgement
about the efficiency of water license assessments by risk category.
Licensing is the main tool for sharing and allocating the state’s water resources. A
water licence grants a licensee an entitlement to an allocation of a particular water
resource and is the regulatory tool to ensure efficient and sustainable productive
use of available water.
The indicator is calculated by using the departmental cost of the water licencing
service divided by the number of licence and permit applications assessed by risk
category within the period.
►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Actual costs and the 2017–18 Target costs
reflects a significant movement in the total number of assessments completed
across the three risk categories from what was forecasted. This movement
is a result of the transition to the new electronic licence assessment system
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(COMPASS), which implemented an improved risk assignment methodology that
more accurately reflects the actual risks posed by licence applications. Under
the previous assessment system, all Licence to ‘Construct or alter well’ (CAW)
and Permit applications would default to high risk, upwardly skewing the number
of high risk assessments. This default risk assignment has been abandoned in
the current year and CAW and Permit applications are now subject to individual
risk assessments that consider several different established risk factors. This
change has resulted in a significant decrease in the count of the number of high
risk assessments completed during the period, and a significant increase in the
count of the number of low risk assessments (many of which are CAW and Permit
applications) that was not anticipated during the 2017–18 budgeting process.
Going forward, the current results are considered an accurate reflection of the
costs of assessing water licence applications by risk category.

Average time taken (days) to assess a licence application by risk
assessment category:

Low risk
Target
65 days
Actual
73 days

Medium risk
Target
75 days
Actual
134 days

High risk

The indicator enables judgement about the department’s efficiency in decisionmaking about licence applications within this risk-based framework.
Licensing is the main tool for sharing and allocating the state’s water resources.
A water licence grants a licensee an entitlement to an allocation of a particular
water resource. Licensing application assessment times will vary according to the
category level of the licence being processed. Higher risk licence applications are
generally more complex and require more time to administer.
This indicator shows the average time taken to assess a licence or permit
application by risk category grouping. The indicator includes applications for
permits to interfere with bed and banks, licences to construct a well, licences to
access water, renewal of and amendments to existing licences to access water,
trades, transfers and agreements.
Risk categories for licence or permit applications guide the level of assessment
that is carried out by the department based on the risk should a licence or permit
be granted. Risk categories are defined as low, medium or high. Primary factors
considered when assigning an assessment risk category are the volume of water
being requested, how much water is available in the resource where the water is
being requested and potential impact of the proposed water use on other water
users and/or the environment, including cumulative impacts.

Target
95 days

The indicator is calculated using the total time taken to assess all licence and
permit applications within each risk category completed within the period. The
measurement of time includes ‘stop the clock’.

Actual
158 days

‘Stop the clock’ means time measure excludes the time taken by processes
outside of the department’s control. When an application process is outside of
the department’s control the time taken during this process is not included when
calculating assessment times. The ‘clock is stopped’ in these instances.

Investment decisions by licensees, existing and prospective, are time-bound and
require that applications for access to water are dealt with by the department in
a timely manner. Water licenses are one of the fundamental assets that support
investment decisions.
The department ensures that the level of assessment applied to an application is
consistent with the risk posed should a licence be granted.

►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Target and the 2017–18 Actual results in all
risk categories reflects an overall increase in licence application processing times,
generally associated with the transition to the new water licence assessment
system (COMPASS). Furthermore, the new risk assignment methodology
embedded within the COMPASS system now more accurately reflects the actual
risk of each application.
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Further, the target figure did not take into account some significant outliers within
each category that would upwardly skew the final results. Removing the top 5
per cent of assessment durations within each risk category reduces the average
time taken to complete assessments to 53 days, 99 days and 128 days for low,
medium and high risk categories respectively.

Average cost of compliance monitoring and
enforcement action

Target $576

The department relies on water usage information for
Actual $743
accurate water resource management advice and decisions.
The department’s compliance monitoring of licensed use
provides accurate information on actual licensed water
use to ensure the sustainable management of water resources for the long term
benefit of the state.
The department undertakes compliance monitoring and, where appropriate,
enforcement action when licensed water use is found to be not in accordance
with terms, restrictions and conditions. Compliance monitoring within a riskbased framework ensures the department fulfils its legislative requirements, while
ensuring efficient and sustainable productive water use.
Investment decisions by licensees, existing and prospective, are time-bound and
require that applications for access to water are dealt with by the department in
a timely manner. Water licenses are one of the fundamental assets that support
investment decisions.

The enforcement actions include the following activities undertaken by the
department when licenced water use is found inconsistent with the licencing
terms, restrictions and conditions:
•
•
•
•
•

Incidents of suspected non-compliance identified
Educational letter
Licence amendment
Warnings, infringements or direction notice
Prosecutions

►► Variance analysis
The significant increase in Average cost of compliance monitoring and
enforcement action between the 2017–18 Target and 2017–18 Actual is due to the
restructure, amalgamation and reformed functions of the department following the
Machinery of Government changes. This initiated changes in the cost allocation
methodology to appropriately allocate the cost of service against all key efficiency
indicators. As the 2017–18 budgeting process was performed early during the
amalgamation process, the targets reported did not take into account the revised
cost allocation methodology based on which the actual KPI results have been
reported.
The increased cost allocated to indicator was partially offset by an overall higher
number of compliance and enforcement actions due to the incident autodetection capability of the new compliance management system (COMPASS)
which was implemented in 2017–18.

This indicator is calculated using the departmental cost of compliance and
enforcement activities divided by the number of compliance and enforcement
actions undertaken by the department during the year.
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Average cost per
works approval and
licence application

Target $24 263

Actual $55 962

Service 4
Environmental Regulation
The department seeks to prevent,
control and abate activities with
the potential to cause pollution or
environmental harm. It has adopted a
risk based approach to delivering its
regulatory role, which broadly fits into
three main functions:
1. Approvals and licensing
2. Monitoring, audit and compliance
inspections
3. Enforcement, including complaint and
incident investigation.

Average cost per
native vegetation clearing
permit application

Target $7 991

Actual $34 405

These measures of efficiency were established to
reflect the costs per regulatory for an instrument for
DWER’s industry regulation and clearing regulation
functions. These are considered relevant efficiency
indicators as:
•
•

•
•

They capture the primary regulatory functions
of DWER
Measure the amount of resources required to
assess and determine an Industry Regulation
Instrument and Clearing Regulation
Instrument
Are of interest to parties paying regulatory
fees
Are relevant to the review and determination
of DWER’s regulatory fees and charges.

The indicators are considered relevant to the service
as they can track the efficiency of the assessment
of regulatory instruments over time and provide
a simple metric for users of DWER’s Budget
Statements and Annual Report.

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total
group costs deemed relevant to the agency activity
of carrying out and administering the function of
Works Approvals and Licence—being Applications
Assessment and decision-making on works
approval and licence applications under Part V
Division 3 of the Environmental Protection Act
1986 by the number of Work Approvals, Licences,
Licence Renewals and Amendments Received to
provide the average cost.
►► Variance analysis
The significant increase in Average cost per works
approval and licence application and Average cost
per native vegetation clearing permit application
between the 2017–18 Target and 2017–18 Actual is
due to the restructure, amalgamation and reformed
functions of the department following the Machinery
of Government changes. This initiated changes in
the cost allocation methodology to appropriately
allocate the cost of service against all key efficiency
indicators. As the 2017–18 budgeting process was
performed early during the amalgamation process,
the targets reported did not take into account the
revised cost allocation methodology based on which
the actual KPI results have been reported.
Environmental regulation is currently addressing
a significant backlog in applications for clearing
permits, works approval and licences which has
limited the number of applications that could be
processed. This resulted in fewer being processed
in 2017–18 than targeted. The recent proposal to
increase fees in clearing regulation fees should fund
extra positions to address the timeliness of decision
making.
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Average cost per hour of policy
advice and recommendations

Service 5
Environmental policy
Develop and implement policies and
strategies that promote environmental
outcomes.

This measure of efficiency was
established to reflect the cost
per hour of policy advice. This is
considered a relevant efficiency
indicator as:
•
•

•
•

Target $107

Actual $89

It captures a significant function of DWER
It measures the amount of resources required
to develop and implement policies and
strategies
It is of interest as it shows the cost of policy
development
Is relevant to the use of funds being
expended to develop and implement
strategic policy and legislation that promotes
sustainable environmental outcomes.

The indicator is relevant to this service as they can
track the efficiency of the policy development and
implementation over time and provide a simple
metric for users of department’s Budget Statements
and Annual Report.

environmental policy, national policy, primary
and subsidiary legislation, and environmental
programs, providing advice to the Minister/s and the
government in relation to legislation administration.
The total number of available FTE hours for the
services are divided into the costs to provide
an average cost per hour of policy advice and
recommendations.
►► Variance analysis
The significant decrease in Average cost per hour
of policy advice and recommendations between
the 2017–18 Target and 2017–18 Actual is due
to the restructure, amalgamation and reformed
functions of the department following the Machinery
of Government changes. This initiated changes in
the cost allocation methodology to appropriately
allocate the cost of service against all key efficiency
indicators. As the 2017–18 budgeting process was
performed early during the amalgamation process,
the targets reported did not take into account the
revised cost allocation methodology based on which
the actual KPI results have been reported.

The indicator is calculated by totalling the functional
group costs associated with agency activity of
carrying out and administering the function of
providing policy advice and recommendations.
The advice and recommendations mainly relate
to the development, review and amendment of
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Service 6
Waste strategies
Waste avoided and the recovery of
materials from landfill maximised.

Cost of landfill levy
compliance as a percentage
of landfill levy income
collected

3.0
2.5
2.0
1.5
1.0
0.5

Target
2.8%

Actual
1.3%

This measure of efficiency was 0.0
established to reflect the cost
of levy compliance as a percentage of the landfill
levy income collected. This is considered a relevant
efficiency indicator as:
•

•
•

It measures the amount of resources applied
to the waste avoidance strategies and landfill
diversion strategies
Are of interest as they show the cost of
managing the waste strategies, and
Are relevant to the use of funds being
expended to develop and implement
strategic policy and legislation that promotes
sustainable environmental outcomes.

The indicator is relevant to the service as it can track
the efficiency of managing the waste strategies,
and provides a simple metric for users of the
department’s Budget Statements and Annual
Report.
The cost of landfill levy compliance as a percentage
of landfill levy income collected is determined by
totalling those functional group costs deemed
relevant to the department’s activity of carrying
out and administering the function of providing

landfill levy compliance – being the administration
of the landfill levy returns, auditing of those returns,
processing of exemptions and undertaking
inspections at a range of waste facilities and carrying
out unauthorised waste activity investigations. The
indicator is calculated by dividing the cost of levy
compliance by the amount of landfill levy income
collected for the year.
►► Variance analysis
The variance between the 2017–18 Actual and the
2017–18 Target results is due to a structural change.
The Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation commenced operation 1 July 2017.
The commencement of the new department
was an ideal time to review and refine structures,
operating methods and systems. The Compliance
and Enforcement directorate has amended its
structure with the creation of a Waste Operations
branch, which comprises landfill levy compliance
and investigation, illegal dumping investigation, and
littering investigation. The change has resulted in
a focused team now dedicated to monitoring and
investigating compliance with landfill levy obligations,
whereas the activity was previously spread across
the directorate and calculated as a percentage of
each member’s time within the directorate. The
change provides for a more accurate reflection of
the resources focused on and dedicated to this
activity. In addition, the overall percentage has been
affected by vacancies within the focused teams that
provide the relevant activities.
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Service 7
Environmental impact
assessment services
to the EPA
Conduct, for the EPA, environmental
impact assessments of significant
proposals and schemes.

Cost per standardised unit of
assessment output

Target $23 513

While the variation in assessment
complexity is reflected in the level Actual $34 681
of assessment set, a number of
other factors affect how complex
a proposal is to assess. To account for this range in
difficulty, each assessment completed is assigned a
weighting.
The difficulty often influences the amount of time
spent dealing with a proposal, the complexity
weightings were allocated and trialled, in
consultation with experienced officers, according
to inherent proposal characteristics that cause a
proposal to be more difficult rather than what causes
an assessment to take more time to complete. This
ensures that the indicator measures the efficiency
of the department’s provision of EIA advice to the
EPA rather than the department’s cost per hour.
The total complexity is calculated by summing the
individual complexities allocated to each assessment
according to their inherent characteristics.

of assessments (including an allocation of post
approval costs and a portion of costs for policy
and administrative support) by the total complexity
weighting of assessments completed during the
financial year.
The total cost of assessments is calculated by
adding the costs allocated to the cost centre plus a
portion of on-costs.
►► Variance analysis
The increase in Cost per standardised unit of
assessment output between the 2017–18 Target
and the 2017–18 Actual is also mainly due to a
reduction in complex proposals and changes to the
cost allocation basis. A reduction in the complexity
of proposals and schemes led to a lower weighting
being assigned as per the established methodology
and therefore higher costs per standardised unit of
assessment.

The cost per standardised unit of assessment
output is calculated by dividing the total cost
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Service 8
Environmental
management services to
the EPA
Develop, for the EPA, statutory policies,
guidelines and strategic advice to
manage environmental impacts and
protect the environment.

Cost per standardised unit of
environmental management
services output

Target $26 790

Actual $31 377
Due to the variation in
complexity of environmental
management services provided,
an average cost per piece of advice provided would
not fairly represent the department’s efficiency in
providing such advice to the EPA. In fact, such
a measure could provide a perverse incentive to
produce many straightforward pieces of advice
rather than tackling more complex issues that are
more difficult to investigate. To account for this range
in difficulty, each assessment completed is assigned
a weighting.
The difficulty often influences the amount of
time spent investigating a matter, the complexity
weightings were allocated, in consultation with
experienced officers, according to inherent
characteristics that cause a piece of environmental
management advice to be more difficult rather than
what causes it to take more time to complete. This
ensures that the indicator measures the efficiency
of the department’s provision of environmental

management advice to the EPA rather than the
department’s cost per hour.
The Cost per standardised unit of environmental
management services output is calculated by
dividing the total cost of environmental management
services (including an allocation of administrative
support) by the total complexity weighting of
environmental management services endorsed
during the period.
The total cost of environmental management
services is calculated by adding the costs allocated
to the cost centre plus a portion of on-costs.
►► Variance analysis
The increase in the Cost per standardised unit of
environment management services output between
the 2017–18 Target and the 2017–18 Actual is mainly
due to changes to the cost base as the department
has restructured, amalgamated and reformed
functions following the Machinery of Government
changes. The level of assessment output over this
period was consistent with the 2017–18 Target.
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Service 9
Compliance monitoring
services to the Minister
Audit the compliance with conditions
set under Ministerial approvals and
undertake enforcement action as
appropriate.

Average cost per
environmental audit
completed

Target $39 846

Actual $18 069
The indicator is calculated by
dividing the total cost (including
an allocation of administrative
overheads) allocated to compliance monitoring
services by the total number of audits (not including
desktop scans) completed during the period.
►► Variance analysis
The reduction in the Average cost per environmental
audit completed between the 2017–18 Target and
the 2018–19 Actual is mainly due to the impact
of changes to the cost allocation basis as the
department has restructured, amalgamated and
reformed functions following the Machinery of
Government changes. The number of environmental
audits completed over this period was consistent
with the 2017–18 target.
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Ministerial
directives
There were no Ministerial directives in 2017–18.

Other financial disclosures
Pricing policies of services
provided
Through a service agreement with the
Commonwealth, the department provided
technical services to the Indian Ocean Territories of
Christmas and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands. These
services differentiate between water services and
environmental services.
The water services are related to policy advice,
as well as planning, assessment, allocation
and protection of groundwater resources. The
environmental services are related to environmental
regulation, environmental policy, waste policy and
programs, and response to pollution incidents.

Capital works
The department’s capital works consisted of asset
replacement programs and new projects.
The ongoing asset replacement program includes
installing, replacing and upgrading groundwater
monitoring bores and river gauging stations
throughout the state and an asset replacement
program associated with computer hardware and
office equipment.
New projects in 2017–18 included further investment
in the groundwater investigation and monitoring bore
program across the state. We also refurbished the
90-year-old Kent Street Weir historical structure.

Services are provided on a cost-recovery basis
which includes the incurred salary and operational
costs plus on-costs calculated at the rate specified
by the Department of Infrastructure, Regional
Development and Cities.
The department charges fees for industry licensing
arrangements on a cost-recovery basis.
These licencing arrangements include assessment
and decision-making on works approvals and
licence applications, administration of licences,
inspection and auditing of licenced premises,
compliance and enforcement action and specialist
technical services which support these processes.
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Governance disclosures

Government building contracts
The department has a commitment to the Government building training policy.
During 2017–18 the department altered prospective tender documentation
and developed a monitoring plan for building and construction or maintenance
projects with a duration of greater than three months, a value of greater than $2
million and tendered after 1 October 2015.

Executive recruitment
No executive recruitment occurred during the fiscal year.

At the balance date, no contracts subject to the Government building training
policy had been awarded.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
2017–18
$

Building and
Construction projects
2017–18

Organisation type

Maintenance projects
2017–18

720.50

Active contracts within the
scope of the policy in the
reporting period

-

-

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the
due date (within five working days)

464.94

Contracts granted a variation
to the target training rate in
the reporting period

-

-

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the
period (after five working days)

255.56

Head contractors involved in
the contracts

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the reporting
period

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at
balance date

14.40

These matters were not referred for disciplinary actions as the Chief Finance
Officer assessed these were characteristic of an honest mistake, noting prompt
settlement of the personal use amount and that the nature of the expenditure was
immaterial.

Construction apprentices/
trainees required to meet
target training rate across all
contracts
Construction apprentices/
trainees employed by
head contractors and the
subcontractors they are using
for the contracts
Contracts which met or
exceeded the target
training rate
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Boards and committee remuneration
All remuneration paid by the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation during 2017–18 to positions on boards and committees is summarised in the table below.

Geographe Catchment Council

Carnarvon Water
Allocation
Advisory Committee

Board

Position

Member name

Type of remuneration

Period of membership

Gross/actual
remuneration
($)

Member

Lesley George

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

Nil

Member

Terence Fitzgerald

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

Nil

Member

Domenico Condo

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

550

Member

Christopher Boston

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

660

Member

Edward Smith

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

660

Member

Kim Nguyen

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

Nil

Member

Danny Latimer

Not eligible for remuneration

01/07/17–30/06/18

Nil

Chair

Bernie Masters

No longer

Member

Nikolaus Sellheim

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

1232

Member

Julie Howes

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

1408

Member

Geoffery Oddy

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

1232

Member

David Kemp

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

1056

Member

Jeffry Falconer

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

528

Member

Coralie Tarbotton

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

1056

Member

Joanne Hoyes

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

880

Chair

Christopher Adams

Annual

01/07/17–30/06/18

7099

Member

William Hosken

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

3182

Member

Brian Hearne

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

1408

Member

Felicity Bradshaw

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

1232

Nil

A nnual rep o r t 2 0 1 7 –1 8

169

Home

Overview

Agency
performance

Significant
issues
Disclosures

Waste Authority
Committee

Environmental
Protection
Authority

Warren Donnelly Water Advisory
Committee

Board

Position

Member name

Type of remuneration

Period of membership

Gross/actual
remuneration
($)

Member DPIRD

Peta Richards

Term at discretion of organisation

Nil

Member

Harvey Giblett

End 25/05/2018

01/07/17–25/05/18

Nil

Member

Cliff Winfield

Sitting fee for 27/06/17

01/07/17–30/06/18

110

Member

Bob Pessotto

01/07/17–30/06/18

Nil

Member

Dianne Fry

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

Nil

Member

John Omodei

Sitting fee

01/07/17–30/06/18

110

Member, Shire Rep

Paul Omodei

01/07/17–30/06/18

Nil

Member

Travis Luzney

Sitting fee 27/06/17
End 25/05/17

110

Member

Bill Rice

Sitting fee 27/06/17
End 25/05/17

110

Member, WCC

Julian Sharp

Chair

Dr Tom Hatton

Annual

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

332 035

Deputy Chair

Robert Harvey

Annual

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

92 617

Member

Elizabeth Carr

Annual

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

46 836

Member

Glen McLeod

Annual

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

46 836

Member

Jim Limerick

Annual

01/07/2017 – 30/06/2018

46 836

Chair

Marcus Geisler

Annual

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

40 974

Deputy Chair

Jenny Bloom

Annual

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

25 483

Member

Neil Foley

Sitting fee

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

20 409

Member

Victoria Bond

Sitting fee

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

20 410

Member

Glen McLeod

Sitting fee

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

20 425

Term at discretion of organisation

Nil
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Home

Overview

Agency
performance

Significant
issues
Disclosures

Cockburn
Sound
Management
Council

Contaminated
Sites Committee

Board

Position

Member name

Type of remuneration

Period of membership

Gross/actual
remuneration
($)

Chair

Jim Malcolm

Annual

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

69 649

Member

Warren Dodge

Sitting fee

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

6426

Member

Anthony Jarvis

Sitting fee

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

5712

Member

Michael Hardy

Sitting fee

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

5712

Member

Jeremy Hogben

Sitting fee

01/07/2017–30/06/2018

4998

Chair

Kateryna Longley

Sitting fee

01/07/2017 – 30/06/2018

Total

24 521

832 552
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Other legal requirements
Expenditure on advertising, market
research, polling and direct mail

Disability access and inclusion

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the department
incurred the following expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct
mail and media advertising. Total expenditure for 2017–18 was $503 587.41
(excluding GST).
Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:
Expenditure type

Expenditure
paid to

Total

Amount

In line with the department’s value, ‘Better together’, the department recognises
that people with a disability, their families and carers, have the same rights as
other members of the community to access employment and services, information
and facilities, and to participate in community consultation processes.
In 2017–18, as part of our workforce and diversity planning, we established the
Equity and Diversity Panel. Chaired by a member of the Corporate Executive with
representation drawn from across the agency, the group met six times throughout
2017–18.

Market research
organisations

Nil

Nil

With guidance from the panel, the department endorsed its first five-year Disability
access and inclusion plan in June 2018. In addition, the panel developed a
diversity inclusion statement, which commits us to a fair and inclusive workplace
that encourages and supports employees to reach their full potential.

Polling organisations

Nil

Nil

In 2017–18, the panel focused on:

Direct mail organisations

Nil

Nil

Advertising agencies

Media advertising
organisations

Total

$

4707.44

$ 498,879.97

$503 587.41

AdCorp Australia

$

4707.44

AdCorp Australia

$ 70 322.64

Optimum Media
Decisions (WA)

$ 426 239.15

AAS website

$

425.00

Facebook

$

1788.18

Independent &
general media

$

105.00

• diversity in leadership
• promoting and supporting flexible working arrangements
• developing quarterly reporting on the department’s equity index.

Public sector standards and ethical codes
One claim of a breach of the Western Australian Public Sector Standards in
Human Resources (Employment Standard) was lodged.

$503 587.41
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Record-keeping

with awareness initiatives communicated and
implemented by staff over the year.

The department complies with Section 61 of the
State Records Act 2000, and reports in accordance
with the State Records Commission’s standard 2
(principle 6).

Our focus has been on working with business
areas to ensure physical records are captured
appropriately according to State Records
requirements and sent off-site.

In 2017–18 our record-keeping plan was approved
by the State Records Commission in accordance
with the State Records Act 2000. Activities
undertaken this year included the continued
identification and assessment of records from legacy
agencies.
HP Records Manager was the selected records
management system for managing records for the
former three agencies. A records migration process
has been initiated and will be completed by the end
of 2018.
The training modules focused on effective work
practices such as saving emails into HP Records
Manager, rather than describing all the platform’s
capabilities.
Staff training was also provided to regional offices
and is supported by a comprehensive HP Records
Manager manual (available on our intranet).
With the anticipated move to Joondalup we
are taking the opportunity to go ‘paper-lite’,
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Government policy requirements
Substantive equality

Our Disability access and inclusion plan provides the
framework for universally inclusive access.

Providing safe spaces

The department is committed to implementing
substantive equality measures and strives to make
its services available to all Western Australians in a
form that meets individual needs.

Progress in coordinating the effort to implement
substantive equality is overseen by the Chief
Human Resource Officer and the Executive Director
Regional Services, who chairs the Equity and
Diversity Panel.

The department understands that family and
domestic violence is a complex issue within our
society and recognises the adverse impact it
can have on our employees and therefore fully
supports the government safe spaces initiative.
We acknowledge there is a strong need to provide
affected employees with the appropriate levels of
support, as and when required.

We deliver this by ensuring our processes
associated with water and environmental
management and planning practices are developed
with input from public and stakeholder engagement,
as well as broad public invitations to comment on
draft documents.
The Equity and Diversity Panel has oversight of
the development and implementation of an equity
framework which integrates substantive equality
strategies.
Our first draft Reconciliation action plan will commit
the department to continuing to build sustainable
relationships with the Aboriginal community.
The Reconciliation Action Plan Working Group
contributed to the development of the statement in
the department’s Strategic plan 2018–21, in which
we acknowledge the traditional custodians of the
land upon which we live and work, and pay our
respects to their elders past, present and emerging.

In November 2017, we opened our 16 Days of
Activism program by having Angela Hartwich, CEO
of Women’s Council, present to staff and launch
the Safe Spaces and Family and Domestic Violence
leave initiatives. We also engaged in additional
support services of one of our Employee Assistance
Provider, by including a specialist domestic violence
support line that is available for all staff.
We have also run information sessions that educated
staff on domestic violence matters and how to
recognise and provide support for those affected, in
a dignified and respectful way.
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Occupational safety, health
and injury management
A consultation system has been established that
includes an Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)
Steering Committee, OSH Reference Group, area
committees and safety and health representatives.
These groups focus on the continuous improvement
of OSH systems, processes and performance,
workplace safety and risk and hazard awareness.
The OSH committees, including employee
representatives, are integral to OSH consultation
within the agency. The locations and details of the
safety and health representatives are given to all
employees.
The OSH Steering Committee and OSH Reference
Group meet quarterly while local area OSH
committees meet more frequently to discuss and
resolve OSH issues and review hazard and incident
reports. The OSH Steering Committee is responsible
for ensuring the OSH action plan is implemented
and meeting its targets.

Commitment to return employees back to work
after injury
To address any workplace injuries that occur, the
department established a Workers’ compensation

and injury management policy and process
guidelines to help injured employees to return to
work as soon as medically appropriate.
The system ensures injury management intervention
occurs promptly and effectively, so injured
employees can remain, or return to work at the
earliest possible time. The injury management
system and return to work programs are compliant
with the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation
and Injury Management Act 1981 and have
been reviewed and approved by RiskCover, the
department’s insurer.

Support of safety and health representatives
and increasing staff awareness of the
occupational health and safety system
In late 2017, the department trained six new safety
and health representatives, with training conducted
centrally for all representatives through a recognised
provider.
Our flagship occupational safety and health training
program known as OSHtober provides an annual
program of communication and awareness raising
‘lunch and learn’ events for the department.
In 2017, the department coordinated a
comprehensive and well-promoted OSHtober
program which:

• promoted the consultation and review of the
department’s OSH policy
• developed a program of work that focused
specifically on field work
• featured information and educational material
on risk factors affecting field work safety
• released the department’s Remote and lone
working policy and procedures.

Performance
Performance against the targets set in the Public
Sector Commissioner’s Circular: 2012–05 Code of
practice occupational safety and health in the WA
public sector (the ‘code’) is demonstrated below.

Safety health and injury management
performance reporting
1. Occupational safety, health and injury
management
In accordance with the code the department
complies with the requirements of the Occupational
Safety and Health Act 1984, the Workers’
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
and the Code of practice: Occupational safety and
health in the Western Australian public sector.
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2. Commitment to employees

3. Mechanism for consultation with employees

The department recognises that its strength is in
the work of its many dedicated employees and is
committed to those employees by providing a safe
and healthy workplace. The agency’s executive team
fully supports the department’s OSH management
system to ensure all employees of the department
have a safe and healthy workplace.

The primary mechanism for consultation with
employees occurs through local area OSH
committees and representatives feeding into a
central reference group and the OSH Steering
Committee.

Through the department’s Occupational safety and
health policy statement, updated in 2018, it ensures,
so far as is practicable, employees, contractors,
volunteers and others working with the department
are protected from harm while at work. This goal
is achieved through the implementation of the
department’s OSH management system.
These and other associated documents and forms
are available to employees on the department’s
intranet site. The communication of workplace safety
and health information is outlined within an OSH
communication plan which outlines the:
• type and frequency of governance body and
OSH committee meetings
• methods of communication used by the
department to inform, update and educate staff
on workplace health and safety matters
• list of regularly scheduled events supporting
workplace health and safety.

The department has an incident management
reporting system in place that clearly articulates
notification protocols and escalation points.
Recognising the need to be flexible, mobile
and inclusive with its engagement of field and
telecommuting staff, the department also uses
the social media platform ‘Yammer’ as a further
communication and consultation mechanism.
This online platform provides another method for
the department to ensure effective and inclusive
engagement with staff for their feedback on
department policy and procedures, as well as
updating and announcing events occurring in the
department’s Safety and Well-being space.
4. Assessment of the occupational safety and
health system

changes. This is now a priority for completion in
2018–19 with the body of work programmed to
begin in October 2018.
The OSH management system is monitored for
continuous improvement, and revised to reflect the
harmonisation of state and federal work health and
safety legislation, as it comes into effect.
5. Manager and supervisor training in
occupational safety, health and injury
management responsibilities
Managers are trained in occupational safety and
health through use of the department’s learning
management system. Training modules cover all
aspects including the OSH legal framework, duty
of care, hazard and risk management, incident
management, OSH training and injury management
and return to work programs.
The department requires all managers and
supervisors to complete this training every two
years and achieve a pass mark of 80 per cent. The
department achieved a success rate in 2016–17
of 84.25 per cent with scheduled retraining to take
place in the 2018–19 financial year.

The department was unable to undertake an audit
of its systems last year as originally scheduled due
to the impact of the Machinery of Government
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6. Performance
The department’s performance against the targets set in the government circular is demonstrated below.

Safety health and injury management performance reporting

Measure

Number of fatalities

Actual results (%)
2016–17

2017–18

0

0

0.23

Results against target

Comment on
result

0

Target achieved

0.129

0 or 10% Reduction

Target achieved

0

0

0 or 10% Reduction

Target achieved

(i) within 13 weeks

100

100

(ii) within 26 weeks

N/A

N/A

Greater than or equal to 80%

Target achieved

84.25

89.89

Greater than or equal to 80%

Target achieved

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate
Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate
Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, health and injury management
responsibilities (every second financial year)

Target achieved

Freedom of information
In accordance with Section 10 of the Freedom of Information Act 1992, a person has a right to be given access to documents of an agency subject to and in accordance
with this Act.
It is our commitment to make information available as soon as possible and at the least possible cost.
For the 2017–18 period, we received a total of 268 freedom of information applications and of these, five applications progressed to an internal review and two to external
review with the Office of the Information Commissioner.
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Shortened forms

Term

Definition

Term

Definition

AAS

Australian Accounting Standards

NABERS

National Australian Built Environment Rating System

AELERT

Australasian Environmental Law Enforcement and Regulators
neTwork

NAIDOC

National Aborigines and Islanders Day Observance Committee

CaLD

Culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds

NEPM

National Environment Protection Measure

CSIRO

Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation

NPI

National Pollutant Inventory

DMIRS

Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety

NRM

Natural resource management

DPLH

Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage

OSH

Occupational Safety and Health

DWER

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation

PFAS

Per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances

EPA

Environmental Protection Authority

PFOS

Perfluorooctane sulfonate-related chemicals

EPN

Environmental Protection Notice

RAPID

Remote Air Pollution Infrared Detector

FTE

Full-time equivalent

SAPPR

Strategic Assessment of Perth and Peel Regions

GIS

Geographic information system

SES

Senior Executive Service

IBSA

Index of Biodiversity Surveys for Assessments

TI

Treasurer’s Instructions

IDAHOBIT

International Day Against Homophobia, Biphobia and Transphobia

UNODC

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime

LiDAR

Light Detecting and Ranging

WALGA

Western Australian Local Government Association

MLA

Member of the Legislative Assembly

WARR

Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery

MLC

Member of the Legislative Council

WASC

Supreme Court of Western Australia

MNA

Monitored natural attenuation

WSS

WestState Superannuation Scheme
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Contact us
Head office

South West region

The Atrium

Bunbury regional office

168 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
Locked Bag 33 Cloisters Square
Perth WA 6850
Ph: 08 6364 7000

35-39 McCombe Road
Bunbury WA 6230
PO Box 261
Bunbury WA 6231
Ph: 08 9726 4111

Regional offices

Geographe Capes district office

info@dwer.wa.gov.au

Swan Avon region
Victoria Park regional office
7 Ellam Street
Victoria Park WA 6100
Ph: 08 6250 8000

ellamreception@dwer.wa.gov.au

Swan measurement office
105 Kew Street
Welshpool WA 6106
Phone: 08 9355 6200

bunbury.admin@dwer.wa.gov.au

Suite 1A/72 Duchess Street
Busselton WA 6280
PO Box 269
Busselton WA 6280
Ph: 08 9781 0111

busselton.admin@dwer.wa.gov.au

Warren Blackwood district office
52 Bath Street
Manjimup WA 6258
Ph: 08 9726 4111

bunbury.admin@dwer.wa.gov.au

North West region
Broome regional office
111 Herbert Street
Broome, WA 6725
PO Box 65
Broome, WA 6725
Ph: 08 9157 9810
info@dwer.wa.gov.au

Karratha regional office
The Quarter
Level 2, 25 Sharpe Avenue
Karratha WA 6714
Locked Bag 33 Cloisters Square
Perth WA 6850
Ph: 08 9144 0200
northwest@dwer.wa.gov.au

Kununurra regional office
27 Victoria Highway
PO Box 625
Kununurra WA 6743
Ph: 08 9166 4100

kunadmin@dwer.wa.gov.au

South Coast region

Regional Coordination and
Measurement

Mid West Gascoyne region

Esperance regional office

Hydrologic Technology Centre

Geraldton regional office
20 Gregory Street
Geraldton WA 6530
PO Box 73
Geraldton WA 6531
Ph: 08 9965 7400

92 Dempster Street
Esperance WA 6450
PO Box 234
Esperance WA 6450

101 Kew Street
Welshpool WA 6106
Ph: 08 9355 6200

htc.admin@dwer.wa.gov.au

Kwinana Peel region
Kwinana Peel regional office
107 Breakwater Parade
Mandurah Ocean Marina
PO Box 332
Mandurah WA 6210
Ph: 08 9550 4222
peel@dwer.wa.gov.au

midwestgascoyne@dwer.wa.gov.au

Carnarvon regional office
211 Robinson Street
Carnarvon WA 6701
PO Box 81
Carnarvon WA 6701
Ph: 08 9941 6100

midwestgascoyne@dwer.wa.gov.au

info@dwer.wa.gov.au

Albany regional office
5 Bevan Street
Albany WA 6331
PO Box 525
Albany WA 6331
Ph: 08 9841 0100

southcoast@dwer.wa.gov.au

Feedback form
Feedback from the 2017–18 Department of Water and Environmental
Regulation annual report will be used to help improve the clarity and
presentation of its publications. Your assistance in completing this form would
therefore be greatly appreciated.

Did the report help you understand the department, its purpose,
services and performance?
not at all

not really

somewhat

yes

absolutely

Did you find the design and presentation functional and effective?
not at all

not really

somewhat

yes

absolutely

Was the report clear, concise and easy to read?
not at all

not really

somewhat

yes

absolutely

Did you find the structural format of the report simple and logical?
not at all

not really

somewhat

yes

absolutely

When completed please return to:
Corporate Communications

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation
168 St Georges Terrace, Perth WA 6000
Or email: Annual.Report@dwer.wa.gov.au
Please send your comments by
5.00 pm, 3 December 2018

Goldfields region
Kalgoorlie regional office
32 Brookman Street
Kalgoorlie WA 6430
Locked Bag 33 Cloisters Square
Perth WA 6850
Ph: 08 9000 1806
info@dwer.wa.gov.au
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Department of Water and Environmental Regulation
168 St Georges Terrace
Perth Western Australia 6000
Telephone +61 8 6364 7600
Facsimile +61 8 6364 7601
National Relay Service 13 36 77
www.dwer.wa.gov.au

@DWER_WA

